
Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Rob Clayton  

Tel: 37 88790 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES)  
REMOTE CONSULTATIVE MEETING 

 
 

 
Consultative meeting to be held remotely* on 

 
 

Monday, 19th July, 2021 at 10.30 am 
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 10.00 a.m.) 

 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
S Burke - Middleton Park; 

P Carlill - Calverley and Farsley; 

D Chapman - Rothwell; 

S Firth - Harewood; 

S Hamilton - Moortown; 

J Heselwood - Bramley and Stanningley; 

A Hutchison - Morley North; 

J McKenna - Armley; 

M Robinson - Harewood; 

A Scopes (Chair) - Beeston and Holbeck; 

S Seary - Pudsey; 

 
Note to observers of the meeting: To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘To View 

Meeting’ link which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting. 

The webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting. 
 

Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk) 
 

*This is being held as a remote ‘consultative’ meeting.  While the meeting will be webcast live to enable public access, it 
is not being held as a public meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1186&MId=11641


 
B 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTEREST 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

2   
 

  MEETING NOTES - 21 JUNE 2021 
 
For information, discussion and comment the notes 
of the Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 
Consultative meeting held on 21 June 2021 are 
provided to Board members 
 

5 - 10 

3   
 

  FINANCIAL UPDATE, FINANCIAL CHALLENGE 
AND SERVICE REVIEWS 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services providing a financial update 
to members focussed on ensuring budget 
robustness and long-term sustainability in financial 
year 2021/22 and in the years ahead. This item is 
provided to the Board in advance of further 
consideration of financial matters throughout the 
municipal year.  
 

11 - 
88 

4   
 

  FUTURE WORKING ARRANGEMENTS, AGILE 
WORKING AND ESTATE REALISATION 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Head of 
Democratic Services setting out a statement from 
Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources in respect 
of the ongoing work on future working 
arrangements at Leeds City Council. Whilst 
recognising the agenda is still developing the 
Board is taking this opportunity to provide some 
initial feedback to decision makers on the work to 
date and in the spirit of pre-decision scrutiny and 
adding value.  
 

89 - 
98 



 
C 

5   
 

  DIS - PROJECT PRIORITISATION, RESOURCE 
AND CAPACITY MANAGEMENT, WORKFORCE 
PLANNING 
 
To consider and discuss a second report from the 
Chief Digital Information Officer on the Council’s 
Digital Information Services. Focussing on issues 
raised at the last scrutiny board meeting in June 
specifically on project prioritisation, resource and 
capacity management and workforce planning. 
 

99 - 
154 

6   
 

  AGENCY STAFF AT LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
 
To consider and discuss a report from the Chief 
Officer Human Resources on Agency staffing at 
Leeds City Council covering costs, value for 
money, the impact on financial strategies and links 
to inclusive growth. 
 

155 - 
164 

7   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work 
programme for the 2021/22 municipal year. 
 

165 - 
192 

8   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next meeting of the Board is on Monday, 20 
September 2021 at 10.30am (Pre-meeting for all 
Board Members at 10.00 am) 
 

 

Third Party Recording  
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and 
to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this 
agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of 
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY & RESOURCES) - CONSULTATIVE 
MEETING 

 
MONDAY, 21ST JUNE, 2021 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor  A Scopes in the Chair 

 Councillors P Carlill, D Chapman, S Firth, S 
Hamilton, A Hutchison, J McKenna, M 
Robinson and S Seary 

 
 
 

1 Chair's Opening Remarks  
 

The Chair informed the Board that this was a consultative meeting and that 
any decisions taken would be ratified at the next formal meeting of the Board. 
 

2 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 
3 Minutes - 22 March 2021  
 

RECOMMENDED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held 22 March 
2021, be approved as an accurate record. 
 

4 Matters arising from the Minutes  
 

Minute 97 
 
The letter to Central Government had been re-issued and a response was 
awaited.  Councillor M Robinson had agreed to follow this up. 
 
Minute 99 
 
It was reported that a third of employees who had left under the Early Leavers 
Initiative had been desk based and further information will be sent to board 
members on this. 
 

5 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the 
Board’s terms of reference for information. 
 
Members attention was brought to the appendices to the report which outlined 
the remit and responsibilities of the Board. 
 
RECOMMENDED – That the Board’s terms of reference be noted. 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

6 Co-opted Members  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report which sought the 
Board’s consideration for the appointment of Co-opted Members. 
 
The report outlined the procedures for appointing Co-opted Members.  It was 
reported that this Board had not previously had Co-opted Members and 
potential circumstances for seeking Co-opted Members were discussed.  It 
was not currently planned to seek any nominations for co-optees to the Board. 
 

RECOMMENDED – That the report be noted. 
 
 

7 Performance Update  
 

The Directors of Resources and City Development submitted a report which 
provided a summary of performance information against the strategic priorities 
for the Council and City related to the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board 
as well as information relating to the Contact Centre and Digital Access. 
 
The following were in attendance for this item: 
 
- Councillor D Coupar, Executive Member 
- Councillor M Harland, Executive Member 
- Andy Dodman, Chief Officer, Human Resources 
- Tim Rollett, Intelligence and Policy Service 
- Eve Roodhouse, Chief Officer, Culture & Economy 
- Graham Sephton, Head of Human Resources 
 
The Board was informed that the report detailed performance information to 
demonstrate progress in delivering priorities of the Best Council Plan.   
 
Members were invited to make comment and ask questions on the report.  
The following was discussed: 
 

• Support for staff who were carers – There was an active Carers Staff 
Network which provided support and activities.  Staff had been 
surveyed to identify areas where further support could be given.  There 
was guidance for managers to support staff who were carers. 

• Sickness – there had been a slight increase in absences due to mental 
health.  There was some concern as to whether changes in working 
practice had impacted on figures and reference was made to Musculo-
skeletal problems.  It was reported that specialist kit and equipment 
had been issued to staff working from home and the figures were being 
monitored. 

• Concern that the Council’s workforce was not representative in terms 
of young people, BAME or people with disabilities.  There were various 
actions that had been taken to address these concerns including 
apprenticeship schemes and the launch of the Race Equality Plan. The 
BAME survey would be coming to the Board later in the year when it 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

could be discussed more fully.  Disability was covered as part of the 
Inclusion and Diversity Strategy. 

• Identifying and providing support for those with additional needs. This 
could be picked up in various ways including return to work surveys 
and appraisals. 

•  Issues covered by the Race Equality Plan included recruitment and 
selection, career development and how support could be provided to 
BAME colleagues. 

• Apprenticeships – there were approximately 770 apprentices across 
the council covering a diverse range of positions.  These included 
existing staff and new starters.  It was aimed to target specific groups 
for apprenticeships. These included care leavers, people living in 
priority neighbourhoods and NEETs. 

• Further information was requested with regards to absence due to 
mental health reasons. 

• Council Tax collection. 

• Gender pay gap – this was currently at 6% and would reduce over the 
next 12 months.  There were various development and training 
initiatives to support female staff.  There was also further conversation 
around the structure of the workforce and how that affected the pay 
gap. 

• Call centre contact – meetings were due with the Business Support 
Centre and information the Board would like could be requested for 
inclusion in a report to a future meeting. 

 
RECOMMENDED – That the report and latest performance information be 
noted. 
 
 

8 Scrutiny Inquiry - Agile Working and Estate Realisation  
 

The Director of Resources and Housing submitted a report that provided an 
update on the latest consultation and planning around Future Working 
arrangements at Leeds City Council. The report provides an updated position 
on staff views in relation to home and office working as part of the Board’s 
ongoing focus on the principles that underpin how the Council will organise its 
services both now and in the future. 
 
The following were in attendance for this item: 
 
- Andy Dodman, Chief Officer, Human Resources 
- Graham Sephton, Head of Human Resources 
- Mark Mills, Head of Asset Management 
- Bev Fisher, Deputy Chief Officer, Digital Information Services 
 
It was reported that there had been a recent focus on returning to the 
workplace and long term changes to working practices.  A pledge had been 
made to all staff to improve their workplace environment.  The last staff survey 
had shown that there was a desire for some staff to continue working from 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

home and there was a need to balance the preferences of staff, service needs 
and what could be provided in terms of buildings and resources. 
 
Members were invited to make comment and ask questions.  The following 
was discussed: 
 

• Approximately 600 to 800 people had continued to attend the 
workplace throughout the pandemic. 

• The development of a set of corporate principles regarding working 
practices. 

• Health and safety guidance and support for people working from home 
or elsewhere. 

• Working arrangements would be constantly reviewed taking account of 
staff preferences along with customer and service requirements. 

• Making the best use of the buildings and resources available. 

• How new ways of working may impact on staff development and 
progression. 

• Surveys had shown that the level of staff wanting to work from home 
had remained the same as last year. 

 
RECCOMMENDED: 

a) To note the contents of the report, as well as Members comments; 
b) To note the Best Place to Work pledge made to all staff; 
c) To consider results from the recent Staff and Chief Officer surveys and 

how these are shaping Future Working arrangements; 
d) To note the ongoing uncertainty regarding when and how the transition 

back into the workplace will be allowed for office based staff  
 

 
9 Digital Information Services - Vision, Project and Programme 

Management  
 

The Chief Digital Information Officer submitted a report that focuses on the 
future vision for Digital Information Services (DIS), including considerations of 
project and programme management approaches and current key 
programmes of work. 
 
The following were in attendance for this item: 
 
- Leonardo Tantari – Chief Officer, Digital Information Services 
- Bev Fisher – Deputy Chief Officer, Digital Information Services 
 
Issues highlighted from the report included the following: 
 

• Provision of digital services for the Council, CCG and other city 
projects. 

• Work on the digital roadmap to improve skills of staff and citizens. 

• Provision of online services. 

• Working remotely and use of mobile devices. 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

• Transition to cloud storage and Microsoft 365. 

• Information management and governance. 

• Bringing in the technology and installation of equipment to facilitate 
hybrid meetings. 

 
In response to comments and questions, the following was discussed: 
 

• Work with young people and SMEs. 

• Making use of the apprenticeship levy for digital upskilling. 

• Prioritisation and capacity issues. 

• Making sure the workforce is up to speed. 

• Use of agency and contract workers – this was due to a current skills 
gap within the service and also linked to the the market rate for what 
are specialist staff. 

 
In summary, it was suggested that further information be brought to the Board 
on the following areas: 
 

• Prioritisation of projects 

• Resource and Capacity Management 

• Workforce Planning 

• Digital skills 

• Self Service – this could be linked in with Call Centre  
 
RECOMMENDED: 

a) To note the contents of the report; 
b) To note the comments put forward in relation to the proposed future 

vision and plans for DIS. 
 

 
10 Sources of Work for the Scrutiny Board  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report on potential sources of 
work and areas of priority within the Board’s terms of reference. 
 
The following was raised: 
 

• How Electoral Services is adapting to changes in voter behaviour. 

• The economic situation across the city. 

• Council tax collection and expenditure varies across the city. 

• Communication and engagement with residents around corporate 
issues.   

 
RECOMMENDED – That the contents of the report, along with Members 
comments, be noted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Date Not Specified 

 

11 Work Programme  
 

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that presented the draft 
work schedule for the forthcoming municipal year. This included the traditional 
items of Scrutiny work which involves performance monitoring, 
recommendation tracking and Budget and Policy Framework Plans. 
 
It was noted that Customer Contact had already been scheduled for 
September.  Further issues raised would be included in the work schedule. 
 
RECOMMENDED – That the draft work schedule be noted. 
 
 

12 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

Page 10



 
 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

• Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a standing commitment to monitor financial 

performance throughout the financial year as part of its remit and to identify emerging 

issues and suggest alternative approaches as appropriate.  

 

• The role of scrutiny as a ‘critical friend’ on financial performance and management 

contributes to supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and enterprising 

organisation. 

 

• Following the Covid-19 pandemic the Council is facing a period of significant financial 

challenge. Prior to the pandemic budgets were already under significant pressure due to 

Government funding reductions but this situation has been exacerbated by increased 

expenditure and reduced income brought about by the pandemic. When considering 

directorate overspending resulting from the pandemic, loss of income from Council Tax and 

Business Rates and pension strain and severance costs associated the Early Leavers 

Initiative the overspend in 2020/21 totalled £160.5m, before proposals to balance. 

 

• Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board has therefore identified a need to ensure the 

robustness and long-term sustainability of the Council’s revenue budget as a key area of 

interest in 2021/22 and in the years that follow. This report aims to set the scene in terms of 

the Board’s ongoing interest throughout 2021/22 and signpost future areas of interest such 

as the Medium Term Financial Strategy update scheduled for October and closer 

involvement in the budget setting process for 2022/23 following the successful approach 

taken when developing the budget for 2021/22. 

 

Recommendations 

Board members are asked to note the content of the report and in particular the ambition to 

consider financial sustainability and long-term budgetary robustness as a regular theme of 

the Scrutiny Board throughout the municipal year. 

Board members are also asked to highlight any future areas of scrutiny should any arise 

during discussion of this item. 

Budget 2021/22 Financial Update, Financial Challenge and Service Reviews  
 

Date: 19 July 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Rob Clayton 

Tel: 0113 3788790 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has several key financial functions within its remit. 

These include: ensuring effective financial management and controls; setting, supporting 

and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets; administering effective 

financial management and controls; and setting, supporting and monitoring the Council’s 

financial strategy. As a consequence the Board will closely monitor financial performance 

in 2021/22 and receive regular updates on the Medium Term Financial Strategy, Financial 

Health and the ongoing Services Reviews that support the delivery of a balanced budget in 

2021/22. 

2 To ensure Board members are fully informed on this issue three Appendices are provided 

that give additional details. Appendix 1 provides the financial outturn position for 2020/21 

for the revenue budget, Housing Revenue Account (HRA), schools budgets and the 

Capital Programme considered by Executive Board on 23 June 2021. Appendix 2 details 

the Service Reviews that were developed to support the revenue budget and which play 

an important role in ensuring a balanced budget in 2021/22 (these were presented as 

Appendix 3 to the Budget papers considered by the Executive Board and Full Council in 

February 2021 as part of the 2021/22 Budget approval process). Appendix 3 provides the 

latest Financial Health Report due to be considered by Executive Board at its July meeting 

and this will be provided as a supplementary item following publication on 13 July 2021. 

3 The Scrutiny Board last considered financial health matters at its meeting in March 2021 

dealing with the Month 9 and Month 10 Financial Health reports considered by Executive 

Board, along with specific information on Council Tax and Business Rate collection levels. 

These reports dealt with the financial position in December and January of the 2020/21 

financial year and since that time there have been developments that impact on financial 

robustness and long-term sustainability within the revenue budget.  

4 In the first instance there has been a favourable movement from a projected balanced 

revenue budget position to a £1.1m underspend with that £1.1m now being used to 

support the Council’s general reserve position in 2021/22 and beyond. In addition the 

underspend in relation to the HRA has also changed from a projected underspend of 

£9.6m to an actual position at outturn of a £15.65m underspend and these savings have 

been appropriated to reserves. 

5 The Month 10 financial health report also set out details of the proposed use of a capital 

receipt relating to Merrion House from the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve in order that 

the Council could deliver a balanced budget position in 2020/21. However, because of the 

improved financial position for both directorates and Strategic and Central Accounts that 

was reported to Executive Board in June there is no longer a requirement to use the 

Merrion House receipt to support the 2020/21 revenue budget and instead the balance will 

be carried forward into 2021/22. 

6 An important aspect of long-term budget sustainability relates to the level of reserves held 

by the Council to combat any fluctuations on budget projections. As at 1st April 2020 the 

level of general reserve, funding that has not been earmarked and could be used to 

address unplanned budgetary pressures, was £31.5m. This has reduced to £27.8m as at 

31st March 2021, a net reduction of £3.8m reflecting budgeted use of £10m to support the 

2020/21 revenue budget, but also the contribution to the reserve of budgeted Treasury 

Management savings of £1m and the repayment of £4.1m of general reserve funds applied 

in 2019/20 to manage a shortfall in capital receipts in that year. It also includes contribution 

of the 2020/21 year end underspend of £1.1m. 

Page 12



7 Overall, the Council’s total reserves, which includes all earmarked reserve sums, have 

increased to £345.0m, an increase of £209.0m when compared to the position at 31st 

March 2020. This includes an increase in General Fund earmarked reserves of £202.5m. It 

is important to note that this increase includes £155.0m of Section 31 Business Rates 

Relief grant funding and £17.5m of Tax Income Guarantee funding, all of which has been 

provided to compensate for COVID related Collection Fund losses in 2020/21 which impact 

on the revenue budget in 2021/22 and later years, when these funds will be applied to 

revenue to offset this impact. 

 

8 The increase in General Fund earmarked reserves also reflects the contribution of £24.3m 

to the Strategic Contingency reserve which has been established to provide for any 

unforeseen events requiring additional resources and to ensure the Council becoming 

more financially resilient. 

9 The increase in General Fund earmarked reserves also reflects the contribution of £24.3m 

to the Strategic Contingency reserve which has been established to provide for any 

unforeseen events requiring additional resources in 2021/22. This contribution reflects the 

application of £20.7m of the Government’s Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) 

grant to expenditure that the Council incurred during 2020/21 which had been managed 

through the use of base budget. The improved reserve position, given ongoing uncertainty 

about the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s budget, will help to cushion the Council 

against variations to budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond. This position is 

consistent with the Council’s wider strategy to increase reserves to ensure that the 

Council’s financial position is robust, resilient and sustainable. 

10 The Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board will look in more detail at the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy at its October meeting and following the planned update of the report 

that will go to Executive Board in the Autumn. In addition the Board will continue to monitor 

the service reviews that underpin the Budget in 2021/22 and will play an active role in the 

development of proposals for financial year 2022/23. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

11 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a clear interest in the financial health of the 

authority established through its remit. Ongoing scrutiny of budgetary matters will assist 

the Council in terms of budget robustness and long term sustainability and will support the 

Best Council Ambition to be an efficient and enterprising organisation. 

12 Having a robust and sustainable budget over the medium term will help the Council to 

deliver against its wider ambitions to deliver inclusive growth and provides a sound 

foundation from which to identify priorities for spend. 

13 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Scrutiny Boards will also continue to 

ensure that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration issues are considered in 

decision making and policy formulation.  

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

Wards Affected: Please state the specific wards affected here. If city-wide, state “All” for clarity. 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 13



14 The Council’s financial health monitoring is a factual report and is not subject to 

consultation. 

15 However, in terms of an area of scrutiny focus in 2021/22 the Director of Resources has 

been consulted on the intention of the Board to regularly feature reports on finance on its 

agendas throughout the municipal year. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

16 All resources, procurement and value for money implications are detailed in the main body 

of the attached Executive Board reports at Appendices 1 and 3. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

17 This report has no specific legal implications. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

18 This report has no specific risk management implications. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☒Climate Emergency 

19 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and outward 

looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best Council Plan. 

20 Having a robust and sustainable budgetary position will enable the Council to deliver 

against its priorities including the three key pillars set out above. 

  

Appendices 

21 Appendix 1 – This provides the financial outturn position for 2020/21 for the revenue 

budget, Housing Revenue Account (HRA), schools budgets and the Capital Programme 

considered by Executive Board on 23 June 2021 

22 Appendix 2 – This details the Service Reviews that were developed to support the revenue 

budget and which play an important role in ensuring a balanced budget in 2021/22 

23 Appendix 3 - This provides the latest Financial Health Report due to be considered by 

Executive Board at its July meeting which will be provided as a supplementary item 

following publication on 13 July 2021. 

 

Background papers 

24 None 

Page 14



 

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw 

Tel: 88540 

Report of Chief Officer Financial Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 23rd June 2021 

Subject: Financial Performance - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2021 

Are specific electoral wards affected?  Yes  No 

If yes, name(s) of ward(s): 

Has consultation been carried out?  Yes  No 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

 Yes  No 

Will the decision be open for call-in?  Yes  No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?  Yes  No 

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number: 

Appendix number: 

 
 
Summary 

1. Main issues 

 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the final outturn for the financial 
year 2020/21 in respect of both the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing 
Revenue Account. This report also sets out the financial outturn position for capital 
and includes expenditure on schools. 

 The pre-audited accounts will be presented to the Corporate Governance and Audit 
Committee at its meeting on the 30th July 2021. 

 As set out below, the final position on the General Fund shows an underspend of 
£1.1m after the creation of a number of earmarked reserves. When compared to the 
provisional outturn position received at Executive Board in April, the overall position 
has improved by £1.1m, and this underspend allows for a corresponding 
contribution to the Council’s general reserve. As detailed in this report, there have 
been changes in individual directorate positions and in the proposed level of 
contributions to reserves. As a result, the planned contribution from Merrion House 
Capital Receipts is now no longer required. 

 Throughout the year the Council has continued to incur additional expenditure and 
to lose income across services as a consequence of COVID-19. As a result 
Directorate dashboards highlight a COVID-19 related overspend of £99.9m before 
proposals to balance.   

Page 15



 

 The addition of projected losses of council tax and business rates income results in 
a total COVID overspend of £149.8m. In addition pension strain and severance 
costs associated with staff exiting the Council through the Early Leavers Initiative 
increases the overall overspend to £160.5m.  

 As a result of taking account of non-COVID savings, the application of capital 
receipt flexibilities and additional Government funding the projected Directorate 
overspend reduced by £14.8m to £85.2m. When combined with corporate 
pressures the overall General Fund overspend was reduced from £160.5m to 
£145.8m.  

 The Council received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID-
19 in 2020/21, of which £2.6m was applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m of available 
funding. A £27.4m Government contribution to lost income is also reflected. 
Application of this £97.0m of grant has reduced the financial pressure in 2020/21 to 
£48.8m.  

 Since this reported position assumes that the estimated Collection Fund income 
shortfall of £49.9m will impact on the revenue position in 2021/22 and future years, 
the final financial outturn position for 2020/21 now reflects an underspend of £1.1m 
at the year end. 

 An unfunded deficit of £36.7m has been declared in December 2020 on the 
Authority’s Collection Fund in respect of business rates. The Government 
announced that the repayment of this deficit must be spread over the following 
three year years. The first third of this declared deficit, £12.2m, is reflected in the 
approved 2021/22 revenue budget and reduces the revenue funds available to the 
Council in that year. However since this deficit was declared in December a number 
of issues have been further clarified, including the treatment of a large number of 
appeals from ratepayers against their Rateable Value and claims for Empty Rate 
Relief during the pandemic which have improved the financial position. These 
developments will impact on the deficit that has to be funded in 2022/23 and will not 
impact on the 2021/22 budget. 

 The outturn for the year on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) shows a net 
underspend of £15.65m when compared against the 2020/21 budget. This is 
primarily due to the reduction in the revenue contribution required to support its 
capital programme and also savings in the repairs and maintenance budgets, both 
as a consequence of the impact of the pandemic. As the HRA operates as a 
ringfenced account, it is proposed these savings are largely appropriated to 
reserves.  

 As at 1st April 2020 the level of general reserve was £31.5m. As per Table 7 at 
paragraph 6.1 the balance in the general reserve at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m. 
This position reflects the budgeted use of £10m of general reserve in 2020/21, but 
also contributions to the reserve totalling £6.2m. This reflects the impact of 
budgeted Treasury Management savings of £1m and the repayment of £4.1m of 
general reserve funds applied in 2019/20 to manage a shortfall in capital receipts in 
that year, as reported to this Board in April 2020. It also includes the 2020/21 year 
end underspend of £1.1m which has been transferred to this reserve.  

 There are contributions to reserves in 2020/21 and this report seeks the Board’s 
agreement for the creation of a number of new earmarked reserves.  

 Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s 
financial position, including the potential impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund, 
this higher level of reserves, will help to cushion the Council against variations to 

Page 16



 

budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond. This approach is consistent with the 
Council’s strategy to increase reserves to ensure that the Council’s financial 
position is robust, resilient and sustainable. 

2. Best Council Plan Implications (see the latest version of the Best Council Plan) 

 The 2020/21 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities 
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on financial performance 
against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an efficient and 
enterprising organisation. 

3. Resource Implications 

 At final financial outturn Directorate dashboards reflect a projected overspend which 
largely relates to COVID-19 pressures of £99.9m which when combined with 
Corporate pressures results in an overall overspend of £160.5m. After application of 
government funding and a range of further measures, this report shows an 
underspend of £1.1m for 2020/21 which will be used as a contribution to the 
Council’s general reserve. 

Recommendations 

Members of the Executive Board are asked to; 
 

a) Note the outturn position for 2020/21; 

b) Agree the creation of earmarked reserves as detailed in paragraph 6.7 and to 
delegate their release to the Chief Officer Financial Services; 

c) Note that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be responsible for the 
implementation of these actions following the ‘call in’ period. 

 

 

 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 This report sets out for the Board the Council’s financial outturn position for 2020/21 
for both revenue and capital. It also includes the Housing Revenue Account and 
expenditure on schools. 

1.2 In addition, the report highlights the position regarding other key financial health 
indicators including Council Tax and Business Rates collection statistics, sundry 
income, reserves and the prompt payment of creditors. 

1.3 It should be noted that, in accordance with proper accounting practice, any 
significant event which occurs prior to the audit sign-off of the accounts could 
impact on the Council’s final published outturn position and hence on the level of 
reserves. This is known as a post balance sheet event and, should such an event 
occur, it will be reported back to this Board at the earliest opportunity. 

1.4 The Council’s unaudited accounts are scheduled to be placed on deposit for public 
inspection in August 2021. 

Page 17

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/your-council/plans-and-strategies/council-plans


 

2. Background information 

2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net revenue budget for the general fund for 
2020/21 was set at £525.7m. 

2.2 Following the closure of the 2019/20 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve 
stood at £31.5m. The 2020/21 budget applied a net £9.0m from this reserve during 
the financial year, use of £10m netted down by a contribution of £1m relating to 
Treasury Management savings. However, as planned, there has also been a 
repayment of £4.1m of general reserve funds which were applied in 2019/20 to 
manage a shortfall in capital receipts in that year, reported to this Board in April 
2020. The year end underspend of £1.1m has also been transferred to this reserve. 
Consequently, the balance at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m, a reduction of £3.8m 
when compared to the balance at 31st March 2020. 

2.3 Financial monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial 
management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget that are 
judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, those 
budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. This has 
again been reinforced through specific project management based support and 
reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans. 

3. Main issues 

3.1 The final financial outturn position shows a COVID related overspend of £149.8m 
which, combined with the additional pension strain and severance costs associated 
with staff exiting the Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative, results in an 
overall overspend position of £160.5m. 

3.2 In response to the financial challenge for 2021/22 that was detailed in the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy report received by Executive Board in September, 845 
employees left the Council through the Early Leaver’s Initiative by the 31st March 
2021. The salary savings resulting from these staffing reductions contribute towards 
the realisation of the budget savings proposals for 2020/21 received at this Board in 
September, October, November and December 2020.  

3.3 Whilst the Council has incurred severance and pension strains costs of £17.5m in 
2020/21, £12.4m of which relate to the new 2020/21 ELI scheme, it is projected that 
over the five year period covered by the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 
savings of £100.2m (before reconfiguration costs) will be realised through the 
deletion of the posts relating to the new scheme.  

3.4 This overspend position of £160.5m also includes the estimated Collection Fund 
deficit of £49.9m resulting from a reduction in collection rates in respect of both 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  

3.5 Details of the Directorate overspend due to COVID-19 are summarised in Table 1.  

3.6 The Council received £72.2m of Government funding towards the costs of COVID-
19 in 2019/20 and 2020/21, of which £2.6m was applied in 2019/20, leaving £69.5m 
available. In July 2020 Government announced a further package of financial 
support for Local Government to address income losses due to COVID-19, through 
which the Council has claimed £27.5m, of which £18.9m has been received to date. 
Application of this £97.0m of grant reduces the COVID financial pressure to 
£63.5m.  

 

Page 18



 

Table 1 - summary outturn position 

Directorate Director Staffing
Total 

Expenditure
Income

 Total 

(under) 

/overspend

COVID 

related

Non-

COVID 

related

Prov 

Outturn 

Total

COVID 

related

Non-

COVID 

related

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adults  & Health Cath Roff 229 58,556 (51,873) 6,683 6,683 0 7,114 7,114 0

Children and Families Sal Tariq (2,599) 3,256 3,958 7,214 5,714 1,500 8,092 8,092 0

City Development Martin Farrington (3,552) 8,384 11,876 20,260 24,210 (3,950) 22,026 25,180 (3,154)

Communities & Environment James Rogers 1,847 31,385 (10,219) 21,166 25,025 (3,859) 23,659 26,724 (3,065)

Resources & Housing Neil Evans (1,377) 6,339 3,074 9,413 14,090 (4,677) 12,788 17,546 (4,758)

Strategic Victoria Bradshaw (397) 198,464 (178,046) 20,418 24,200 (3,782) 26,754 32,155 (5,400)

Strategic (Balancing Measures) Victoria Bradshaw 10,705 (8,620) (77,668) (86,288) (86,288) 0 (100,433) (100,433) 0

Total Current Month (Dashboards) 4,856 297,763 (298,897) (1,134) 13,634 (14,768) 0 16,377 (16,377)

Council Tax & Business Rates Losses (Declared) 49,890 49,890 0 49,890 49,890 0

48,756 63,524 (14,768) 49,890 66,267 (16,377)

Previous month (under)/over in directorates 6,474 157,695 (157,695) 0

(Under) / Over spend for the current period

 

 

Full details of the Directorate variations, budget action plans and risk areas for the 
year can be found in the financial dashboards attached at Appendix 1. The main 
directorate issues contributing to the outturn position are as follows:- 

 

3.6.1 Adults & Health – As detailed on the dashboard, the final outturn position is an 
overspend of £6.7m. This is all attributable to COVID related pressures. 

The picture of the year is heavily influenced by COVID in both provision of services 
and the management of £46.8m of ringfenced grants received to allow the 
directorate to support initiatives and the care market. 

The pressure is related to a number of actions taken by the directorate in light of the 
pandemic and the resultant impact of those changing priorities on delivering a 
number of budgeted savings plans; £2.9m of savings plans have not been delivered 
during this financial year. It is noted that this is attributable to slippage and that once 
a return to ‘normal’ is achieved the work needed to deliver these plans will resume 
and the savings delivered. 
 
The pressures that make up the remaining COVID cost include additional care 
packages to meet the needs of people affected by day centre closures and ‘paying 
to plan’ on home care. A net £2.3m has been spent in meeting pressures within the 
care sector. In line with national guidance to support the provider market the 
equivalent of a 10%, 5% and further 5% fee uplift, based on historic payments, has 
been paid to providers over each of the first three months of the year. In addition, a 
payment to reflect voids within the care home sector was established for a 6-week 
period, also at the beginning of the year. Additional support was also given to the 
care sector as a whole, though this was from the additional grants provided by the 
government. 
 
The above is a £0.4m positive improvement from the reported position at 
Provisional Outturn, predominately due to expenditure on demand led budgets 
coming in lower than projected. 
 

Page 19



 

3.6.2 Children & Families – As detailed on the dashboard, the outturn position for the 
Children and Families directorate is an overspend of £7.21m, an improvement of 
£0.88m compared to the previously reported overspend of £8.09m at Provisional 
Outturn. £5.71m of the £7.21m is due to a number of pressures as a result of 
COVID, with the remaining £1.5m relating to repayment of previous borrowing 
against school reserves. The key variances since Provisional Outturn relate to an 
improved position on traded budgets, further savings on transport, carry forward of 
funding to 2021/22 and repayment of previous borrowing against school reserves.  

The £7.21m overspend is broken down as follows: 
 
Expenditure        £m 

 

 CLA placements      3.96 

 Non-CLA (financially supported)    2.33 

 Funding carried forward     1.82 

 Repayment of borrowing     1.50 

 Staffing related costs     (2.60) 

 Transport and travel      (2.12) 

 Other expenditure      (1.63) 
3.26 

 
Income        £m 

 Income from schools     0.95 

 Childcare income      3.01 

 School attendance penalty notices   0.37 

 Other income      (0.37) 
3.96 

 
Total overspend       7.21 

 
As shown in the breakdown above, the key pressure within expenditure in 2020/21 
related to Children Looked After (CLA) (£3.96m) and financially supported non-CLA 
(£2.33m). Although detailed benchmarking is not yet available, feedback from local 
authorities across the country is that many are currently seeing an overall increase 
in CLA numbers. In Leeds however there has been a decline in CLA numbers since 
the start of the year and overall, as at the end of March, there were 70 fewer 
placements than originally budgeted, despite the impact of COVID in the city. 
 
Although CLA numbers in the city were less than the total amount assumed in the 
budget, the rates paid to providers increased during 2020/21 due to COVID and 
there were more external placements than assumed in the budget. In addition, 
within the non-CLA placements there was also a pressure on semi-independent 
living costs for over 16 year olds due to an increased number of placements 
compared to the budget. This reflects the difficulty with young people being able to 
move out of these placements in the current climate, as well as the impact of 
COVID on providers.  
 
A further key impact of COVID on the Children and Families budget has been on 
income, and in total there was a £4.33m loss of income from children’s centres, 
school trading and school attendance income. In line with principles laid out by 
Government, the Council has taken the approach that schools should be charged 
as normal for disrupted Council services for which they have a regular financial 

Page 20



 

commitment, as they have received funding to pay for these services. However 
there is still some net loss of income for ad hoc traded services to schools and 
those paid for through parental contributions, such as music services. This has 
been included on the Council’s claim to Government for funding towards loss of 
income. 
 
For 2020/21 there has also been an additional £1.82m of funding carried forward to 
2021/22 for future expenditure. In addition this outturn position reflects a £1.5m 
payment to schools reserves which is the re-imbursement of a contribution made in 
a previous financial year towards the costs associated with early intervention and 
preventative services in Children’s Services.    
 
Offsetting some of the pressures noted above are savings on staffing (£2.60m), 
transport (£2.12m) and other expenditure (£1.63m), due to COVID and the 
Council’s ELI scheme. 

  
3.6.3 City Development –  At Outturn the Directorate position is an overspend of 

£20.26m, which is a favourable movement of £1.77m from the Provisional Outturn 
position previously reported to Executive Board, largely due to additional income in 
Highways and Planning and staffing and expenditure savings in Active Leeds, 
which equates to 0.65% of Gross Managed Budget for the Directorate. This 
includes the impact of COVID-19 of £24.21m. The Directorate's financial position 
was significantly affected by the lockdowns and other restrictions in place and the 
subsequent impact on the economy, with the vast majority of the overspend 
resulting from reduced income across a number of services.  

The outturn position also includes additional costs of £935k for Winter Maintenance 
due to the particularly cold weather and the need for increased gritting.    

The variances below include £0.38m of ELI savings realised by employees leaving 
before the 31st March 2021. 
 
 The most significant loss in income was in Active Leeds where some facilities only 
started re-opening on a staggered basis at the end of July but with reduced 
capacity, closing again due to the second and third lockdowns. The year-end 
financial position for Active Leeds is an overspend of £11.3m.   

 
 Other services that also faced reductions in income include: 
 

 Arts and Heritage - £2.1m, net of running cost savings, following the closure 
of sites and cancellation of events. 

 Asset Management and Regeneration - £3.1m from expected reductions and 
defaults in rental and other commercial income. This includes the shortfall 
against new commercial income included in the 2020/21 budget.  

 Planning and Sustainable Development - £0.7m due to reduced planning 
application fees. 

 Markets and City Centre Management - £2.4m from a reduction in rental and 
advertising income.  

 Highways and Transportation - £0.92m through a reduction in chargeable 
fees and recovery of overheads in the Highways DLO.  
 

Whilst the impact of COVID-19 on City Development has been mostly on income, 
some additional costs have also been incurred, totalling £0.74m for the year. The 

Page 21



 

impact of non-realisation of savings to fund the additional cost of the higher pay 
award in 2020/21 was £0.37m.  
 
The outturn position includes staff savings of £3.2m on non-chargeable vacant 
posts net of the additional costs of the higher pay offer. Savings of £1.26m have 
also been achieved via reduced spend on general running costs and travel and 
subsistence. 
 

3.6.4 Communities & Environment – the overall Outturn position for the directorate 
reflects an overspend of £21.2m which represents an improvement of £2.5m from 
the Provisional Outturn, largely due to revised income losses and other running cost 
savings in Customer Access, income from the Government income compensation 
scheme within the ring-fenced Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service and 
improvements in the reported position for Environmental Services and in respect of 
Car Parking income losses.   

The Directorate's financial position has been significantly affected by the economic 
impact of lockdowns and other restrictions in place during the year and the overall 
financial impact of COVID-19 on the directorate during 2020/21 was £25.0m  

The main areas of variation in respect of COVID-19 are as follows: 
 

 Loss of car parking and enforcement income £7.5m 

 Loss of Parks & Countryside income £4.3m. This includes income from 
visitor attractions, cafes, bereavement services, chargeable works within 
Parks Operations and Landscaping teams and the cancellation of planned 
events.  

 Loss of Electoral and Regulatory Services income £1.5m. This includes 
Registrars, Entertainment Licensing, Taxi & Private Hire Licensing and 
Environmental Health activities. These income losses are partially offset by 
£0.4m savings resulting from the cancelled May 2020 local elections and 
£0.3m from the Government’s income compensation scheme in respect of 
the ring-fenced Taxi and Private Hire Licensing service. 

 Waste Management – net additional expenditure £6.8m. This includes the 
cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with increased 
volumes of waste, the cost of disposing of the additional waste and the cost 
of providing staffing cover and PPE equipment across the service as well as 
income losses at Household Waste sites. As part of the Council’s contract for 
waste disposal at the RERF, the Council is due to receive income of £0.6m 
resulting from the additional waste volumes processed by the RERF during 
the year and this one-off income has been transferred to the existing waste 
earmarked reserve to support the delivery of the Refuse route review and the 
developing waste strategy. 

 Welfare & Benefits – additional expenditure of £0.7m in respect of the net 
cost of Housing Benefit claims for the vulnerable homeless in emergency 
accommodation and £0.9m net shortfall in budgeted Housing Benefit 
overpayment income. It is proposed that balance of funding (£0.8m) for the 
discretionary Test & Trace support scheme (self-isolation payments) will be 
carried forward in a newly created earmarked reserve to allow the scheme to 
continue in 21/22. 

 The net cost to the Council of providing a temporary mortuary facility of 
£0.9m – this was created as part of the Council's emergency planning 
arrangements to deal with a potential increase in mortality rates over and 
above current capacity for Leeds and Wakefield. 

Page 22



 

 Other areas of income loss/additional expenditure across the directorate of 
£3.1m. This includes income losses from community centres, 
libraries/community hubs, bulky waste collections and from environmental 
enforcement. It also includes additional costs of providing PPE/ Cleaning/ 
Social distancing measures and software/equipment to support home 
working. Other costs incurred include a city wide mailout and staffing related 
costs in support of the Council’s response to the crisis. In addition, the 
COVID-19 situation impacted on the ability to deliver the savings required to 
fund the additional 0.75% cost of the 2020/21 pay award which was £0.7m.  

 An in year underspend on the Wellbeing budget of £0.4m has been 
transferred to the existing Wellbeing earmarked reserve for use in future 
years. 

 
The overall position for the directorate also includes other net expenditure savings 
of £3.8m. These include savings from the implementation of tighter controls on 
recruitment, the part year impact of staff leaving the authority before 31st March 
2021 under the Council’s Early Leaver scheme (£1.7m) and net savings of £2.1m 
on all other expenditure/income budget headings across the directorate. 
 

3.6.5 Resources & Housing – The Directorate has outturned with an overspend of 
£9.4m, which is an improvement of £3.4m compared to the Provisional Outturn 
position, which in the main reflects reductions in the forecast net cost of PPE, 
arising from additional health income, reductions in actual spend at outturn 
compared to forecasts and the requirement to account for stock in hand at 31st 
March on the balance sheet and charged to the revenue account in 2021/22 when it 
will be used.  

In total £14m of pressures are COVID related, broadly summarised into the 
following areas across the Directorate’s services:- 
 

 Trading shortfall within Leeds Building Services (LBS)   £5.3m 

 Additional PPE (LCC wide)       £0.9m 

 Homelessness accommodation costs (net of grant)   £0.7m  

 Catering income & emergency meals     £2.7m 

 Other income reductions (capital / court fees)    £3.4m 

 Delays to budget action plans      £0.3m 

 Savings from Working home/buildings/car allowances - net  (£0.3m) 

 Additional pay award        £0.8m 
 

The total non COVID related savings are £4.6m and have arisen from a recruitment 
freeze, savings in non-essential spend, additional grant income and the impact on 
staffing costs of ELI leavers (£1.1m).  
 

3.6.6 Strategic & Central Accounts - At financial Outturn, the Strategic & Central 
accounts position is an overspend of £20.4m, of which £24.2m is COVID related, 
before taking into account corporate actions to balance the 2020/21 budget. 

The £20.4m overspend includes a £3.4m debit for the contribution to reserves of net 
non-COVID related underspends identified during the year across directorates. The 
outturn position also includes an overspend of £23.3m in MRP, as a result of a 
reduced level of capital receipts being available to repay debt as a consequence of 
the impact of COVID-19. This is an improvement on the provisional outturn position 
which did not assume a number of receipts received in March, for which the timing 

Page 23



 

had been uncertain. This overspend is partly offset by savings of £1.4m in the 
remainder of the debt budget. 

An underspend of £2.1m has been included for a reduction in the business rates 
levy payable, as a result of reduced business rates income for the year. The 
position also reflects an additional £155.0m of S31 grants in relation to business 
rate reliefs awarded due to the impact of the pandemic. These grants will be carried 
forward in an earmarked reserve, as they are required to fund the 2020/21 
Collection Fund deficit which will impact on the revenue position in 2021/22. 
Estimated grant income to be claimed under the Council Tax and Business Rates 
income guarantee schemes of £2.2m and £15.3m respectively have been accrued 
for and carried forward in reserves. 

Following the government spending review, additional New Homes Bonus grant of 
£2.2m has been recognised. 

There has been a shortfall of £0.9m in the target budget for general capitalisation, 
as overall restrictions on spending have reduced the potential for capitalisation. 
However this has been offset by a number of minor savings across other corporate 
budgets, totalling £1.4m. 

Corporate actions to deliver a balanced budget position are also reflected in the 
Strategic position and the appended dashboard, and are discussed below.  

 
Balancing COVID Pressures 
 

3.6.7 Directorate dashboards highlight a  COVID-19 overspend of £99.9m which 
combined with other  pressures, including a variation in the Collection Fund, 
pension strain and the cost of severance results in a  overspend of £160.5m. 

3.6.8 In order to manage this overspend a range of proposals have been identified and 
reported throughout the year and these are detailed in Table 2 below.  

Table 2 COVID Funding Gap 

Outturn 

20/21

Mitigation- Savings 

including Salary

Use of 

Other 

Funds Total 

 Directorate/Service £m £m £m £m

 Adults & Health 6.68 0.00 6.68

 Children & Families 5.71 1.50 7.21

 City Development 24.21 -3.95 20.26

 Communities & Environment 25.03 -3.86 21.17

 Resources & Housing 14.09 -4.68 9.41

 Strategic & Central 24.20 -3.28 -0.50 20.42

Directorate dashboards 99.92 -14.27 -0.50 85.15

 Corporate pressures:

 CT/BR Income Losses 49.89 49.89

Cost of Severance 9.39 9.39

Pension Strain 1.32 1.32

60.60 60.60

Total General Fund Impact 160.52 -14.27 -0.50 145.75  

Page 24



 

Outturn 

20/21

Mitigation- Savings 

including Salary

Use of 

Other 

Funds Total 

£m £m £m £m

Total General Fund Impact 160.52 -14.27 -0.50 145.75

 Government Funding -69.53 -69.53

 Government Support for 

Income Losses -27.47 -27.47

Net Position -96.99 -96.99

Total GF Impact 2020/21 63.52 -14.27 -0.50 48.76

Council Tax/Business Rates -49.89 -49.89

 COVID-19 Funding Gap 

2020/21 13.63 -14.27 -0.50 -1.13  
 

  
3.6.9 The level of non-COVID savings, including those resulting from the deletion of posts 

as a consequence of staff exiting the Council through the Early Leaver’s Initiative is 
£14.3m and this has contributed towards addressing the highlighted budget 
pressures. 

3.6.10 This position also reflects use of £0.5m of capital receipts flexibilities, which 
contribute to meeting the costs of the new ELI scheme. 

3.6.11 Previous Financial Health reports to this Board have highlighted the requirement to 
utilise the Merrion House capital receipt from the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve 
in order that the Council could deliver a balanced budget position in 2020/21. 
However because of the improved financial position for both directorates and 
Strategic and Central Accounts that is being reported there is no longer a 
requirement to use the Merrion House receipt to support the 2020/21 revenue 
budget and instead the balance will be carried forward into 2021/22. 

3.6.12 As a result of the above proposals the Directorate overspend reduces to £85.2m 
which combined with a Corporate pressure of £60.6m reduces the overall level of 
overspend down to £145.8m. 

3.6.13 To date the Council has received £72.2m of Government funding towards the 
general costs of COVID-19, of which £2.64m was applied in 2019/20, leaving 
£69.5m available. A £27.4m Government contribution to lost income is also 
reflected, of which £18.9m has been received to date. Application of this £97.0m of 
grant in 2020/21 reduces the COVID financial pressure to £48.8m.  

3.6.14 Since the Collection Fund income shortfall of £49.9m does not impact on the 
revenue position until 2021/22, when it can be spread over 3 years, there is an  
underspend of £1.1m in 2020/21 which will be used as a contribution to the 
Council’s general reserve. 

3.6.15 Clearly there is ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s 
financial position in 2021/22 and beyond, including the potential impact on the 
Authority’s Collection Fund. The higher level of reserves as at 31st March 2021 
discussed in Paragraph 6, will help to cushion the Council against COVID and other 
variations to budget assumptions in future years. 

3.6.16 Table 3 summarises the movement from the Provisional Outturn position reported 
to Executive Board in April and the Outturn position presented in this report. The 
table clearly demonstrates the movements in the directorate and Strategic positions  

Page 25



 

detailed in this report, as a consequence of which the planned use of £16.4m of 
Merrion House Capital Receipts is now no longer required. 
 

Table 3 - Movement from Provisional Outturn to Outturn 

Directorate

Provisional 

Outturn 

(April Exec 

Board)

Final 

Outturn

Variance 

Provisional 

to Final 

Outturn

£k £k £k

Adults & Health 7,114 6,683 (431)

Children & Families 8,092 7,214 (878)

City Development 22,026 20,260 (1,766)

Communities & Environment 23,659 21,166 (2,493)

Resources & Housing 12,788 9,413 (3,375)

Directorate Sub-total 73,679 64,736 (8,943)

Strategic & Central Accounts (57,307) (65,870) (8,563)

Use of Merrion House Capital Receipt (16,372) 0 16,372

0 (1,134) (1,134)  

 

3.7 Early Leaver’s Initiative  

3.7.1 The Council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme since 
2010/11 which has contributed to a reduction in the workforce and subsequent 
savings which have contributed towards the Council being able to deliver balanced 
budget positions. In 2020/21 approval has been given for 845 FTE’s to leave the 
Authority through the new 2020/21 Early Leaver’s Initiative and this will generate 
savings of £100.2m (before reconfiguration costs) over the five year period up to 
and including 2025/26. 

3.7.2 Severance and in year pension costs totalling £17.5m have been incurred in 
2020/21, for both old and new ELI schemes. Costs arising from the new 2020/21 
ELI scheme of £12.4m have required £10.7m of corporate funding. Utilising capital 
receipt flexibilities that the Government introduced in 2016 the Council has funded 
£0.6m of Early Leaver costs associated with staff exiting the authority in 2020/21 
both under the previous and new schemes.  

4. Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 The outturn for the year on the HRA shows a net underspend of £15.65m when 
compared against the 2020/21 budget. This is primarily due to the reduction in the 
revenue contribution required to support its capital programme and also savings in 
the repairs and maintenance budgets. The reduction in spend in both of these areas 
arose from the impact of the pandemic. As the HRA operates as a ringfenced 
account, it is proposed these savings in the main be appropriated to reserves.  

4.2 Total income received was £3.0m less than budgeted. Rental income was £1.6m 
lower than budgeted, mainly due to a temporary increase in the number of void 
properties due to COVID-19. Additionally, £1.9m of income is impacted by forecast 
lower staff charges to capital from vacant posts and the reduced capital programme 
for 2020-21. Also net external income was £0.5m higher than budgeted. 

Page 26



 

4.3 The cost of disrepair was an additional £2.4m. This was largely as a result of a 
combination of resolving an increased number of disrepair cases and increased 
costs in relation to cases. The total balance sheet provision for disrepair now totals 
£2.7m. 

4.4 Against a budget of £49.8m, expenditure on maintaining and repairing the Council’s 
housing stock was £4.7m under budget. This was due to the impact of COVID 
restrictions, including the ability to access tenants’ properties during periods of 
lockdown. 

4.5 Savings of £1.1m on staffing costs arose as a result of the authority’s vacancy 
management strategy. This £1.1m underspend is the net saving after accounting for  
the  funding of severance costs for those staff exiting the Authority on the Early 
Leavers Initiative (ELI) during 2020/21. 

4.6 Premises costs were approximately £0.17m lower than budgeted for, principally due 
to savings from utility costs. 

4.7 Supplies and Services underspent by £0.59m resulting from a detailed review of all 
expenditure as part of the Authority’s response to budget pressures arising due to 
COVID. 

4.8 Services commissioned from the Council were £0.34m below the budgeted level. 
Additional costs of Digital Information Services charges of £0.5m were offset with 
savings from other service charges including £0.38m on Grounds Maintenance and 
£0.28m from Strategic Housing. 

4.9 The revenue contribution to the Capital Programme was £14.2m lower than 
budgeted due to a reduction in the programme as a result of the COVID restrictions. 
It is proposed to transfer £10.3m to the capital Major Repairs Reserve to support an 
ongoing programme of around £80m annually from 2021-22 onwards. 

4.10 The unitary charge for the Housing Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes was 
£0.27m under budget due to a range of adjustments to the unitary charge model. 

4.11 £0.16m has been saved on transport expenditure as a result of reduced travelling 
over the past year. Housing Advisory Panel expenditure was £0.04m under budget, 
and in line with existing policies this will be carried forward to 2021/22 through the 
appropriation account. 

4.12 The Capital charges underspend of £0.3m reflects the interest charges for assets 
under construction being charged to the capital programme rather than revenue.  

4.13 Following a review in the level of tenant arrears the provision for doubtful debts was 
increased by £0.4m. The total provision for bad debts is now £7.3m. 

4.14 A £0.9m overspend on the PFI appropriation account reflects the impact of utilising 
less PFI sinking fund reserves than had been budgeted. 

4.15 The budget assumed the use of £0.4m from the ELI reserve and £0.7m from the 
Welfare Change reserve. In addition there has been a transfer of £0.3m to the HRA 
General Reserve, £0.04m to the Housing Advisory Panel reserve and utilisation of 
£0.3m from the Sheltered Housing Reserve. Furthermore it is recommended that a 
£4.2m Repair/Disrepair reserve is created.  

4.16 In summary, the above variations have produced an underspend on the HRA of 
£15.6m which will be transferred to reserves for future use. 

 

 

Page 27



 

Table 4 HRA Variance to Budget 

 Variance to Budget £m 

Rent / Other Income 3.0 

Employees (1.1) 

Repairs /Disrepair (2.3) 

Running Costs (1.0) 

Revenue Contribution to Capital  (14.2) 

 (15.6) 

Transfer to Reserves 15.6 

 
4.17 A summary of the HRA outturn reserves position is shown in Table 5.  

 
Table 5 HRA Outturn Reserves Position 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



 

5. Schools 

5.1 The 2020/21 outturn position for schools is shown in table 6 below; 

Table 6 Schools Outturn Position 
 

Outturn £m 

Schools Reserves   
Balance Brought Forward 18.2 
Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves 15.3 

Balance Carried Forward 33.5 

Extended Services & Partnerships   
 Brought Forward 6.3 
Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves (1.1) 

Balance Carried Forward 5.2 

Dedicated Schools Grant   
Balance Brought Forward (3.2) 
Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves 1.2 

Balance Carried Forward (2.0) 

 
5.2 As schools are funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) their reserves are 

ring fenced and must be carried forward. At 31st March 2021, maintained school 
reserves stand at £33.5m. 

5.3 The significant increase in schools balances of £15.3m is mainly attributable to a 
number of COVID-19 related factors.  During the pandemic all schools continued to 
receive their core funding which was enhanced with additional COVID Specific 
funding, however as a result of reduced attendance in schools during lockdown 
general expenditure was significantly lower in schools.   

5.4 During 2020/21, a contribution of £1.5m was paid from the Children and Families 
directorate which repays funding provided in previous financial years to resource 
early intervention and preventative services.   

5.5 There are also other maintained school-related reserves totalling £2.3m, comprising 
a ring-fenced school reserve of £2.0m specifically relating to the carry forward of in-
year PFI scheme balances, an SEND funding reserve of £0.04m and a School VER 
reserve of £0.25m. 

5.6 Taking into account the maintained school reserves of £33.5m (see 5.2), the £2.5m 
of borrowing against these (see 5.4) and the £2.3m of other reserves (see 5.5), the 
net position for maintained school-related reserves is £33.3m as at 31st March 
2021. 

5.7 Extended Services & Partnerships reserves amount to £5.2m as at 31st March 
2021. These include balances held by Area Inclusion Partnerships and Clusters.  

5.8 At the start of 2020/21 the ring fenced DSG reserve had a deficit balance £3.2m. 
During 2020/21 there has been a net movement of £1.2m which is a result of an 
over spend on the High Needs Block (£2.3m), partly offset by underspends on the 
Schools Block (£1.8m), the Early Years Block (£2.2m) and the Central School 
Services block (£0.1m). In addition, £0.6m of the de-delegated DSG surplus 
brought forward was refunded to schools during 2020/21. In total a deficit balance 
of £2.0m will be carried forward to 2021/22, comprising a general DSG deficit of 
£3.1m with an additional surplus balance of £1.1m on the de-delegated DSG. This 
position will be reported to Schools Forum in June. 

Page 29



 

5.9 During 2019/20, changes were made to the School and Early Years Finance 
(England) Regulations 2020 to make it a statutory requirement that a deficit must be 
carried forward to be dealt with from future DSG income, unless the Secretary of 
State authorises the local authority not to do this.  

5.10 A discussion will be held with Schools Forum in June on options for the use of the 
de-delegated surplus balance, as in previous years this may be distributed back out 
to schools pro-rata to their original contributions.  

5.11 In line with previous years, during 2020/21 there was an underspend on Early Years 
funding, due to funding being based on the January census which has higher 
numbers of 2 - 4 year olds than the average of all censuses over the year. The 
council is looking at how this funding could be redistributed to support the Early 
Years sector with the challenges they are facing due to COVID, which will help to 
ensure the sufficiency of childcare in the city moving forward. 

6. Reserves 

6.1 A full statement of all Council reserves can be found at Appendix 2. A summary of 
the reserves is shown in Table 7. Overall, with Board approval, the Council’s total 
reserves will increase to £345.0m, an increase of £209.0m when compared to the 
position at 31st March 2020. This includes an increase in General Fund earmarked 
reserves of £202.5m. It is important to note that this increase includes £155.0m of 
Section 31 Business Rates Relief grant funding and £17.5m of Tax Income 
Guarantee funding, all of which has been provided to compensate for COVID 
related Collection Fund losses in 2020/21 which impact on the revenue budget in 
2021/22 and later years, when these funds will be applied to revenue to offset this 
impact.  

6.2 The increase in General Fund earmarked reserves also reflects the contribution of 
£24.3m to the Strategic Contingency reserve which has been established to provide 
for any unforeseen events requiring additional resources in 2021/22. This 
contribution reflects the application of £20.7m of the Government’s Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) grant to expenditure that the Council incurred 
during 2020/21 which had been managed through the use of base budget. As a 
result of the release of the base budget a contribution to the Strategic Contingency 
Reserve has been made. The balance of the contribution to the reserve has been 
funded through £0.1m of New Burdens grant not applied in 2020/21 and £3.5m of 
non-COVID directorate savings realised during the year.   

6.3 Total General Fund ringfenced and grant reserves have reduced by £16.0m to 
£11.6m.  

6.4 Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s 
financial position, including the potential impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund, 
this higher level of reserves, will help to cushion the Council against variations to 
budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond. This position is consistent with the 
Council’s strategy to increase reserves to ensure that the Council’s financial 
position is robust, resilient and sustainable. 

6.5 As discussed at paragraphs 4 and 5, Schools ring-fenced reserves have increased 
by £18.0m and HRA reserves by £8.3m in 2020/21.  

 

 

Page 30



 

Table 7 Total Reserves 
 

Balance Transfer Balance 

Reserves at 31.3.20 to/(from) at 31.3.21

£m £m £m

General Fund:

General Reserve 31.5 (3.8) 27.8

Earmarked Reserves 30.1 202.5 232.6

Ring-fenced & Grant Reserves 27.6 (16.0) 11.6

Total 89.2 182.7 271.9

Schools:

Ring-fenced Reserves 18.5 18.0 36.5

Housing Revenue Account:

General Reserve 6.5 0.3 6.8

Earmarked Reserves 21.8 8.0 29.8

Total 28.3 8.3 36.6

Total Reserves 136.0 209.0 345.0  
 
 

6.6 General Reserve 
 

6.6.1 Table 8 provides an explanation of the movement in the general reserve: 

Table 8 General Fund Reserve 
 

General Fund Reserve £m

Opening Balance 1st April 2020 31.5

Budgeted Use (9.0)

Contribution In Year 4.1

In-year Underspend 1.1

Closing Balance 31st March 2021 27.8
 

 

6.6.2 As at 1st April 2020 the level of general reserve was £31.5m. The 2020/21 budget 
assumed a net contribution from the general reserve of £9.0m - use of £10m offset 
by £1m of Treasury Management savings. During the year £4.1m of general 
reserve funds applied in 2019/20 to manage a shortfall in capital receipts in that 
year have been repaid and a year end underspend of £1.13m has also been 
transferred to this reserve. As per table 7 at paragraph 6.1 the amount of general 
reserve at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m. 

 
6.6.3 This contribution to the Council’s general reserve will continue to contribute to the 

Council’s financial resilience, particularly in the context of the impact of COVID-19 
which has added to the inherent uncertainty resulting from delays to the 
implementation of the Government’s intended move to 75% business rate retention 
nationally and the outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding Review. Adding to 

Page 31



 

this uncertainty is the continued delay in the publication of the Government’s plans 
for social care which will hopefully provide greater certainty around their future 
funding intentions. 

 
6.7 Creation of New Earmarked Reserves 

It is recommended that the following earmarked reserves are created;  
 

 A Section 31 Business Rates Reserve of £155.0m to carry forward S31 
Business Rates relief grants received in 2020/21 to 2021/22, where the 
Leeds share of this income will be released in the 2021/22 budget. 

 A Strategic Contingency Reserve of £24.3m to carry forward directorate 
savings to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the 
Council becoming more financially resilient and sustainable. This includes a 
£20.7m contribution arising as a result of application of the Government’s 
COMF grant to expenditure incurred during the year which had been 
managed through the use of base budget, £0.1m of New Burdens grant not 
yet applied and £3.5m of non-COVID directorate savings identified in year. 

 A Council Tax TIG Reserve (£2.2m) and a Business Rates TIG Reserve 
(£15.3m), both of which are to carry forward government Tax Income 
Guarantee funding from Government to compensate in part for COVID 
related Collection Fund losses, and which will be applied to revenue over 
three years to match the impact of those losses.   

 A Self Isolation Payment Reserve of £0.8m to carry forward Government 
funding. 

 A Leeds Building Services Reserve of £0.3m to fund the implementation 
costs of the Connect system.  

 A Revenue Repairs Reserve within the HRA of £4.2m, funded by savings in 
the same budget in 2020-21. This reserve will be used to help address any 
backlogs in cases that may have occurred during the pandemic. 

6.8 For completeness, two new ringfenced reserves will be created. These reflect the 
conditions of use for the relevant funding and do not require the Board’s approval: 

 A Rapid Test Fund Reserve of £0.1m to carry forward funding from 
Government to support COVID testing of individuals. 

 A Community Discharge Grant Reserve of £0.9m to carry forward funding 
from Government for transitions costs from Hospitals back to Community 
Settings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



 

7. Capital Programme  

7.1 The actual capital expenditure for General Fund and HRA in 2020/21 is £404.1m, 
an underspend of £32.4m or a 7.4% variation against the February 2021 Capital 
Programme projected outturn. 
 
General Fund 
 

7.2 Table 9 shows the in-year actual General Fund capital expenditure against 
estimate, split by directorate: 
 
Table 9 

 

General Fund
Feb 21 

Estimate 

May 21 

Outturn 

£m £m £m %

   Adults & Health 2.8 2.6 (0.2)  (7.4%)

   Strategic and Central 17.4 14.5 (2.9)  (16.9%)

   City Development 199.1 199.5 0.4 0%

   Children & Families 75.8 70.2 (5.6)  (7.4%)

   Resources & Housing 50.9 40.5 (10.4)  (20.4%)

   Communities & Environment 12.0 5.6 (6.4)  (53.2%)

Total Spend 357.9 332.8 (25.1) (7.0%)

Financed by

   General Fund Borrowing 123.7 95.5 (28.2)  (22.8%)

   General Fund Capital Receipts 2.0 1.7 (0.3)  (15.0%)

   General Fund Specific Grants and Contributions 232.2 235.6 3.4 1.5%

Total Funding 357.9 332.8 (25.1) (7.0%)

Variation 

 
 

7.3 A full breakdown of the net variations is detailed in Appendix 3. Comments are also 
provided for schemes that have a material variation of greater than +/-£500k.  
 

7.4 The general fund borrowing variation is £28.2m or 22.8% of the expected spend on 
borrowing. The treasury outturn position is presented as a separate report to this 
Executive Board. 
 

7.5 The General Fund capital programme delivered £332.9m of expenditure including 
major works on our Annual maintenance programmes, Highways planned 
maintenance to our roads and streets network, Connecting Leeds Transport 
Investment Programme, East Leeds Orbital Road, Flood Alleviation, Street Lighting 
LED replacement programme, Learning Places programme, Clean Air and energy 
efficiency related schemes, District Heating Network, Digital & Information services 
programme, provision of Adaptations grants and moving towards an electric vehicle 
replacement programme which underpins the Council’s emissions reduction and 
climate emergency programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

Housing Revenue Account 
 

7.6 Table 10 shows the in-year actual Housing Revenue expenditure against estimate:  
 
Table 10  
 

HRA
Feb 21 

Estimate 

May 21 

Outturn 
£m £m £m %

Council Housing Growth Programme 15.9 16.2 0.3 2.0%

Housing Leeds Council House Programme 61.0 54.1 (6.8)  (11.18%)

BITMO Council House Programme 1.8 1.0 (0.8)  (45.8%)

Total Spend 78.6 71.3 (7.3) (9.29%)

Financed by

HRA Self-Financing 52.8 47.6 (5.2)  (9.8%)

HRA Capital Receipts RTBs 12.3 12.2 (0.1)  (0.8%)

HRA Specific Grants and Contributions 7.3 1.2 (6.1)  (83.6%)

HRA Borrowing 6.2 10.3 4.1 66%

Total Funding 78.6 71.3 (7.3) (9.29%)

Variation 

 

 
7.7 The HRA Capital programme delivered £78.6m of expenditure including £15.9m on 

the Council House Growth Programme and £55.1m on the refurbishment of our 
council house properties. 
 
Capital Programme Resources  
 

7.8 Table 11 details the overall capital financing position for the Council: 
 
Table 11 
 

Feb 21 

Estimate 

£m

May 21 

Outturn 

£m

Net Capital Spend 436.5 404.1 (32.4) (7.4%)

Financed by

General Fund Borrowing 123.7 95.5 (28.2)  (22.8%)

General Fund Specific Grants and Contributions 232.2 235.6 3.4 1%

General Fund Capital Receipts 2.0 1.7 (0.3) 0%

HRA Self-Financing 52.8 47.6 (5.2)  (9.8%)

HRA Capital Receipts RTBs 12.3 12.2 (0.1)  (0.8%)

HRA Specific Grants and Contributions 7.3 1.2 (6.1)  (83.6%)

HRA Borrowing 6.2 10.3 4.1 66%

Total Funding 436.5 404.1 (32.4) (7.4%)

Variation                

£m

 
 

7.9 Capital receipts of £1.65m have been utilised in 2020/21 to fund expenditure 
capitalised under the government’s flexibility for funding transformational change via 
capital receipts. This includes expenditure on eligible projects such as the Core 
Systems Review, and the early leaver initiative (ELI) severance costs. In line with 
existing accounting policy £4.18m of receipts have been utilised to fund PFI 
liabilities, £21.9m have been used to repay debt and no general receipts have been 
applied to fund in year spend. Borrowing of £4.6m has been undertaken in lieu of 

Page 34



 

section 278 contributions. 
  

7.10 HRA Council House Growth Programme, Housing Leeds and BITMO have 
utilised £47.6m of self-financing funding, £1.2m of external contributions and 
£12.2m of Right to Buy receipts and have borrowed £10.3m to fund the programme 
in 2020/21. 
 

7.11 The net debt of the Council as at 31st March 2021 is £2.25bn. Further details of this 
and the debt financing costs will be presented in the 2020/21 Outturn Treasury 
Management report to this Executive Board. 

8. Other Financial Performance 

8.1 The performance statistics for the year in respect of the collection of local taxation 
are as follows:- 
 
Table 12 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Leeds 

Actual

Council 

Tax
96.70% 96.60% 96.60% 95.70% 95.70% 95.90% 96.00% 96.10% 96.10% 95.30% 95.23%

Business 

Rates
97.90% 97.50% 97.60% 97.10% 97.30% 97.80% 97.50% 98.00% 97.80% 97.29% 90.21%

 
 
Council Tax 
 

8.2 Following the introduction of the Council Tax support scheme in 2013/14 a 19% 
contribution scheme was implemented for working age claimants and this was 
increased to 26% for 2014/15 but was then subsequently set at 25% for the years 
between 2015/16 and 2019/20. 
 

8.3 In 2020 the Government announced a Hardship Fund to support Council Tax 
Support claimants with the economic impact of COVID-19. This fund was 
administered by councils and Leeds City Council were granted £8.9m to undertake 
this task on behalf of the precepting authorities. As a consequence Leeds City 
Council offered discretionary discounts to claimants who met the scheme’s criteria. 
In some instances this had the effect of reducing the amount of Council Tax payable 
to zero. This funding was for one year only and has not been repeated in 2021/22. 
 

8.4 The collection position for Council Tax at the end of March was as follows: 
 

 Numbers of Council Tax Support claimants have increased significantly as a 
consequence of the financial impact of COVID-19. This particularly affects 
the Working Age claimants, where there were 46,391 claimants at 31st March 
2021, against a budgeted position of 41,500. Application of the Hardship 
Fund has had the effect of artificially increasing the collection rate for those 
affected by the Council Tax Support Scheme, as noted below. This will also 
result in the general Council Tax collection rate being slightly higher than 
without the application of funding. 
 

 Collection rate for those affected by Council Tax Support scheme – 78.1% 
(73.0% last year)  
 

Page 35



 

 Council Tax in-year collection rate – 95.23%, whilst this is below target 
(96.1%), the lower collection rate largely reflects the impact of COVID-19. 
During the year around 3,800 households were put on alternative payment 
arrangements, it was agreed to let those affected have the option to spread 
their first 3 instalments of 2020/21 over the remaining months of July to 
March. Whilst the collection on these accounts should now be resolved, the 
ongoing economic impact of COVID-19 has continued to affect collection 
rates. £370.9m has been collected in respect of 2020/21 bills, an increase of 
£6.6m when compared to the previous year. 
 

Business Rates 
 

8.5 The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve an in-year collection 
target of 97.7%, collecting £363.2m of business rates income billed at 1st April. 
However, Cabinet will be aware that in response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
Government awarded significant additional business rates reliefs, reducing the 
income to be collected directly from businesses in Leeds to £229.1m. These reliefs 
will be funded in full by Government through Section 31 grants. Whilst this reduces 
the risk to the authority regarding non-collection of business rates income, the 
business rates collection at 31st March 2021 was 90.21% which is 7.08% behind the 
performance in 2019/20. 
 

8.6 The total rateable value of business properties in Leeds has reduced from £935.2m 
at 1st April 2020 to £928.2m at the end of March 2021, a decrease of £7.0m. To 
calculate Leeds’ actual income from business rates this total rateable value is 
multiplied by the small business rates multiplier (49.9p in the pound). After reliefs 
and adjustments this amount is then shared between Leeds City Council (49%), 
Central Government (50%) and West Yorkshire Fire Authority (1%). After allowing 
for the business rates deficit brought forward, Leeds share of projected business 
rates is £79.7m, which is £104.0m below budgeted expectations as at 31st March 
2021. However much of this shortfall is accounted for by the Government’s new 
extended reliefs for the retail and leisure sectors and children’s nurseries. This 
results in grant funding associated with business rates some £76.3m above that 
forecast in the Council’s budget. The Government has also announced that it will 
provide 75% compensation to local authorities for their ‘irrecoverable losses’ in 
business rates income. The Government only released details of the definition of 
‘irrecoverable losses’ in May 2021 and the detailed calculation means that Leeds 
will receive a one-off payment from the Tax Income Guarantee Scheme of £15.3m, 
which will be placed in a reserve and will contribute to the declared unfunded deficit 
that will have to be repaid to the over the next three years. 
 

8.7 The impact of the closing balance on the collection fund is complex because the 
authority has to treat different elements of the closing deficit of £104.0m differently. 
At the time of declaring the estimated deficit in December the authority declared a 
total deficit for business rates of £116.3m, which arose from three elements. These 
were £3.6m carried forward from 2019/20 and £76.0m which arose from the fully 
funded extended reliefs both of which have to be paid in 2021/22, and finally 
£36.7m which arose from other parts of the business rates system principally bad 
debts, a reduction in the tax base in Leeds, Empty Rate Relief and a large number 
of appeals against Rateable Value which were received in Leeds in 2020/21. The 
Government has told local authorities that they must spread the cost of this final 
£36.7m over three years and therefore a credit of two years instalments reduced the 
total deficit by £24.5m, bringing the deficit that has to be repaid in 2021/22 to 

Page 36



 

£91.9m. This is provided for in the 2021/22 budget and is now fixed so the 
improvement in the deficit since declaration will not impact on the 2021/22 budget 
position. The improvement was caused by various factors becoming clearer since 
declaration including that claims for Empty Rate Relief during the lockdowns would 
not be considered valid and the Government announcing in late February that 
appeals against Rateable Value on the grounds of COVID-19 related events would 
not be successful and result in lost income to the authority. The reduction in these 
costs will be carried forward into the amount that has to be repaid in 2022/23 
reducing the opening deficit on the collection fund from the anticipated £12.2m (one 
third of the unfunded 2020/21 declared deficit) to a balanced position. 

 
8.8 Against a budget of £500k in 2020/21 some £320k of local discounts were approved 

under the Council’s own Discretionary Business Rate Relief Scheme which is 
intended to support the creation of employment and economic growth and to 
increase the business rates base.  
 
Prompt Payment of Creditors  
 

8.9 The prompt payment result at the year-end was 91.65% of undisputed invoices 
processed within 30 days or within contract terms (93.87% in 2019/20).    
 

9. Corporate considerations 

9.1 Consultation and engagement 

9.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation. 

9.2 Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration 

9.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2020/21 was subject to Equality Impact 
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
26th February 2020. 

9.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan 

9.3.1 The 2020/21 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and 
priorities. This report comments on the financial performance against this budget in 
support of our Best Council ambition of offering value for money through being an 
efficient and enterprising organisation. 

Climate Emergency 

9.3.2 Since this is a factual report detailing the Council’s financial outturn position for 
2020/21 there are no specific climate implications. 

9.4 Resources, procurement and value for money 

9.4.1 This is a financial report and all financial implications are detailed in the main body 
of the report. 

 

 

Page 37



 

9.5 Legal implications, access to information, and call-in 

9.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

9.6 Risk management 

9.6.1 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where 
financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.  
To reinforce this risk-based approach, specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans was in place 
for 2020/21. 

9.6.2 Given the ongoing uncertainty regarding the impact of COVID on the Council’s 
financial position, including the potential impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund, 
this higher level of reserves reported at paragraph 6 will help to cushion the Council 
against variations to budget assumptions in 2021/22 and beyond. 

10. Conclusions 

10.1 The 2020/21 financial outturn position for General Fund services, which is a £1.1m 
improvement when compared with the provisional outturn position reported to 
April’s Executive Board, allows for a £1.1m contribution to the Council’s general 
reserve. As a result the level of general reserve at 31st March 2021 is £27.8m. 

10.2 In the Annual Audit Letter for Leeds City Council for the year ended 31st March 
2020 Grant Thornton highlighted “weaknesses in the level of General Fund 
Reserves to deal with significant unforeseen circumstances resulting from the 
Council’s arrangements for financial management. Except for this matter, the 
Council had proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources”. This reported outturn position with 
contributions to both general and earmarked reserves, combined with projected 
contributions to the general reserve which are contained in the Council’s approved 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, demonstrate the Council’s commitment to make 
its revenue budget robust, resilient, sustainable and affordable. 

10.3 The outturn for the year on the HRA shows a net underspend of £15.65m when 
compared against the 2020/21 budget, primarily due to the reduction in the revenue 
contribution required to support its capital programme and also savings in the 
repairs and maintenance budgets, both as a consequence of the impact of the 
pandemic. As the HRA operates as a ringfenced account, it is proposed these 
savings in the main be appropriated to reserves.  

10.4 At 31st March 2021, mainstream school reserves stand at £33.5m. Extended 
Services & Partnerships reserves amount to £5.2m as at 31st March 2021, 
including balances held by Area Inclusion Partnerships and Clusters. As a result of 
an over spend on the High Needs Block, partly offset by underspends on other 
blocks, and a refund of de-delegated DSG surplus brought forward to schools 
during 2020/21, a deficit balance of £2.0m will be carried forward on the DSG 
reserve to 2021/22.  

10.5 Expenditure in respect of the General Fund Capital Programme was £32.4m or 
7.4% lower than that assumed in the February 2021 Capital Programme projected 
outturn. 

Page 38



11. Recommendations

11.1 Members of the Executive Board are asked to; 

a. Note the outturn position for 2020/21

b. Agree the creation of earmarked reserves as detailed in paragraph 6.7 and to
delegate their release to the Chief Officer Financial Services;

c. Note that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be responsible for the
implementation of these actions following the ‘call in’ period.

12. Background documents1

12.1 There are no background documents relating to this report. 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works. 

Page 39



ADULTS AND HEALTH 
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year

Outturn

The directorate has overspent its budget by £6.7m.  The overspend represents the impact and additional costs of the impact of Covid on the directorate.  A number of 
budget action plans were directly impacted and slippage of £2.9m was recorded.

The picture of the year is heavily influenced by Covid in both provision of services and the management of £46.8m of ringfenced grants received to allow the directorate 
to support initiatives and the care market.
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Staffing (+£0.1m): the impact of the pay award which was above the budgeted assumptions, the impact and cost of the Council ELI initiative and funded additional posts 
in key areas has largely been offset by the savings generated from maintaining vacant posts in other areas.
Buildings (-£0.1m): a net saving of £0.1m is the effect of buildings maintenance and utility savings offset by the NNDR bill for Waterside which was the site for the 
temporary morgue and PPE distribution centre.
Supplies and Services (1.9m): overspends within this area are related to Covid costs, these are primarily incurred by Public Health in coordinating the attempts to 
control the outbreak, all of which was funded by government grant.  This area also includes the additional equipment purchased to facilitate the early discharge of 
patients from their hospital setting.
Transport (-£0.2m): a small saving largely through the restrictions on travel for social workers and assessors.
Social Care and Care Market protection (+£22.4m): the social care market was significantly impacted by Covid, with additional packages of care put in place for those 
affected by day care closures; an increase in the number and size of home care packages was noticed and it is considered that these were related to a general 
nervousness for people going into care homes; it was also noted that significant numbers of deaths within the care home sector necessitated financial support to ensure 
stability in the market.
Public Health - Covid (+£25.6m): Public Health managed £26.4m of government grant to contain the Covid Outbreak; there were a number of other savings that were a 
result of Covid restructure annual programmes.
Appropriation (+£8.7m): the highly unusual year meant that transfers from reserves were not needed to the degree expected when the budget was set.  It is also noted 
that a number of unspent ring-fenced grants and partner contributions have been added to reserves.
Income (+£51.7m): a number of Covid funding streams were received in the year NHS Early Discharge funding (£3.3m), Contain Outbreak Management Fund (£26.5m), 
Infection Control Fund (£13.5m), Rapid Testing funding (£1.8m) and Workforce Capacity funding (£1.7m).

Appendix 1

P
age 40



Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 

Services
Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health Partnerships 1,496 (964) 532 (149) 2 37 (4) 24 (107) 0 0 238 40 (92) (52)

Social Work & Social Care 
Services

288,249 (54,725) 233,523 346 (89) 427 (197) (118) 5,236 (867) 0 2,393 7,132 (4,463) 2,669

Service Transformation 2,379 (387) 1,991 (53) 0 4 (3) 0 (55) 0 0 0 (107) (68) (175)

Commissioning Services 24,201 (64,476) (40,274) 144 (6) (778) (9) 3,350 14,920 0 0 3,904 21,525 (17,840) 3,685

Resources and Strategy 6,726 (1,781) 4,944 129 (1) 95 (17) 95 (50) 0 0 87 338 217 555

Public Health (Grant 
Funded)

45,293 (44,949) 344 (187) 12 2,153 (7) 27,226 (1,649) 0 0 2,080 29,628 (29,628) 0

Appropriation Account 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 368,343 (167,283) 201,061 229 (82) 1,938 (237) 30,576 18,296 (867) 0 8,702 58,556 (51,873) 6,683

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

P
age 41



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action Plan 

Value
Forecast Variation 

against Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. Caroline Baria R 1.0 1.2

2. Shona 
McFarlane

R 0.1 0.1

3. Shona 
McFarlane

R 0.1 0.1

4. Shona 
McFarlane

G 0.7 0.0

5. Shona 
McFarlane

G 0.9 0.0

6. Shona 
McFarlane

R 0.5 0.5

7. Steve Hume R 1.9 0.5

8. Shona 
McFarlane

R 0.2 0.2

9. Shona 
McFarlane

B 0.2 0.0

10. Max Naismith B 0.1 (0.2)

11. Max Naismith G 0.4 0.1

12. Steve Hume G 0.3 0.0

13. John Crowther B 2.5 0.0

14. Steve Hume G 0.2 0.0

15. Caroline Baria G 0.8 0.0

16. Steve Hume R 3.3 1.4

17. Shona 
McFarlane

G 0.4 (0.0)

B. Other Significant Variations

1. All 0.2

2. VE/CB 15.7

3 General running costs All 32.2

4 Use of reserves All 8.7

5 All (54.0)

Adults and Health Directorate - Forecast Variation 6.7

Additional Comments

Income
Includes Infection Control Grant (£13.5m), Early Discharge funding (£3.3m), COMF funding (£26.5m), 
Workforce Development Fund (£1.7m) and Rapid Test Funding (1.8m) all of which are shown as 
being offset by matching spend

Meals on Wheels 

Contract management efficiencies

Savings of £0.7m are reduced due to Covid-19 costs

Commisioned services - care and Public Health anticipated variation - largely related to one-off funding (see income below)

Staffing - vacancy factor/turnover

Staffing relating to staffing turnover and slippage in employing new staff

iBCF - Health Funding to support social care & Inflation

Client transport - route and efficiencies

Review of Learning Disabilities 

Carry forward of Public Health underspend (£0.62m), carry forward of Leeds Plan underspend 
(£0.16m), reduced requirement of reserve funding within commissioning (£0.5m) and carry forward 
of Adult Safeguarding (£0.03m)

Occupational Therapists: grant contribution funding from the 
DFG

CHC - LD: client transport costs/ staffing costs

Enablement Service - improvements in productivity

Demand - continuation of strengths-based approach 

Review of Physical Impairment and home care efficiency

Section 117 and CHC clients - review cost allocations 

Review of home care efficiency

Recover unspent Direct Payments (based on trends)

Assistive technology to a city-wide self-pay market

Review billing and collection of assessed client contributions and 
trends

Spring Budget (end of time limited schemes) 

P
age 42



Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure

Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Demand Led Budgets:
In House placed CLA 21,079 0 21,079 (1,462) (1,462) (1,462)
Independent Fostering Agency 7,681 0 7,681 1,047 1,047 1,047
External Residential 12,096 (3,995) 8,101 3,748 3,748 3,748
Other Externally placed CLA 2,967 0 2,967 629 629 629
Non CLA Financially Supported 13,872 (5,610) 8,262 2,327 2,327 2,327
Transport 15,586 (897) 14,689 150 (811) (661) (661)

Sub total Demand Led Budgets 73,282 (10,502) 62,780 0 0 150 (811) 0 6,289 0 0 0 5,628 0 5,628

Other Budgets
Partnerships & Health 5,873 (2,328) 3,545 (491) (204) (860) 0 (27) 3 (22) (1,601) 390 (1,211)
Learning 35,580 (30,366) 5,213 (754) 50 (500) (192) (383) 2,228 18 2,099 2,566 (841) 1,725
Social Care (Excl. Early Start & H&W) 71,726 (32,065) 39,660 335 114 (2,592) (210) 334 404 (1,263) 1,706 (1,172) 682 (490)
LfL - Early Start & H&W 67,531 (61,571) 5,959 (1,049) 53 (383) (28) (323) 0 607 0 (1,123) 3,006 1,883
Resources and Strategy 67,570 (61,755) 5,815 (640) (223) (329) (22) 0 0 (238) 410 (1,042) 721 (321)

Sub total Other Budgets 248,280 (188,086) 60,194 (2,599) (6) (4,008) (1,312) (372) 2,605 (873) 0 4,193 (2,372) 3,958 1,586
Total 321,562 (198,588) 122,974 (2,599) (6) (3,858) (2,123) (372) 8,894 (873) 0 4,193 3,256 3,958 7,214

CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - Outturn

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall Summary - At Outturn the directorate is reporting a pressure of £7.214m, all of which is attributable to Covid-19. The overspend includes a net £5.714m additional expenditure and loss of income attributable to Covid-19. The remaining £1.5m is related to repayment of 
previous borrowing against school reserves. The outturn is a positive movement of £0.878m from the reported £8.092m P11 / provisional outturn statement.  

Children Looked After (CLA): - The budget for 20-21 is £43.8m, an increase of £1.45m from 19-20. The budget supports 1,346 CLA placements; including 58 External Residential (ER) and 183 Independent Fostering Agency (IFA).  
Actual CLA figures as at 21st March were 1,276, which is 70 less than the budgeted number. Despite total CLA numbers being less than budgeted for, an overspend of £3.962m (-£0.25m from P11) is projected as there is a higher proportion of more costly placements than assumed in the 
budget and rates charged by providers have increased due to Covid. In house CLA placements are 99 lower than budgeted and external placements are 29 greater than budgeted. Within the external placements pressure, there have been increased numbers in Secure Justice & Welfare 
settings. Latest ER numbers are 62 (+4 against budget) and IFA 207 (+24 against budget)

Non CLA Financially supported: - The non-CLA financially supported budget was increased by £1.0m to £13.9m in the 2020/21 budget. Budgeted 20-21 numbers are 950 placements (+46 20-21 -v- 19-20); current numbers are 1,052, creating a pressure of £2.327m.  This includes the 
increase in the rate for Care Leavers allowances and the impact on semi-independent living as young people have not been able to move on from this accommodation due to COVID and £0.325k s17 payments (Non-Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF)).

Staffing: - Pay savings of £2.6m have been realised. £1.0m for Learning for Life Early Start Little Owls LCC run Children Centres and their inability to open and run at full capacity. £1.65m pay savings realised from in-year vacancy control being implemented and utilising the LCC ELI 
programme. £0.7m savings on former teacher retirement costs and staff training. Offset by £0.735m pay pressure in Social Care for LCC run establishments.

Transport: - Passenger Transport savings of £0.811m realised by CEL

Trading and Commissioning: - The directorate have incurred losses of income due to Covid for Children's Centres (£1.945m net figure; £3m fee income shortfall offset by £1m pay saving and detailed in table below) and trading with schools, £1.3m

Supplies & Services & Internal Charges:- Savings on Other Expenditure of £1.273m have been realised, primarily Travel and Subsistence, Legal and Internal Charges.

Other Income / Projects :  Overall additional income of £0.4m. 

P
age 43



Key Budget Variations:

A. Key variances £m

(2.649) 

0.735 

(0.685) 

3.301 

3.173 

0.150 

(0.769) 

- impact on 20-21 income not directly due to covid-19 2.539 

- assessed impact on income directly due to covid-19 4.360 

- New grant funding for covid related schemes (2.941) 

Children and Families Directorate - Outturn Variation 7.214

Additional Comments

- Insourcing of Independent Travel Trainer contract

Children Looked After & Financially 
Supported Non-CLA Demand Budgets

Staffing

Non-Staffing

 - Direct impact of Covid Additional staffing within LCC run residential homes, 4 x Service Delivery Managers for 6 
months and Adel Beck pay pressures re Agency & Overtime.

Shortfall of £0.324m reduction in Troubled Families Grant. Due to slippage in delivery of the 
SFPC Programme £1m of grant income transferred to earmarked reserve. £0.244m CCG 
income shortfall for ER placements. £1.2m lower usage of DSG income, Early Years funding.

£3.0m Income shortfall for LfL Children centres and £1.3m shortfall in income from trading 
with schools; predominately around the activity centres and 0-19 School Improvement.

DfE PiP 20-21 funding. Due to uncertainty of continuation of the programme late 2019-20 
financial year, the 20-21 budget assumed not continuing. 

Income (including Grant funding)

Within Resources & Strategy - £0.7m Central Overhead Account savings on former teacher 
severance and pension costs and £0.2m underspend on staff training.

- assessed impact on non-staffing related expenditure 
directly due to covid-19

 - Delivery of £2m Staffing Action Plans

 - Other employee costs

- Delivery of actions within Exec Board report to address
£3.8m pressure identified Feb'20.

- assessed impact on CLA numbers and budget specifically 
relating to covid-19.

Impact of COVID on in-sourcing ITT contract

£1.0m savings in LfL Children Centres and linked to shortfall in £3.0m income. £1.65m due to 
vacancy release control and in-year ELI programme.

£0.8m private hire savings from CEL Passenger Transport, £0.51m savings on travel & 
subsistence and £0.55m on Legal charges. £0.4m savings on supplies & services related to 
School Brokerage Grant.

Significant in-year pressure on CLA placements for out of area; ER £3.7m and IFA £1m. 
Placement numbers have reduced throughout the year, down to 60 ER and 207 IFA. Other 
impact increased weekly rates due to impact of covid. Budget assumed £4,000 per week, 
Actual was £4,550. Some will be linked to complexity as well.P

age 44



CHILDREN & FAMILIES 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - OUTTURN

Overall Summary - The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is made up of 4 separate blocks - the Schools Block, Central School Services Block, Early Years Block and High Needs Block.  
For 2020/21 DSG was £1,827k underspent, which includes a surplus on de-delegated budgets of £1,006k. De-delegated budgets are ringfenced, and excluding these the DSG was underspent by £821k. In relation to COVID pressures, 
£100k of the costs on the High Needs Block have been identified as due to increased provider rates on outside placements due to the impact of COVID.

Schools Block - This is the largest element of the DSG and mostly consists of  delegated funding to local authority maintained schools.  When a school becomes an academy, funding payments are made directly by the ESFA and not paid 
to local authorities to distribute.  When this happens, there is a reduction in grant income which is largely matched by reduced expenditure.  Since the budget was set, there have been a number of academy conversions which reduces the 
grant received and the school funding paid out.  Following these conversions, there is a small one off saving in the year in which it occurs.  There are a number of de-delegated services where schools have agreed for the local authority to 
retain funding to cover some costs centrally which otherwise would need to be charged to schools (such as maternity costs, trade unions costs and the libraries service).  As there were fewer schools converting to an academy by 1st 
September 2020, there was additional de-delegated income of £286k and the schools contingency fund had a net nil expenditure which resulted in an underspend of £999k. This is partly offset by overspends of £319k on maternity and 
suspended staff pay and £29k on SIMs licences.  Overall the de-delegated underspend was £1,006k.  The Growth Fund budget remains part of this block and was £531k underspent.  This underspend is earmarked for use to fund growth 
requirements in 2021/22.

Central School Services Block
This block covers costs such as prudential borrowing repayment, equal pay costs, the admissions service and the retained duties element of what used to be the Education Services Grant (which covers statutory and regulatory duties, asset 
management and welfare services).  There was an underspend of £143k as a result of vacancies in the admissions service.

Early Years Block - This element is concerned with provision to pre-school children.  The uncertainty and changing requirements as a result of COVID19 made accurate projections on this block difficult. The impact on 2020/21 has been 
mitigated by a slight change in the way the income due is calculated.  For 2020/21 only, the January 2021 early years census will only affect the income due for 3 months of the year, rather than the usual 7 months.  This should reduce the 
potential volatility of the grant due, though the final grant will not be confirmed until November 2021.  In line with the 8p per hour increase in the unit rate received, the unit rates paid to providers has been increased for both 2 year old and 3 
& 4 year old providers by 8p.  The final position on the early years block was an underspend of £2,228k.  In line with previous budget monitoring reports and reports to Schools Forum, it is proposed to make a one off exceptional payment to 
providers to 3 and 4 year olds totalling £2,000k in 2021/22.

High Needs Block - This element is used to support provision for pupils and students with special educational needs and disabilities. The year end position was an overspend of £2,327k.  The largest areas of variance are as follows:
- Mainstream top-ups and additional blocks overspend of £2,305k as a result of an increase in the number and complexity of pupils in mainstream schools.
- An increase in the number of pupils requiring post 18 places resulted in an overspend of £604k.
- Outside placements was overspent by £2,234k due to a shortage of specialist places in Leeds.
- When the budget was set, it was known that there were a number of high needs pupils where special school places had not at that time been identified.  Now that they have been and are reflected in the above overspends, that budget of 

£2,106k was no longer required.
- The high needs block services provided by Leeds City Council were underspent by £604k.
- At the start of the year, a number of elements of the grant allocation were not confirmed.  These have now been confirmed and will result in an additional £120k of grant income.

Reserves - There is an overall deficit brought forward from 2019/20 on general DSG of £3,955k and a de-delegated surplus of £722k.  The reserves carried forward into 2021/22 are a deficit on general DSG of £3,134k and a surplus on de-
delegated  services of £1,158k.  In line with the School Forum request in October, the 2019/20 underspend on de-delegated services of £596k has been refunded to schools pro-rata to the de-delegated income received from the school.  

P
age 45



Budget Projection Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000

Schools Block
 DSG Income (314,877) (306,600) 8,277 General De-delegated Total

Individual Schools Budgets 307,309 298,786 (8,523) £'000 £'000 £'000
De-delegated budgets 4,568 3,562 (1,006)
Growth Fund 3,000 2,469 (531) Latest Estimate

0 (1,783) (1,783) Balance b/fwd from 2019/20 3,955 (722) 3,233
Net contribution to/from balances

Central School Services Block Balance c/fwd to 2021/22 3,955 (722) 3,233
 DSG Income (4,867) (4,867) 0
CSSB Expenditure 4,867 4,724 (143) Projected Outturn

0 (143) (143) Balance b/fwd from 2019/20 3,955 (722) 3,233
 Projected in year variance (821) (1,006) (1,827)

Early Years Block   Use of reserves 596 596
 DSG Income (64,216) (59,247) 4,969 Balance c/fwd to 2021/22 3,134 (1,132) 2,002
 FEEE 3 and 4 year olds 50,897 46,363 (4,534)
 FEEE 2 year olds 10,147 7,699 (2,448)
 Other early years provision 3,172 2,957 (215)

0 (2,228) (2,228)

High Needs Block
 DSG Income (79,831) (79,951) (120)
 Funding passported to institutions 72,329 75,382 3,053
 Commissioned services 1,921 1,919 (2)
 In house provision 5,023 4,419 (604)

 Prudential borrowing 558 558 0
0 2,327 2,327

Total 0 (1,827) (1,827)

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 

Officer
Additional 
Comments

RAG
Action Plan 

Value
Forecast Variation 

against Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

Transfer funding to High Needs Block B 3.00 0.00

B. Significant Variations
Schools Block In year underspend of £1,032k on de-delegated services (1.01)
Schools Block Underspend on growth fund (0.53)
Schools Block Underspend as a result of academy conversion adjustments (0.25)
Early Years Block (2.23)
High Needs Block Increase in high needs funding at mainstream schools 2.31
High Needs Block Increase in outside placement costs 2.23
High Needs Block Increase in cost of post 18 placements 0.61
High Needs Block Budget for new places from September 2020 no longer required (part funds overspends above) (2.10)
High Needs Block Underspends on services provided by LCC (0.60)
High Needs Block Final confirmation of grant due for 2020/21 (0.12)
CSSB Underspend on admissions service (0.14)

Dedicated Schools Grant - Forecast Variation (1.83)

DSG Grant ReservesBudget Management - net variations against the approved budget

Underspends within early years block

Transfer of £2.65m from the schools block and £350k from the central school services block to the high needs block 
as detailed in report to Schools Forum in January 2020.

P
age 46



CITY DEVELOPMENT 2020/21 BUDGET 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - OUTTURN

Directorate Summary - The 2020/21 Outturn position for City Development is an overspend of £20.26m which includes the overall impact of Covid 19 on the Directorate's budgets which is 24.21m.  This does not include or reflect any compensation 
due from the Government for sales, fees, and charges losses.  This is a favourable movement of £0.75m from the Period 12 Dashboard which is due to additional savings being realised across services.
The Directorate's financial position has been significantly affected by the current restrictions in place as a result of Covid 19 and by the severe impact on the economy.  Active Leeds and Arts and Heritage have been directly impacted by the loss in 
income from the closure of all sites and the uncertainty and restrictions on recovery.  In other service areas the anticipated economic downturn has impacted on income from the commercial property portfolio, Markets, advertising, planning and 
building fees and in Highways from reduced fee recovery as a result of some of the workforce self-isolating and other staff absences. 

Staffing – The outturn staffing position is an underspend of £4.05m.  In Highways and Transportation most staff costs are chargeable and any vacancies will lead to reduced income or additional contractor costs.  Some staff in Asset Management 
and Regeneration are also chargeable.  Allowing for this the staff savings have contributed a net saving of £3.18m.  This also allows for the additional costs from a higher pay award than budgeted for at a cost of £375k although some of this cost will 
be charged out.  There is a further saving of £378k across all services due to staff leaving via the ELI Scheme prior to the 31st March 2021, after accounting for income generating posts and any interim costs.

Other running cost savings - Where cost savings directly relate to closure of facilities and events then these have been accounted for in the net income loss figures.  Additional savings in supplies and services and travel costs of £1.26m have been 
realised across the Directorate's services. 

Additional Covid 19 costs - Whilst the impact of Covid 19 on City Development is mostly on income, some additional costs are being incurred to ensure services are Covid compliant, assist City Centre Management and other related public health 
and health and safety measures.  This has amounted to £0.74m across the Directorate.  

Planning and Sustainable Development - both planning application and building control fee income were adversely impacted at the start of the pandemic but then started to improve from June onwards but with noted volatility.  The final position 
for 2020/21 is a 10.9% deficit against budget for Planning Fees and a 4.2% over achievement against budget for Building Control Fees.  The planned implementation of revised pre-application charges was initially postponed due to lockdown but has 
now started.  The 2020/21 budget included additional income of £250k for these charges and the delay has resulted in a shortfall of £50k.  The overall shortfall in income of £704k has been partially offset by £0.32m of staffing, transport and 
supplies and services savings. 

Economic Development - The service is forecasting a reduction of income and additional costs of £30k for the year, mainly reduced income from Conference Leeds and reduced recovery of staff costs where staff were working on Covid 19 related 
work. This also includes some additional grant income that has been received, and some minor offsetting savings in transport costs.

Asset Management and Regeneration - Due to the economic uncertainties arising from COVID-19 no new strategic acquisitions were made in 2020/21, therefore the Outturn position includes a £1.35m shortfall in income from the non-
achievement of budget action plans in relation to the Strategic Investment Fund.   It is anticipated that there will be an impact on the collection of rental income from the Non-Prime Commercial Portfolio as some businesses continue to struggle 
financially.  The service has developed a strategy around rental income and how the service responds to requests from businesses seeking support.  However due to the restrictions on debt recovery action implemented by the Government in 
response to the Pandemic, and financial reporting standards and principles, the full impact of this will not be fully realised until late 2021/22 at the earliest.  Therefore the outturn position includes a £1.3m increase to the Bad Debt Provision.  

Employment and Skills - All the major grant schemes that the service manages have been delivered as expected.  Savings of £375k have been achieved across staffing and supporting budgets.

Highways and Transportation - The outturn position for Highways is an overall overspend of £793k, which is comprised of several major variations.  One of these is the major variation on the amount of highways maintenance work that the DLO 
was able to complete due to a reduced available workforce.  This resulted in reduced chargeable works which lead to a reduction in income and the recovery of overheads of £917k.   The very cold winter led to an overspend of £935k due to the 
number of additional grittings required.   These additional costs were partially offset by over achievement of income targets and/or underspends in other areas of the service, in particular in Transport Planning at £1.237k.  

Arts and Heritage - As facilities were closed during the early part of the financial year and again for Lockdown 2 and 3 the service has suffered significant shortfalls in income.  The net position of this is an overspend of £1.81m.  This includes the 
£300k saving from postponing the Triathlon and the Tour de Yorkshire and will be significantly offset by the Central Government Sales Fees and Charges recompense scheme.

Active Leeds – This service was severely impacted by the pandemic and the resulting lockdowns, as reported previously.  The final outturn position for the service is a net overspend of £11.3m of which £12.9m are the reported losses in income due 
to the pandemic.  This will be significantly offset by the Governments Sales, Fees and Charges compensation scheme.

Resources and Strategy – additional costs that were being incurred as a result of Covid 19 and the original lockdown are being recorded in the Resources and Strategy budget, totalling £0.74m.  

Markets and City Centre – Open Market traders were not billed for rent for April to June as part of a Covid support package at a monthly loss of £40k. Indoor Market traders continue to be billed but provided with a rental support scheme (rent 
reductions) for July to September, this scheme was extended for a further three months (October to December).  Whilst most indoor traders are eligible for support through the Government business support scheme there has been an increase in 
voids in the Market and contibuting to the 38% shortfall in income.  Due to Lockdown 3 a further package of support measures were introduced and therefore a £300k bad debt provision has been made in respect of this.  Furthermore a £700k 
shortfall against budgeted income for Advertising, including the £200k additional income assumed in the 2020/21 budget, is recognised also.

P
age 47



Expenditure 
Budget Income Budget Latest 

Estimate Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services Transport Internal 

Charges
External 

Providers
Transfer 

Payments Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / overspend
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning & 
Sustainable 
Development

9,560 (7,877) 1,684 (262) (56) (52) (51) 21 0 85 0 0 (316) 704 388

Economic 
Development 2,358 (627) 1,731 21 0 14,322 (25) 119 0 0 0 (253) 14,185 (14,156) 30

Asset Management 
& Regeneration 17,629 (20,788) (3,159) (834) 472 (309) (16) (33) 0 (384) 0 112 (991) 4,703 3,712

Employment & 
Skills 6,245 (4,532) 1,713 (471) 0 (102) (11) (110) 108 42 0 0 (544) 170 (375)

= Highways & 
Transportation 65,569 (47,660) 17,909 (329) 329 490 168 345 0 2 0 0 1,005 (212) 793

Arts & Heritage 21,731 (9,350) 12,380 (480) (212) (3,342) (31) (95) (1) 280 65 (295) (4,111) 5,921 1,810

Active Leeds 26,626 (20,453) 6,172 (1,562) (738) (731) (27) (161) (147) 197 0 1,016 (2,154) 13,457 11,303
Resources & 
Strategy 1,045 (484) 562 383 112 159 8 275 0 0 0 610 1,547 (1,104) 443

Markets & City 
Centre 3,542 (4,607) (1,064) (18) (159) (51) 2 (11) 0 0 0 0 (237) 2,393 2,155

Total 154,306 (116,378) 37,928 (3,552) (252) 10,384 17 349 (40) 222 65 1,191 8,384 11,876 20,259

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

RAG
Action 
Plan 

Value

Forecast Variation against 
Plan/Budget

Lead Officer
A.  Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. David Feeney A (0.25) 0.05

2. Angela Barnicle R (0.75) 0.75

3. Angela Barnicle R (0.20) 0.20

4. Gary Bartlett G (0.43) 0.00

5. Gary Bartlett Site Development G (0.25) 0.00

6. Gary Bartlett Utility Permits A (0.20) 0.00

7. Phil Evans Advertising Income R (0.20) 0.20

8. Phil Evans Use of Balances/One Off Income G (0.50) 0.42

(2.78) 1.62Total Budget Action Plan Savings 

Markets & City Centre Management 

Resources & Strategy

Highways & Transportation

Highways & Transportation

Asset Management & Regeneration Asset Rationalisation

LED Street Lighting ConversionHighways & Transportation

Additional Comments

Purchase of commercial assets to generate additional rental income over and above the annual costs of 
borrowing and other land-lord related costs  

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Asset Management & Regeneration

Planning & Sustainable Development Pre-Application fee income in Planning - delayed implementation

P
age 48



B. Other Significant Variations

1. David Feeney 0.65

2. Angela Barnicle Additional Capital Receipt Fee Income (0.41)

3. Angela Barnicle 3.00

4. Highways & Transportation Gary Bartlett Highways Maintenance 0.65

5. Arts & Heritage Eve Roodhouse 2.56

6. Arts & Heritage Eve Roodhouse Postponement of Tour de Yorkshire and the Triathlon (0.30)

7. Phil Evans 13.46

8. Phil Evans Covid related savings in Leisure Centres (0.60)

9. Phil Evans 2.39

10. All Services All Staffing Vacancies (excluding income funded posts) (3.18)

11. All Services All Savings on running costs across the Directorate (1.26)

12. All Services All Additional Pay Award 0.38

13. All Services All Additional spend as a result of Covid 19 0.74

14. Highways & Transportation Gary Bartlett Winter Pressures 0.94

15. All Services All Net ELI savings across all services (0.38)

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation 20.260

Planning Application and Building Control Fees Planning & Sustainable Development

Asset Management & Regeneration Commercial Rental Income & Asset Activities

Markets, Advertising, and Licences Income 

Active Leeds Loss of income due to closure of Leisure Centres and reduced income once they re-open.

Net loss of income due to closure of venues 

Markets & City Centre Management 

Active Leeds

Asset Management & Regeneration

P
age 49



COMMUNITIES & ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE SUMMARY
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR

Outturn 2020/21
The overall position is an overspend of £21,166k. Of this net position, £25,025k 
relates to the impact of Covid-19. The overall position includes the impact of 
tighter recruitment and expenditure controls and the Council's Early Leavers 
Initiative (ELI) which have contributed to non-COVID net savings of £3,859k 
being achieved.   

Communities (£383k overspend)
Covid-19 related costs total £382k which includes a £401k loss of Community 
Centre income, £30k delays to planned savings from Community Centres offset by 
running cost savings of £79k, and £27k cost of the additional 0.75% pay award. 
Other net expenditure variations of £4k include a net £143k overspend on staffing 
largely offset by other running cost savings. An in year underspend on the 
Wellbeing budget of £391k has been transferred to the wellbeing earmarked 
reserve for use in future years.

Customer Access (£793k overspend)
Covid-19 costs of £1,174k include the cost of software and equipment to support 
home working (£83k), PPE/Social distancing measures and additional cleaning at 
Hub sites (£435k), projected net income losses of £379k across the service, 
additional cost of overtime £100k and the pay award of £171k. Other variations 
include a net staffing overspend of £127k offset by all other non-COVID 
expenditure/income savings of £508k. 

Elections, Licensing and Registrars (£66k underspend)
The majority of fee earning activities - Registrars, Entertainment Licensing and 
Taxi & Private Hire Licensing - have been impacted significantly during the year. 
The combined impact on income is £1,457k, with a further £17k cost relating to 
the pay award, although these are partially offset by other net savings of £647k, 
mainly from the cancelled May elections and additional grant income in respect 
of compliance and enforcement activities. Further net savings of £893k across the 
service include £313k on staffing, £210k of operational running cost savings 
within TPHL and £299k from the income compensation scheme in respect of TPHL 
which partially offsets the in-year income shortfall. 

Environmental Health (£206k underspend)
The year end position reflects Covid related costs of £59k, mainly due to income 
losses from a reduction in activities across the service and the pay award of £10k, 
offset by £265k net savings in respect of all other staffing, running cost and 
income variations.   

Welfare and Benefits (£1,904k overspend)
The year end position includes Covid-19 related expenditure in respect of the net 
cost of Housing Benefit claims for rough sleepers (£698k), the net impact on HB 
overpayment income (£909k) and the estimated cost of the pay award (£33k). All 
other variations total £264k and include the impact of the final HB subisidy claim 
(£1.035k - which includes the net cost of supported accommodation cases), 
staffing variations of +£103k, partially offset by addititional new burdens income. 
It is proposed to carry forward the balance of funding (£844k) for the 
discretionary Test & Trace support scheme (self-isolation payments) in an 
earmarked reserve to allow the scheme to continue in 21/22. 

Parks and Countryside (£4,355k overspend)
The overall impact of Covid-19 on the service is £5,280k. Income losses at income 
generating facilities such as Tropical World, Temple Newsam Home Farm, 
Lotherton Wildlife World, the Arium, Cafes, Golf courses and concessions in parks 
are £2,915k. In addition, shortfalls in income from the reduction in chargeable 
works activities within Parks Operations and Landscaping total £1,339k and losses 
of income resulting from restrictions within bereavement services are £373k. A 
further £142k shortfall of income is due to the cancellation of events held in parks 
although savings of £424k from the cancellation of the West Indian Carnival and 
bonfires offset this. Other COVID related expenditure of £806k relates to 
measures in Parks to facilitate Safer Public Spaces and the cost of PPE equipment 
and cleaning.  The cost of the pay award is £129k, although offsetting this are 
total other net savings of £925k, mainly comprising staffing savings. 

Car Parking (£6,846k overspend)
Covid-19 related net income losses of £7,488k across the service have been 
experienced.  This reflects the impact of the Council’s decision to suspend all car 
parking charges and enforcement activity until 4th July and the further reduction 
in income levels as a result of the subsequent lockdowns. This includes £3,052k in 
respect of on-street parking, £2,856k for off street parking and £1,315k for 
income from PCNs.  These income losses have been partially offset by staffing 
savings of £319k and other net expenditure savings of £323k. 

Community Safety (£112k underspend)
The impact of the Covid-19 (£5k) and the impact of the pay award (£53k) has 
been offset by net expenditure savings elsewhere in the service of £171k, 
including staffing savings from the ELI scheme, general expenditure savings and 
additional income across the service. 

Waste Management (£6,490k overspend):
Within the Refuse service, additional expenditure of £3,205k has been incurred 
which reflects the cost of providing additional crews and vehicles to deal with 
increased volumes of waste and to provide necessary staffing cover and PPE 
equipment. Additional volumes of waste resulted in additional disposal costs of 
£2,683k, although under the contract arrangements with the RERF, the Council 
will receive income of £596k resulting from this additional waste. It is proposed to 
transfer this one-off income to the waste earmarked reserve to support the 
delivery of the Refuse route review and the developing waste strategy. A further 
£942k was incurred at Household Waste Sites for the cost of providing PPE 
equipment, staffing cover and security at the sites as well as net income losses 
from inert waste charges and from the Revive shops. The cost of the pay award is 
£155k giving a total Covid related pressure of £6,986k. These additional costs are 
partially offset by ELI savings of £71k and other net savings of £425k, mainly 
relating to prudential borrowing savings, additional bin sales to developers and 
additional weighbridge volume trend income.

Cleaner Neighbourhoods Teams (£437k underspend)
Covid-19 related costs of £242k reflect the loss of income from bulky waste 
collections, additional costs of cover for staff in self isolation, litter bin stickers, 
PPE equipment and the cost of the pay award. However, these are offset by 
staffing savings of £485k and other operational savings of £194k.   

City Centre (£39k overspend)
Covid-19 related costs of £157k include the loss of environmental enforcement 
income, additional cost of cover for staff in self isolation and the pay award, 
although staffing savings of £75k and other net operational savings of £42k 
partially offset these costs. 

Directorate Wide (£1,177k overspend)
The directorate incurred additional Covid-19 related costs of £855k in respect of a 
temporary mortuary facility created as part of the Council's emergency planning 
arrangements to deal with a potential increase in mortality rates over and above 
current capacity for Leeds and Wakefield. Other covid related costs include a city 
wide mail out in respect of accessing support (£134k) and staffing costs incurred in 
response to the crisis. Other non-Covid costs include £124k for the impact of 
changes to the directorate wide provision for bad and doubtful debts.

P
age 50



Summary By Service Projected variances

Expenditure 
Budget Income Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises Supplies & Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Communities 18,087 (13,235) 4,852 197 (84) 1,186 (9) 210 758 0 102 376 2,736 (2,353) 383
Customer Access 27,849 (5,420) 22,429 557 18 776 (105) (20) 1,369 2,595 (1,802) 793

Electoral & Regulatory Services 
(including Environmental Health) 8,295 (6,431) 1,864 (691) (146) (314) (17) (227) 1,167 (228) (44) (272)

Welfare And Benefits 193,030 (191,334) 1,696 182 (13) 3,771 (20) 67 6,809 1,542 12,338 (10,434) 1,904
Car Parking Services 4,867 (12,291) (7,424) (295) 294 (432) 2 (161) (592) 7,438 6,846
Community Safety 9,376 (7,149) 2,227 12 10 (267) (12) 363 5 625 736 (848) (112)
Waste Management 44,279 (9,794) 34,485 3,371 4 3,283 409 (200) 6,858 13,725 (7,235) 6,490
Parks And Countryside 33,915 (26,781) 7,134 (1,142) (229) 11 (136) (237) 8 725 (1,000) 5,355 4,355

Environmental Action (City Centre) 2,119 (427) 1,692 (18) (3) (81) 12 (13) 44 (59) 98 39

Cleaner Neighbourhood Teams 12,762 (4,377) 8,385 (368) (86) 172 (126) (21) 80 (349) (88) (437)

Directorate wide 0 0 0 42 43 1,398 0 0 1,483 (306) 1,177
Total 354,579 (277,239) 77,340 1,847 (192) 9,503 (2) (239) 763 6,809 110 12,786 31,385 (10,219) 21,166

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG Action Plan 
Value (£000s)

Forecast 
Variation against 

Plan/Budget

Communities

Communities Team Shaid Mahmood
G (75) 

Community Centres Shaid Mahmood
A (100) 30

Communities Shaid Mahmood
A (166) 143

Customer Access
Contact Centre Lee Hemsworth

G (150) 

Customer Access Lee Hemsworth A (646) 127
Welfare & Benefits
Housing Benefits Lee Hemsworth G (200) 
Welfare and Benefits Lee Hemsworth A (194) 103
Electoral and Regulatory 
Services (incl Environmental 
Health)
Elections John Mulcahy G (400) (379)
All John Mulcahy G (177) 
Car Parking
Car Parking John Mulcahy R (100) 100
Car Parking John Mulcahy G (148) 
Waste Management
Refuse John Woolmer G (2,200) 
Waste Management - all John Woolmer G (50) 
Waste Management - all John Woolmer G (290) 
Parks and Countryside
Parks and Countryside Sean Flesher G (120) 
Parks and Countryside Sean Flesher G (1,398) 

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Increase charges at Woodhouse Lane car park by 50p for a full day Prices resumed but 50p increase to be implemented in 21/22

Secure agreement from DEFRA re revision to waste contract Confirmation received
Achievement of management structure staffing savings 

Additional funding from Children's Funeral Fund

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Staffing savings - achievement of vacancy factor

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Secure invest to save funding to partly offset additional staffing Business case  approved

Communities Team - achievement of staffing efficiencies

Community Centres -  asset transfer savings and general efficiencies within 
the service

Delays due to Covid-19

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Additional Comments

Charge PCC for share of elections Elections deferred until May 21 due to Covid-19 - net saving £379k

Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

Achievement of staffing reductions 
Achievement of base budget vacancy factor

P
age 51



Community Safety
Community Safety Paul Money G (175) 
Community Safety Paul Money G (17) 
Community Safety Paul Money G (335) 
Directorate Wide

Other Significant Variations
All Covid-19 related All Covid-19 expenditure/income variations not already shown in action plans above 25,274
All Staffing All Other staffing savings not shown above (2,035)
All Other All All other variations (2,197)

Communities & Environment - Variation 21,166

Maximisation of external funding
Achievement of staffing efficiencies
Achievement of base vacancy factor

P
age 52



Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget Latest Estimate Staffing Premises
Supplies & 

Services
Transport Internal Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Resources 100,415 (32,613) 67,802 2,600 326 183 (119) 53 0 (54) 0 3,139 6,128 (5,002) 1,126

Housing 23,148 (15,657) 7,491 (610) 63 2,095 30 (342) 1,507 0 0 1,957 4,700 (3,804) 896

CEL 148,396 (140,366) 8,030 (3,609) 212 (5,817) (617) (114) 0 0 0 736 (9,209) 15,677 6,468

PPE 0 242 914 2,547 94 923 4,720 (3,797) 923

Total 271,959 (188,636) 83,323 (1,377) 1,515 (992) (612) (403) 1,507 (54) 0 6,755 6,339 3,074 9,413

OUTTURN

RESOURCES AND HOUSING

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget
PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR

Overall 
The Directorate has an outturned at £9.4m over for the 2020/21 financial year which reflects an improvement of around £3.4m since the draft outturn was reported to Members in April. Within these figures, the total COVID 
related cost/loss of income is £14m is partially offset by savings/income of £4.6m comprising staff savings, additional income and savings in non essential expenditure across all services. 

Resources
There is an overspend of just over £1.1m across the Resources group of services, £4.5m of this is due to the adverse impact of COVID partially offset by non COVID savings/income of just over £3.4m.
The most significant items are a loss of court fees in Finance/Legal of £2.5m, £0.4m estimated cost of operating and providing meals from the Food Warehouse, £0.8m reduction in income to capital projects and other charges.  
Delays to the implementation of Budget Actions Plans and other COVID pressures in Shared Services are around £0.2m.
There are net savings on non COVID related areas of £3.4m, being a combination of savings against vacant posts, savings from ELIs, non essential spend and other running cost savings

Housing Services
There is an overspend of £0.9m in Housing. Of this £0.8m is the additonal net costs of supporting homelessness and rough sleeping activity during the pandemic Gross spend was in excess of £3m However, income from Housing 
benefit and government grants have reduced this pressure.

Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL)
The division has overspent by £6.5m with £7.8m attributable to COVID withpartially offseting savings of £1.3m from additional income and reduced operating costs

Of the £7.8m COVID pressure £5.3m is within LBS due to a reduction in income as a consequence COVID. The position in LBS is an improvement on previously monthly forecasts by approx £0.3m.
The other main area of COVID pressures are within Catering, where the impact of school closures upon meals, the provision of emergency meals and the closure of commercial catering has cost approx £2.4m, although 
compensasting savings in Catering of £1m and other parts of CEL £0.3m have helped mitigate.

CEL has operational responsibility for the delivery of the Passenger Transport and has delivered outturn savings of £1.1m and £0.3m for the Childrens and Families and Adult and Health directorates respectively which will be 
reported separately within the outturn dashboards for these directorates.

The Authority wide net expenditure onthe delivery PPE of £0.9m. 

P
age 53



Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast Variation 
against Plan/Budget

Service Lead Officer Comments £m £m
HOUSING
Housing

G (0.21) 

CEL

Leeds Building Services
R 0.00 5.26

CPM G (0.04) 
Facilities Management G (0.08) 
Facilities Management G (0.06) 
Fleet Services A (0.33) 
Fleet Services

G (0.21) 0.09

Catering
R (0.03) 

Catering
R (0.04) 

RESOURCES

DIS / Shared Services
G (0.25) 

DIS / Shared Services
G (0.15) 

DIS / Shared Services
R (0.14) 0.07

DIS
G (0.06) 

DIS
G (0.05) 

DIS G (0.25) 

HR
G (0.13) 

HR G (0.02) 
HR R (0.05) 0.05

HR R (0.15) 0.15

Shared Services R (0.15) 0.15
Shared Services R (0.14) 0.07

DIRECTORATE WIDE

Directorate Wide Line by Line Reductions
G (0.31) 

Directorate Wide Staffing reductions G (0.13) 
Directorate Wide Impact of Covid-19 R 6.69

Impact of Covid-19 R 0.84

Directorate/LCC Wide Impact of Covid-19 R 0.92

B. Other Significant Variations
Directorate/LCC Wide All Other variations G (4.88)

9.41

Pay Award

Generate net additional income from expanding commercial offer

Affected school closures. Catering pressures reported on COVID line

Sarah Martin

Sarah Martin

Electric Vehicle replacement and reduction in hire

Target saving from reduced reliance on meat based dishes

Commercial catering all but closed in 20-21

Resources and Housing Directorate - Outturn Variation

Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) Andrew Dodman Anticipate around £10k LCC wide on existing ULEV take up

Servicing of meeting savings £200k initial savings; £60k been identified elsewhere. £140k potential issue

Andrew Dodman

Net pressures, vacancy freeze and non essential spend savings

Apprenticeship Levy (Rolled over 19/20)

E Invoices Procurement exervise for techincal solution completedSonya MCDonald

Various COs

Mail and Print Review - Printer rationalisation

Income HR

Andrew Dodman ELI Business case approved. Staff leaving between Mar and Oct; Savings net of ELI costs

Andrew Dodman

Work in progress to get volumes down – given that the vast majority of staff are wfh there will be 
significant reductions in printing. Assuming WFH continues into 2020/21 will bring reduced printing 
costs in the new year.

Bev FisherMail and Print Review - Reductions in the volume of printing (Colou   

DIS - Health and City Partnerships

Staffing reductions 

Bev Fisher This has been done printers required will be in place for end of March and paid from ESP budget 
2019/20;

Staffing Reduction - DIS Service Desk Bev Fisher Not actioned – given the current demand/volume of calls cannot reduce staffing levels in the service 
desk in the near future or maybe at all. Need to identify alternative actions to offset 

Mail and Print Review - new Print Unit Equipment and LCC wide 
cost reduction on external spend

New structure in place during 19/20. 
Insourcing of Office waste and Voids

Sarah Martin Savings to come from fewer meetings etc as a result of WFH.

Sarah Martin EV vehicle replacement on track and service working to reduce hire. 

Additional Charges to DFG

Additional charges to capital (staffing)
Insourcing of general waste contract completed, insourcing of voids slipped.

Sarah Martin

Generate additional external income from maintenance of 
external vehicles

Sarah Martin Covid-19 epidemic has delayed savings and income

Review of servicing offer at Merrion House

Sarah Martin

New structure in Health and Housing in place. No issues expected, but need to keep under review re 
level of capital spend to justify charges to scheme

Turnover approx £14m lower due to pandemic and reduction in HRA  Cap progTo ensure the delivery of the targeted return (£10.655m) and 
ensure service developments and effective productivity 
improvements.

Budget Action

Sarah Martin

Jill Wildman

HR £44k (Staff shop, Serv Devt); Legal £100k; Pru Borrowing £60k; S&I £50k; IN year  monitoring of 
spend

This income has not beenreceived.  Alternative savings in HR 

Louise Snowden

Done and agreed – signed 12 months contracts with health partners

Charges to academies. Agreed

Bev Fisher

PPE Expenditure

Additional expenditure/loss of income as a result of pandemic net of £1.3m HB income

Passengers £87k ELI done; Housing Options £90k (split GF/ HRA)Various COs

Sonya McDonald Procurement exercise completed. Contract due to be awarded

DIS Breakfix - reduced external spend Bev Fisher This is done  - past six months trends show a reduction in costs – no reasons this wouldn’t continue.

P
age 54



Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (12,988) (20,089) (33,078) (228) 1,234 4,025 5,031 (1,327) 3,704
Corporate Covid issues 0 0 0 10,705 0 (19,325) (8,620) (77,668) (86,288)
Debt 35,747 (17,881) 17,866 (512) 16,999 5,229 21,716 94 21,810
Govt Grants 2,161 (27,581) (25,420) (2,023) 172,550 170,527 (175,199) (4,672)
Joint Committees 35,201 0 35,201 (67) (67) (67)
Miscellaneous 5,746 (794) 4,952 (169) (95) (36) (300) (57) (357)
Insurance 8,764 (8,764) 0 1,205 (137) 489 1,557 (1,557) 0

Total 74,630 (75,109) (479) 10,308 0 1,832 0 (137) (103) (2,023) 16,999 162,968 189,844 (255,714) (65,870)

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - OUTTURN

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall :

The overall outturn position for Strategic & Central Accounts shows an underspend of £65.9m. 

The dashboard includes a separate row for corporate Covid-related pressures and income, with a total net credit of £86.3m. This position includes £69.5m of government grant support awarded to the council for the impact of 
Covid (of which £19.3m was received in March 2020 and carried forward in reserves) and a projected £27.5m compensation grant for lost sales, fees and charges income during the pandemic. It also reflects the estimated 
£11.7m cost of the corporate Early Leavers scheme, less £0.5m to be funded from the flexible use of capital receipt. Following improvements to directorate positions, it has not been necessary to make use of capital receipts 
brought forward arising from the Merrion House capital distribution.

The dashboard recognises a shortfall of £23.3m in capital receipts generated in year, as a result of the shutdown in the economy due to the Covid 19 lockdown, which would require a corresponding increase in the level of MRP 
chargeable to revenue. This is net of an additional £4.1m target for capital receipts which has enabled a contribution to the general fund reserve. There has been an underspend of £1.9m in the budget for external interest 
costs and investment income, partially offset by a reduction of £0.5m in prudential borrowing costs recovered from directorates.

As a result of the impact of Covid 19 on the local economy, the council has received significantly more S31 grants as compensation for the additional  business rates reliefs given during the year.  There will be a corresponding 
impact on the Collection Fund deficit which the council will have to fund in 2021/22 as a result of these additional reliefs, and thus the additional income (£155.0m) will be fully required in 2021/22 and will therefore be carried 
forward in an earmarked reserve. Projected grant income under the Council Tax and Business Rates income guarantee schemes of £2.2m and £15.3m respectively have been accrued for and carried forward in reserves. A 
reduction of £2.1m has also been recognised in the council's projected business rates levy for the year, as a result of reduced business rates income. Following the 2020 government spending review, an additional £2.2m of 
New Homes Bonus grant income has also been recognised.

The general capitalisation budget target has not been met, and reflects a shortfall of £0.9m, however this has been more than offset by other minor savings totalling £1.4m. Non- covid related underspends of £3.4m in the 
overall corporate position are shown as a contribution to earmarked reserves.

P
age 55



STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2020/21 FINANCIAL YEAR
Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

RAG Budget

Forecast 
Variation 

against 
Budget

Lead Officer

A.  Major Budget Issues £m  £m  

1. Victoria 
Bradshaw G 20.2 (1.9) 

2. Victoria 
Bradshaw R 14.2 23.3 

3. Victoria 
Bradshaw G (4.7) (2.2) 

4. Victoria 
Bradshaw G (22.7) 0.0 

5. Victoria 
Bradshaw G (4.6) 0.0 

6. Victoria 
Bradshaw A (3.5) 0.9 

7. Victoria 
Bradshaw A (3.7) 0.0 

8. Victoria 
Bradshaw G 35.2 (0.1) 

9 Covid support grants Victoria 
Bradshaw G 0.0 (97.0) 

10 Early leavers costs Victoria 
Bradshaw R 0.0 11.2 

11 Use of capital receipts Victoria 
Bradshaw G 0.0 0.0 

12 Flexible use of capital receipts Victoria 
Bradshaw G 0.0 (0.5) 

B. Other Significant Budgets

1. Insurance Victoria 
Bradshaw A 0.0 0.0 

2. Prudential Borrowing Recharges Victoria 
Bradshaw G (16.6) 0.5 

3. Business Rates Levy Victoria 
Bradshaw G 2.1 (2.1) 

4 Victoria 
Bradshaw G 0.0 3.4 

5 Victoria 
Bradshaw G 4.9 (0.3) 

6 Victoria 
Bradshaw G 4.9 (0.4) 

7 Victoria 
Bradshaw G 0.0 (0.7) 

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation (65.9) 

Debt Costs and External Income There has been an underspend on external debt cost.

Additional Comments

Minimum Revenue Provision The budget relies on the use of capital receipts to repay some debt. Due to the slowdown in economic activity, a 
reduced level of capital receipts were realised, requiring additional MRP from revenue.

New Homes Bonus Forecast increased following recent Government Spending Review

Business Rates  (S31 Grants & retained income)
There has been an additional £155.0m of S31 grant income in relation to business rates. However this will be 
required to fund the Collection Fund deficit expected to be carried forward to 2021/22, and so will be carried forward 
in an earmarked reserve.

It is intended that £0.5m of the Early Leavers costs included in item 10 above will be capitalised under the flexible 
use of capital receipts provisions

S278 Contributions Section 278 capital spend and funding is was in line with the budget.

General capitalisation target Reductions in non-essential spend reduced the potential for capitalisation.

Schools capitalisation target The outturn position was in line with the budget.

Joint Committees Minor net variations.

General Covid support grants totalling £69.5m have been recognised, together with £27.5m of grant in 
compensation for lost sales, fees & charges income
Estimated severance costs of £9.5m and pension strain costs of £1.3m have been included in respect of the 
corporate ELI scheme
Following improvements in the position across directorates it has not been necessary to use the capital receipt 
recognised in relation to Merrion House

New large claims, partially offset by schools income, have driven an overspend of £489k to be funded from 
insurance reserve.

Shortfall due to slippage in caital spend.

Based on provisional outturn, the council's levy payable is expected to be below budget

Contributions to earmarked reserves Potential underspends of £3.4m in the overall corporate position will be contributed to earmarked reserves.

Other government grants Minor net variations

Miscellaneous Minor net variations

Strategic - other budgets Minor net variations

P
age 56



Summary of over / (under) spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments
£000 £000 £000 £000

Income
Rents (212,140) (210,495) 1,646                   1,738                               

Service Charges (8,484) (8,484) (1) 3                                       

Other Income (33,772) (32,457) 1,315                   1,571                               

Total Income (254,396) (251,437) 2,960               3,313                          
Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,400                            3,774                            2,374                   2,130                               
Repairs to Dwellings 49,786                          45,107                          (4,679) (4,200)
Council Tax on Voids 778                                1,124                            346                       346                                   

Employees 31,402                          30,378                          (1,024) (1,452)

Premises 8,202                            8,034                            (168) (37)

Supplies & Services 3,835                            3,254                            (581) (547)

Internal Services 44,064                          43,725                          (339) (311)

Capital Programme 55,845                          41,627                          (14,218) (14,186)

Unitary Charge PFI 10,417                          10,143                          (274) (274)
Capital Charges 44,334                          44,049                          (285) (1)

Other Expenditure 5,739                            5,980                            242                       (1)

Total Expenditure 255,800                   237,194                   (18,606) (18,532)
Net Position 1,404                       (14,243) (15,647) (15,220)
Appropriation: Sinking funds (216) 674                                890                       881                                   

Appropriation: Reserves (1,188) 3,268                            4,456                   4,039                               

(Surplus)/Deficit 0                             (10,300) (10,300) (10,300)
Transfer to Capital Reserve 10,300                          10,300                 10,300                             

Total Current Month 0                             (0) (0) 0                               

Hsg Mgt £(1,508)k, P&I £(708)k, Hsg Growth £(370)k, Technical £(18)k. £1,201k Severance costs and £150k pension strain for employees 
leaving before end of 20/21. £204k App Levy costs.

Covid 19 impact. 

Increase in case numbers and average costs.

Covid 19 impact due to void level. 

£(169)k ICT savings review, £(75)k Environ budgets, £(44)k Tenant mobility scheme, £(39)k income mgt costs plus WFH and line by line 
review savings.  

Transfer to Capital Reserve

£(278)k to fund capitalised interest for assets under construction. 

£129k to EIT reserve. £4,200k Transfer to Repair / Disrepair reserve. £41k HAPs reserve. £(216)k Sheltered reserve. £292k to General 
reserve.

Movement in PFI - offset above. 

Provision for bad debt £388k pressure. £(163)k transport saving due to Covid 19. £(103)k Reduced Community Payback payments due to 
Covid 19. £(41)k HAP offset in appropriation entry. £216k Sheltered hsg scheme charge to reserve. £(33)k DHP.

£14.2m reduction in transfer to capital due to slippage in the programme. £10.3m transfer to capital reserve, £3.9m funding other 
pressures.
To reflect movement on PFI.

£480k Civica DIS staff not charged to capital. £(194)k reduction in charges for Court cost - offset in internal Income. £(35)k PFI movement. 
£(153)k Leeds pipes reduction in consumption. £(117) Community safety recharge. £309k Disrepair legal costs. £(378)k grounds 
maintenance. £102k Community Hubs. £(283)k startegic hsg recharges. 

£304k RtB admin income due to Covid 19. £45k Technical cap sals. £626k Civica project team not charged to capital. £250k staff not 
working on capital schemes due to Covid 19. £642k vacant posts in P&I not charged to cap schemes. £412k Hsg growth posts vacant - 
offset in emp costs.  £200k reduction in Court income due to Covid 19 - offset in Internal Charges. Leeds Pipes pressure £191k. £(300)k 
Telecoms income. £(840)k Gainshare income. £(204)k App levy grant. 

Housing Revenue Account - Outturn
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year

Directorate
Variance to 

budget
Previous period 

variance
Current Budget Outturn Spend

£1,028k Increase in Voids due to Covid 19. £365k pre-covid trend void rate moved from 0.75 to 0.92. £197k Net impact of  reduction in 
RtBs sales offset by ROFR delays. Garages rent pressure £77k. 

£140k Naviagtion House Delapidation work. Electricity and water savings £(227)k. (£(37)k Crabon reduction levy ended.

P
age 57



Housing Revenue Account - Outturn
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year

Change in Stock Budget Outturn

Right to Buy sales (645) (411)
Right of First Refusals/ Buybacks 65 51
New Build (Council House Growth) 80 75
Total (500) (285)

Right to Buy Receipts 2019/20 Actual 2020/21 Outturn
Total Value of sales (£000s) 33,931 23,551
Average Selling Price per unit (£000s) 55.4 57.3
Number of Sales 612 411
Number of Live Applications 1,333 1,503

h

£000 £000 £000
Dwelling rents & charges 2019/20  Week 53 2020/21  Week 52

Current Dwellings 7,142 6,765 (376)
Former Tenants 4,716 4,356 (360)

11,858 11,122 (736)
Under occupation 2019/20    Week 53 2020/21  Week 52

Volume of Accounts 3,051 2,687 (364)
Volume in Arrears 1,198 838 (360)
% in Arrears 39.3% 31.2% -8.1%
Value of Arrears 197 121 (77)

Collection Rates 2019/20    Week 53 2020/21  Week 52
Dwelling rents 96.43% 96.70% 0.3%
Target 97.50% 97.50% 0.0%
Variance to Target -1.07% -0.80% 0.3%

VarianceArrears 2019/20 2020/21

P
age 58



Reserves b/f Use of Reserves Contribution to 
Reserves

Closing 
reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000

HRA General Reserve (6,495) 0 (292) (6,787)

Earmarked Reserves

Welfare Change (807) 651 0 (156)

Housing Advisory Panels (507) 0 (41) (548)

Sheltered Housing (2,777) 216 0 (2,561)

Early Leavers' Initiative (408) 408 0 0

Wharefedale View (23) 0 (10) (33)

Changing the Workplace (151) 0 0 (151)

ERDMS (257) 0 0 (257)

Proposed Repair / Disrepair Reserve 0 0 (4,200) (4,200)

(4,930) 1,275 (4,251) (7,906)

PFI Reserves

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund (1,474) 0 (1,397) (2,871)

LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund (6,025) 723 0 (5,302)

(7,499) 723 (1,397) (8,173)

Capital Reserve

MRR (General) (8,278) 46,620 (51,927) (13,586)

MRR (New Build) (1,105) 961 0 (144)

(9,383) 47,581 (51,927) (13,730)

Total (28,308) 49,579 (57,867) (36,596)

Financial Position on Reserves

Housing Revenue Account - Outturn
Financial Dashboard - 2020/21 Financial Year

P
age 59



Appendix 2

Directorate Description of Reserve

Balance at  

1st April 

2020

Transfers 

To & From 

Reserve

Balance at  

Outturn 

2020/21 Reason for Reserve

£k £k £k

GENERAL FUND (31,520) 3,761 (27,759)

Adults & Health S256 funding for Health Inequalities (1,823) 0 (1,823) Specific funding from Leeds South and East CCG for tackling health inequalities. 

Adults & Health Health & Social Care (CCG) (4,165) (1,056) (5,221) To fund Health and Social Care priorities

Adults & Health Prisons Reserve (126) 0 (126) CCG funding for social work in prisons

Adults & Health Drugs Commissioning (133) 0 (133) Carry forward of external income for drug and alcohol priorities

Adults & Health Transforming Care (2,766) 373 (2,393)
Provision to mitigate against costs associated with the NHS England led transfer of care packages to a community setting, in 

accordance with 2017/18 budget report

Adults & Health Social Care Development Reserve (976) 0 (976)
Provision to meet costs associated with development of social care models e.g. Recovery Model in accordance with 2017/18 

budget report

Adults & Health Resilience Reserve (627) 627 0
Provision to mitigate against unforeseen demand pressures e.g. caused by hot summers, cold winters, flu outbreaks etc., in 

accordance with 2017/18 budget report

Adults & Health Safeguarding (Adults) (266) (16) (282) Independent Safeguarding Board - carry forward of partner contributions.

Adults & Health Spring Budget (7,600) (723) (8,323) Carry forward of Spring Budget monies from DCLG.

Adults & Health Skills For Care (192) 0 (192) To provide funding for training of Care Workers

Children & Families Health Innovations (745) 241 (504) Monies given by Health Service for a number of joint initiatives around commissioning & children's centres

Children & Families Safeguarding (Children's) (230) 12 (218) Independent Safeguarding Board - carry forward of partner contributions to fund serious case reviews

Children & Families BS Scheme  (20) 20 0 Funding from the CCG to continue the Intensive Positive Behaviour Service in 20/21

City Development Armed Forces Day (6) 0 (6) Funding for Armed Forces Days

Communities & Environment Casino License (216) 26 (190) Reserve for creation of Social Inclusion Fund as per licence bid

Communities & Environment NEW - Self-Isolation Payment Reserve 0 (844) (844) Self-Isolation Payment funding to carry forward

Communities & Environment Economic, Social and Environmental Wellbeing fund (209) (182) (391) Carry forward balances on the wellbeing budgets of Community Committee.

Communities & Environment Communities Innovation Fund (20) (12) (32) To fund work with the 3rd Sector to develop future financial sustainability in the sector.

Communities & Environment
Waste Management (540) (157) (697)

Balance of waste disposal contract savings secured in 19/20 to support the delivery of the Refuse route review and the 

developing waste strategy.  

Resources & Housing Homelessness Prevention Fund (1,047) 28 (1,019) To fund Homelessness prevention

Resources & Housing Lord Mayor (10) 0 (10) Balance of budget carried forward.

Resources & Housing Members club (8) 0 (8) Surplus on the Members Club. 

Resources & Housing Low Carbon Programme (8) (150) (158) To support delivery of work on Air Quality

NEW - Connect Implementation 2021-22 0 (300) (300) To fund the implementation costs of the Connect system in LBS. 

Resources & Housing Section 256 (360) 68 (292) Funding from the CCG to be utilised by DIS to fund development of Digital Solutions for Personalised Care 

Resources & Housing Energy Efficiency Reserve - LCC (221) 0 (221) Energy efficiency reserve to fund invest to save energy efficiency initiatives. 

Strategic & Central General Insurance (3,278) (2,699) (5,977) To help fund cost of future insurance claims

Strategic & Central Mutual Municipal Insurance (11) 0 (11) Reserve to fund potential claw backs of past insurance receipts from MMI.

Strategic & Central
Legal Cost of VAT claims (63) 0 (63)

Funds set aside from £8.4m VAT claim refund received in 10/11 (originally £100k) to help fund legal costs for remaining VAT 

cases

Strategic & Central
Capital Reserve (1,745) (226) (1,971)

Directorate contributions towards borrowing costs of capital schemes. Contributions received over life of asset and released 

back to revenue to cover debt costs over life of loan. Reserve now exhausted.

Strategic & Central NEW - Merrion House Reserve 0 (2) (2) Reserve to fund the future costs of the Merrion House lease

Strategic & Central NEW - S31 Business Rates Reserve 0 (155,019) (155,019) Reserve to carry forward S31 NDR relief grants received in 20/21 to 21/22

Strategic & Central
NEW- Strategic Contingency Reserve 0 (24,338) (24,338)

Non Covid directorate savings - to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the Council becoming more 

financially resilient

Strategic & Central NEW - Council Tax TIG reserve 0 (2,234) (2,234) Income guarantee for lost C Tax in 20/21, to be spread over next 3 years.

Strategic & Central NEW - Business rates TIG reserve 0 (15,297) (15,297) Income guarantee for lost NDR in 20/21, to be spread over next 3 years.

Strategic & Central Invest to Save (444) (1,231) (1,675) Fund to get projects off the ground to generate future revenue savings.

Strategic & Central Business Rates Distribution (2,206) 568 (1,638) To carry forward 2018/19 Business Rates Pool surplus and funding allocated to projects.

Sub-total Earmarked Reserves (30,061) (202,522) (232,583)

Total non-ring fenced Reserves (61,581) (198,761) (260,342)

P
age 60



Directorate Description of Reserve

Balance at             

1st April 

2020

Transfers 

To & From 

Reserve

Balance at         

Outturn 

2020/21 Reason for Reserve

£k £k £k

Schools Extended Schools Balances (6,252) 1,054 (5,198) Surpluses on extended school activities carried forward

Schools Schools Balances (15,398) (17,838) (33,236) Schools balances net of VER, Children's Services and BSF PFI borrowing

Schools Dedicated Schools Grant 3,233 (1,231) 2,002 Carry forward of ring fenced DSG funding.

Schools SEND Fund (100) 58 (42) Funding received for work with children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities

Adults & Health NEW - Rapid Test Fund 0 (115) (115) Funding from Central Government to support COVID rapid testing of individuals

Adults & Health NEW- Community Discharge Grant 0 (855) (855) Funding from Central Government for transitions costs from Hospitals back to Community Settings

Adults & Health Public Health Grant 0 (1,191) (1,191) Public Health grant carried forward

Communities & Environment Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Surplus (246) (14) (260) Ring fenced reserve for taxi and private hire licensing service. 

Strategic Energy Efficiency Reserve - Salix (510) 11 (499) Energy efficiency reserve to fund invest to save energy efficiency initiatives. 

Strategic Revenue grants (26,852) 18,195 (8,657) Revenue grants carried forward as per IFRS requirements (see note 1 below)

Sub-total General Fund Ring-fenced Reserves (46,125) (1,926) (48,051)

Note 1: Revenue Grants

Adults & Health (270) 0 (270) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Children & Families (Partners in Education) (1,615) 566 (1,049) Revenue Grants Carried Forward - DfE Partners In Practise funding.

Children & Families (Other) (864) 291 (573) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

City Development (1,403) (1,573) (2,976) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Communities & Environment (51) 0 (51) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Resources & Housing (3,138) (414) (3,552) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Strategic Accounts (Brexit) (186) 0 (186) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Strategic Accounts (COVID-19 Grant Reserve) (19,325) 19,325 0 Revenue Grants Carried Forward - MHCLG COVID Support Grant

Sub-total Revenue Grants (26,852) 18,195 (8,657)

HRA RING FENCED RESERVES

HRA General Reserve (6,495) (292) (6,787)

Welfare Reform (807) 650 (157) To fund pressures arising form welfare reform.

Housing Advisory Panels (HAPs) Reserve (507) (40) (547)
To fund projects identified by Housing Advisory Panels which benefit the tenants and residents in the community they 

represent.

Sheltered Housing (2,777) 216 (2,561)
To fund investment in sheltered housing schemes which will contain shared bathing facilities and fund improved access for 

people with mobility issues.

Early Leavers' Initiative (408) 408 0 To fund the cost of approved severance payments

Wharfedale View  SF (23) (11) (34)
Contribution from shared owners towards future costs of replacing furniture and carpets at Wharfedale View Extra Care 

facility

Changing the Workplace (151) 0 (151) To fund the cost of ‘new ways of working’ for staff in Housing Leeds as office moves are completed.

eFiles Box It Project (257) 0 (257)
Principally to fund the scanning of Housing Management paper files to electronic files - to assist the Housing Service in the 

preparation for moving to Community Hubs.

Swarcliffe PFI (1,474) (1,396) (2,870) PFI Sinking Fund

LLBH&H PFI Sinking fund (6,025) 723 (5,302) PFI Sinking Fund

NEW - Revenue Repairs Reserve 0 (4,200) (4,200) Carry forward of in year underspend due to COVID

Major Repairs Reserve (9,384) (4,346) (13,730) Ring-fenced to fund capital expenditure or redeem debt.

Sub-total HRA Reserves (28,308) (8,288) (36,596)

Total Ring-fenced Reserves (74,433) (10,214) (84,647)

TOTAL RESERVES (136,014) (208,975) (344,989)

P
age 61



 APPENDIX 3

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.

The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021          

£000s

2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

Adults & Health All Schemes 2,776.7 2,570.0 (206.7) No material variances on the 23 schemes delivered within Adults and 

Health. 

2,776.7 2,570.0 (206.7)

P
age 62



 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.

The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021          

£000s

2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

Strategic & Central PFI Lifecycle costs 9,389.4 8,280.1 (1,109.3) Delays in undertaking lifecycle works significantly reduced by £1.1m the 

financial model figures that could be capitalised.

Transformational 

Change, General 

Capitalisations, 

Capitalisation of Interest

5,986.0 5,320.1 (665.9) The transformational change programme assumed a higher level of early 

leaver intitiative £0.35m. On general capitalisations funding of £0.2m was 

transferred / utilised for additional Schools Capitalisation. The capitalisation 

of interest on assets under construction is under by £0.1m due to slippage 

within the overall programme.

Revolving Infrastructure 

Fund (RIF)

1,040.9 0.0 (1,040.9) Delays in finalising loan agreements has resulted in slippage of new 

drawdowns against the RIF.

 

Other schemes 974.6 855.9 (118.7) No material variances on Future Ways of Working programme and within 

the Ward Based Initiative schemes within Strategic and Central.

17,390.9 14,456.1 (2,934.8)

P
age 63



 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.

The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021          

£000s

2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

City Development Highways 183,552.6 190,011.6 6,459.0 Highways accounts for 47% of the total general fund capital programme in 

2020/21 and 92% of the overall  2020/21 City Development programme. 

Highways has delivered and progressed schemes totalling £190m. Main 

variances occured on Connecting Leeds Public Transport Initiative, a DFT 

grant funded programme where the full year projection of £67.2m was not 

adjusted and remained as reported to DFT. The programme achieved 

£75.8m of spend which accounts for most of the Highways variance in 

2021/22. During the COVID pandemic low levels of traffic, general fair 

weather conditions and more resources supplied on the ground has allowed 

us to over deliver in excess of planned works on some of the directorates 

high priority schemes - particularly the City Centre Gateways £24m which 

are transforming the city centre including schemes on the Headrow, 

Infirmary St and Corn Exchange - Park & Ride schemes have delivered 

£21m with key achievements and progress being made at Stourton £19m 

and the completion of Elland Road P&R. Other notable programmes which 

have progressed and achieved more than the estimates are Street Lighting 

LED replacement programme £3.1m, Regent St Flyover £1m and the Flood 

Alleviation programme £1m. Some programmes and schemes resulted in 

being under the estimated provision £3m with the other major projects 

programmes being East Leeds Oribtal Road £1.6m, Corridor improvement 

programme £1m due to the late swap of 3 schemes transferred from LPTIP 

and £0.4m on the development of schemes from WYCA funded 

programmes. Other highways schemes within the 345+ schemes delivered 

in year have no material variances within this report. 

Asset Mgt 4,479.0 4,135.8 (343.2) The main variance to report in Asset Management was Redhall Demolition 

£0.3m due to the complexity around utility connection terminations which 

have delayed some of the demolition works. While no other material 

variances to report there have been some over and underspends within the 

remaining 31 schemes delivered. 

P
age 64



Culture and Sport 4,611.3 1,760.9 (2,850.4) The development of the Parklife schemes have been delayed as a direct 

result of COVID resulting in slippage of £1m at outturn. West Yorkshire 

Playhouse estimate didn't reflect the position at the time of the setting of the 

capital programme resulting in a £788k slippage, the scheme will be 

completed early in the new financial year. While no overall material 

variances within the Culture and Sport programme there have been some 

minor over and underspends on the 26 schemes delivered in 2019/20.

Economic Development 3,634.3 2,342.4 (1,291.9) Late decision to drawdown loans to Leeds Studios of £1m were paid out in 

March for the TV & Film Studio loan scheme over the estimated provision 

within the scheme. This was offset by City Centre Management public realm 

scheme delays of £1.3m and Markets schemes £0.7m with delayed 

implementation of the 1875 Roof and block shops and  the new hall units. 

While no overall material variances within the remaining schemes delivered 

within Economic development there have been some over and 

underspends on the 50+ schemes delivered in 2020/21.

Regeneration 2,831.6 1,246.5 (1,585.1) This variance is mainly due to Lower Kirkgate grant scheme provision 

remaining unchanged at the capital programme setting resulting in £1m of 

slippage. The Local Centre Programme has encountered delays in the 

development of the programme resulting in £0.5m slippage to 2021/22 

however we aspire to deliver this programme in the next 18 months. The 

remaining schemes in Regeneration are offset with over and unders 

resulting in no other material variances.

199,108.8 199,497.2 388.4

P
age 65



CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2020.

The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021          

£000s

2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

Children & Families Learning Places 46,883.3 43,819.9 (3,063.4) The main variances within the Learning Places Programme were down to 

some delays in designing up schemes, difficulty in sub contractors 

procuring materials and delays in agreeing final accounts which we 

assumed would be settled in year. There have also been some minor over 

and underspends on the 67 schemes delivered in 2020/21.

 

Schools Capital 

Maintenance and Health 

& Safety

21,534.1 19,156.4 (2,377.7) Benton Park HS redevelopment achieved 86% of the projected spend at 

the setting of the cpaital programme which has resulted in £2.1m of 

slippage to 2021/22. There have been some minor over and underspends 

on the 44 remaining schemes within the programme in 2020/21.

 

Other Children's Services 

Schemes

7,371.6 7,214.4 (157.2) Variances within the remaining 70 schemes within Children and Families 

have been offset by the over and underspends within the year which has 

resulted in no net material variance.

 

75,789.0 70,190.7 (5,598.3)

P
age 66



 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 GENERAL FUND OUTTURN VARIATIONS

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2020.

The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021          

£000s

2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

Resources & Housing 

General Fund

District Heating Network, 

Fuel poverty fund and 

Clean Air Zone

9,467.2 10,601.5 1,134.3 SECC was successful in a bid worth £25m to the Government's public 

sector decarbonisation programme after the capital programme was set and 

contributed to the £2.2m spend over estimates within the energy efficiency 

programme in 2020/21. This has been offset by net underspends of £1m 

mainly due to the Clean Air Zone grant being repurposed with discussions 

ongoing with Government on what similar energy efficiency and climate 

related schemes we can progress in 2021/22.

CPM - works to 

Corporate buildings, 

Backlog Maintenance 

Fire Risk assessment 

works and Demolitions

6,546.6 4,383.5 (2,163.1) A large part of the underspend £1.1m has taken place within backlog 

maintenance and this has now slipped to 2021/22. No other individual 

material variances have occured within the programme where there have 

been some minor over and underspends on the 140 schemes delivered in 

2020/21. 

Vehicle Replacement 

Programme

6,789.9 3,555.3 (3,234.6) The vehicle replacement programme is moving to a majority electric fleet 

and through lockdown we have taken the opportunity to slow the planned 

replacements £2m and extend the life of some vehicles. This allows us to 

look at service needs moving forward taking account of the fast changing 

specifications of electric vehicles together with the infrastructure needed 

across the city. The Electric trial scheme £1m was also stalled with private 

sector businesses slow to come forward, there were also difficulties 

encountered with loaning out vehicles during lockdown.

Digital Information 

Services and Finance

14,433.4 13,037.8 (1,395.6) Some budgets realigned within the essential services programme and while 

kit has been ordered it will now arrive in May in the new finacial year £0.7m. 

On the Full Fibre Network the external provider has encountered delays in 

connecting the planned sites scheduled with £0.3m slipped to future years. 

DIS are also reassessing equipment requirement needs in services with the 

large take up in ELIs across the council £0.2m. 

P
age 67



Housing Supported 

Loans, Adaptations 

programme, private 

sector renewal and 

Travellers Sites.

13,618.8 8,881.7 (4,737.1) The new supply affordable and supported housing loans scheme 

underspent as a result of delays in taking up loans available £2.1m. 

Holbeck Group Repair Ph2 which will deliver works to 150 properties 

encountered delays in signing up these properties and will now be delivered 

in 2021/22 utilising getting building funding £2.65m and private sector 

contributions. Adaptations resulted in being £0.6m under estimates as a 

direct result of the pandemic with difficulties in delivering works in peoples 

homes. No other individual material variances within the remaining R&H 

programme.

50,855.9 40,459.8 (10,396.1)

P
age 68



 

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021 2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

Communities & 

Environment

Parks Main Programme 6,697.6 1,841.2 (4,856.4) The replacement of Parks Equipment and Machinery £0.8m while ordered 

will now be delivered early in the new financial year. A number of COVID 

related pressures resulted in reduced capacity and therefore scheme delays 

leading to slippage into 21/22 financial year.     

Cemetries & Crematoria 1,010.3 59.6 (950.7) Options to identify localised expansion of cemetery provision continue to be 

explored. Schemes under development were delayed in 20/21 due to 

technical and capacity related reasons that were exacerbated by COVID 

and as consequence this has lead to slippage into 21/22 financial year.  

Community Hubs and 

Customer Access 

systems

1,569.4 1,521.9 (47.5) While no overall material variances within the programme there have been 

some over and underspends on the 18 schemes delivered in 2020/21.

Waste Operational 1,617.2 1,200.5 (416.7) The main underspend within Waste relates to the scheme for the build of a 

new citywide Environmental Services depot/offices. This was delayed due 

to finalising the site requirements and contractual details, together with 

some groundwork issues. In addition, provision remains in the garden waste 

wheelie bins scheme for future new builds/developments that have been 

factored into the route review.

Other E&H General Fund 1,073.9 974.3 (99.6) No other material variances on remaining 143 schemes within Communities 

and Environment.

11,968.4 5,597.5 (6,370.9)

 

Total General Fund Variances 357,889.7 332,771.3 (25,118.4)

P
age 69



 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2020/21 HRA, HOUSING LEEDS & BITMO OUTTURN VARIATIONS

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2021 and the final outturn 2020/21 as at 14th May 2021.

The variations are based on those programmes/schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Programme/ Scheme Feb 2021          

£000s

2020/21 

Actual £000s

Variation Under 

(-)/ Over £000s

Reason for variation

Resources and Housing 

HRA

Council Housing Growth 

Programme

15,904.1 16,225.5 321.4 No material variances on the schemes being delivered within the 

programme and overall managed well within the overall budget available.

Housing Leeds & Other 

HRA

60,959.4 54,154.1 (6,805.3) Housing Leeds outturn is £6.8m below projections mainly due to 

estimations remaining unchanged at the setting of the capital programme in 

February. Some of the schemes encountered delays and didn't deliver as 

much as expected and these have been slipped to 2021/22. Movements in 

year between budgets have generally been contained within budget 

provision and while there have been overs and unders on some budget 

headings during the year HL have managed the 2020/21 programme within 

the existing overall funding available under extenuating circumstances 

throughout the year.

BITMO 1,785.2 961.7 (823.5) Some of the main schemes delivery have been affected by delays down to 

COVID and have slipped into 2021/22. While no overall material variances 

within the programme there have been some over and underspends on the 

34 schemes delivered in 2020/21.

Total HRA Variances 78,648.7 71,341.3 (7,307.4)

436,538.4 404,112.6 (32,425.8)Total Capital Program Variances

P
age 70



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
Equality 
Impact 

Assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2020/21 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Decommission two 
Care Homes – 
Richmond House and 
Homelea 

Decommission the 
service due to the 
need for residential 
homes decreasing 
within Leeds and 
where this resource 
is required to meet 
people’s needs, 
there is a well-
developed 
independent sector 
market 

There is a risk 
whenever a 
home is 
closed to a 
client’s 
immediate 
well-being 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

June 2021 £1,531k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Review of Client 
Contributions whilst 
maintaining means-
testing 

A review of the 
Maximum 
Assessed 
Charge, charging 
for the cost of 
care 

Though 
charging is still 
to be means-
tested there is 
a risk that 
clients do not 
take up 
services 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

June 2021 £33,523k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Reduction in Services - 
Working Age Adults 

Reducing grants, 
contracts 

There is a risk 
that services 
provided will 
be reduced 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2021 £14,235k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Reduction in Services - 
Older People 

Reducing grants, 
contracts 

There is a risk 
that services 
provided will 
be reduced 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be 
undertaken at 
the same time 
as the decision 

March 2021 £5,114k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 71



Proposal 
Options considered 
and justification for 

proposal 
Risks Consultation 

undertaken 
Summary of 

equality impact 
assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Ceasing childcare delivery 
from a Council run 
childcare site, which has 
been closed since the 
start of the first Covid 
lockdown. 

The provision has 
struggled to be financially 
sustainable for the last six 
years as other providers 
gained a market share.  
It is proposed to cease the 
delivery of childcare from 
this site and relocate the 
Children Centre Family 
Services from another site 
to this building, enhancing 
the quality of family 
services on offer to the 
community. 
There is sufficient child 
care provision to ensure 
that local alternatives will 
be available for every 
affected child.  

Changes may be 
required to the 
proposal 
depending on 
feedback received 
during 
consultation. 

Yes Because family services 
are expanding and 
sufficient alternative 
childcare is available 
nearby, this process will 
support improved 
community involvement 
and no particular group 
should be disadvantaged. 

By April 2021 £162k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Proposal to achieve 
savings through closer 
integration of Early Help 
and Social Work teams. 
Staffing implications will 
be identified through the 
course of the review. 

The review will consider 
increased integration and 
multi-disciplinary 
approaches that will result 
in improved experiences 
and outcomes for children 
and families. 

The proposals are 
focused on 
identifying 
efficiencies that 
result in 
maintaining or 
improving 
outcomes. 

To be 
undertaken prior 
to the decision, 
if required. 

An initial assessment has 
been completed, however 
this will be updated as 
work progresses to 
identify the changes 
required to achieve the 
savings set out. 

By April 2021 £750k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Commissioning savings Ongoing work with 
providers to negotiate 
efficiencies in existing 
contracts. 

Delivery of some 
commissioned 
services may 
change. 

To be 
undertaken for 
individual 
contracts prior 

To be undertaken for 
individual contracts prior 
to the decision, if 
required. 

On 
agreement of 
any 
individual 

£500k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 72



Proposal 
Options considered 
and justification for 

proposal 
Risks Consultation 

undertaken 
Summary of 

equality impact 
assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

to the decision, 
if required. 

changes 
required 

Additional Home Office 
funding from an increased 
number of 
Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children (UASC) 
being supported in the 
city.  

The net additional funding 
is assumed from an 
increased number of 
Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children (UASC) 
being supported in the 
city. This net additional 
funding arises due to 
economies of scale as the 
Council moves towards 
the Home Office target of 
the UASC population 
being 0.07% of the child 
population of the city. 

The additional 
numbers will need 
to be achieved. 
Additional 
capacity will need 
to be available to 
support increased 
numbers. 

A decision may 
be required, 
depending on 
the need for 
additional 
capacity. If this 
is the case, 
consultation will 
be undertaken 
as appropriate 
prior to the 
decision. 

To be undertaken prior to 
the decision, if a decision 
is required. 

On 
identification 
of any 
changes 
requiring a 
separate 
decision 

£1,000k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Savings on school and 
further education 
premature retirement 
costs 

The proposed savings are 
expected to be achieved 
from ongoing trends, 
however the criteria for 
payment will also be 
reviewed to ensure this 
remains fit for purpose 
and in line with 
regulations. 

There are some 
statutory 
requirements 
relating to the 
costs that fall to 
the Council. 

To be 
undertaken prior 
to the decision, 
if required. 

To be undertaken prior to 
the decision, if required. 

By April 2021 £450k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Revised contribution to 
One Adoption West 
Yorkshire (OAWY), 
reflecting actual activity 
levels 

Contributions to the 
OAWY partnership have 
been reviewed based on 
activity levels across the 
member authorities. This 
proposal reflects a 
reduction in the Council’s 

The decision on 
changes to 
contributions will 
be made by the 
OAWY 
Management 
Board. 

Consultation 
with partner LAs 
will take place 
through the 
OAWY 
Management 
Board. 

The proposed 
contributions fairly reflect 
the actual activity levels 
across partner LAs. 

By April 2021 £990k OAWY 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 73



Proposal 
Options considered 
and justification for 

proposal 
Risks Consultation 

undertaken 
Summary of 

equality impact 
assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

contribution to ensure this 
is proportionate compared 
to other authorities. 

Increase in rates for the 
secure residential unit 

Rates are reviewed 
annually to set reasonable 
price increases. 

An increase in 
rates could affect 
demand, however 
this has been 
taken into 
consideration as 
part of the 
proposal. 

To be 
undertaken prior 
to the decision, 
if required. 

To be undertaken prior to 
the decision, if required. 

By 
September 
2021 

£250k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Savings from ending the 
contribution to two West 
Yorkshire Police posts 

The need for an ongoing 
contribution from the 
Council towards these 
posts has been reviewed. 

These posts are 
not part of the 
Council’s core 
early help offer 
and therefore 
there will be 
minimum 
disruption to staff 
and services. 
There will be no 
impact on direct 
service delivery. 

To be 
undertaken prior 
to the decision, 
if required. 

To be undertaken prior to 
the decision, if required. 

By April 2021 £106k Director of 
Children and 
Families 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 74



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Economic Development 
- Staffing reduction and
reduction in
memberships and
events attendance

Budget review of 
activities 
undertaken 

Reduced 
economic 
outcomes for 
Leeds – 
mitigated by 
overall 
economic 
position  

Non – considered 
as a BAU 
proposal with no 
staffing 
implications not 
delivered through 
voluntary means 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£110k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Strategic Planning - 
develop further options 
following completion of 
service review 

Options for 
efficiencies were 
supported by 
independent 
review 

Some 
technologic 
risks 
associated 
with 
deliverables 

Yes, as part of 
the service review 
and through 
further internal 
staff consultation 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Planning 
Officer 

Highways & 
Transportation - review 
staffing operations 
across the service for 
savings and/or 
additional income 

Budget review of 
activities 
undertaken 

Reduced 
capacity to 
deliver – 
mitigated by 
effective 
deployment of 
resources 

Internal Staff 
Consultation 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£1,620k Director of City 
Development 

Planning Applications - 
savings through 
voluntary staffing 
reductions and 
procedural efficiencies 

Options for 
efficiencies were 
supported by 
independent 
review 

Some 
technologic 
risks 
associated 

Internal Staff 
Consultation  

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Planning 
Officer 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 75



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

with 
deliverables 

Proposal to reduce 
opening hours at 
Lotherton Hall 

Operating costs of 
facility and 
collection make-
up alongside 
visitor attendance 

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£67k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to reduce 
opening Hours at 
Thwaite Mills Museums 

Operating costs of 
facility and 
collection make- 
up alongside 
visitor attendance 

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£70k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to consult on 
introduction of an 
annual charge for 
Breeze card 

Area of 
discretionary 
Spend.  

Differential 
impact on 
most 
vulnerable – 
mitigated by 
use of 
concessions 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users  

There are 
equality 
implications as 
the card is used 
by younger 
people. Some 
safeguarding of 
detrimental 
impact could be 
provided by the 
use of 
concessionary 
pricing 

February 
2021 

£150k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 76



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Proposed reduced 
programme and new 
delivery model for 
Leeds Lights 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend  

N/A Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and public/service 
users and local 
organisations/co
mmissioners of 
lighting displays 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£208k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Proposal to end SLA 
with Chippendale Pool 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance 

Reduced 
community 
and primary 
school usage 
of facility 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and school 
and local 
Members 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£37k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Proposal to close 
Leeds Sailing and 
Activity Centre 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance. 
Discrete activity. 

Loss of 
discrete 
functionality 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and 
‘Friends of’ Group 

As a single 
source of 
activity within 
Leeds, removal 
of the facility 
would impact 
upon certain 
groups. 
Mitigation could 

February 
2021 

£88k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 77



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

identification of 
alternative 
provision 
outside the city. 

Proposal for operational 
efficiencies within John 
Charles Centre for 
Sport 

Operating costs of 
facility and usage 
and attendance. 
Discrete activity in 
relation to Tennis 
Centre  

Loss of 
discrete 
functionality 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and LTA 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£200k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Cessation of annual 
Christmas Lights switch 
on and international 
football screenings in 
Millennium Square 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend 

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£88k Chief Officer 
Economic 
Development 

Cessation funding 
contributions to several 
sporting partnerships 

Area of 
discretionary 
spend 

Numerous 
Stakeholders 
including staff 
and 
public/service/ 
users and 
individual sporting 
associations 
impacted   

No significant 
equality 
implications 

February 
2021 

£100k Chief Officer 
Operations 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 78



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Environmental Services 
managerial and 
supervisory restructure 
and realignment of 
functions  

To review current 
management 
structure to 
deliver staffing 
efficiencies 

Final structure  
doesn’t deliver 
sufficient 
savings 

To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.68m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Contribution to delivery 
costs and 
administration of 
replacement bins for 
residents and new bins 
for housing developers  

Currently no 
admin/delivery 
costs included in 
charges. 
Residents will still 
receive an 
element of 
subsidy.  

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.11m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Increase in charges 
made for bulky 
collections from £20 to 
£30 to contribute to 
administration, 
collection and disposal 

To reduce amount 
of subsidy 
provided by the 
Council for this 
service  

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.07m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Partial closure of Otley 
(Ellar Ghyll) Household 

Ellar Ghyll has the 
lowest tonnages 
of waste/recycled 
material p.a. of 

None identified A public 
consultation 
exercise began 
on 4th January 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 

March 2021 £0.075m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Environmental 
Services 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 79



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Waste and Recycling 
Centre 

the 8 Leeds sites 
and has the least 
use by Leeds 
residents 

and ended on 
25th January. 

decision 
process 

5% increase in 
bereavement charges 

Proposed price 
increase reflects 
savings 
requirement of the 
Council and will 
ensure there 
continues to be 
no subsidy for this 
service 

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process  

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.37m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Reduced contribution to 
Groundwork by 10% 

Reduction reflects 
savings 
requirement of the 
Council 

Possible 
implications for 
service 
delivery for 
Groundwork 

To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process  

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.008m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Closure of Leeds 
Country Park visitor 
centre  

Reflects savings 
requirement of the 
Council. There is 
a potential 
opportunity for 
interested parties 
to take over the 
building  

None identified A public 
consultation was 
undertaken 
between 16th 
November and 
14th December (4 
weeks) 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.09m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 80



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Additional income from 
Bowling Greens to be 
generated through 
increasing the annual 
price of a season ticket 
from £31 to £40  

Reflects savings 
requirement of the 
Council. 
Alternatives 
include closures 
and community 
asset transfers 

Possible 
impact on 
demand 

Consultation 
period 
commenced on 
16th November 
2020 and closed 
on Monday 14th 
December 2020. 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.012m 
additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

50% reduction in floral 
decorations in the city 
centre and seasonal 
bedding displays  

Reflects savings 
requirement of the 
Council. There 
may be scope to 
convert some 
seasonal bedding 
areas to more 
sustainable 
planting to 
provide colour 
and landscape 
interest through 
the use of 
naturalistic 
‘wildflower’ type 
displays. 

Potential 
impact on the 
visual appeal 
of the city  

Consultation due 
to close 1st Feb 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.15m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Parks and 
Countryside 

Reduced contribution 
(10%) to Third Sector 

Reduction reflects 
savings 

Infrastructure 
organisation’s 
capacity to 

Consultation with 
infrastructure 
organisation 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 

March 2021 £0.036m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Communities 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 81



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Infrastructure Fund 
budget 

requirement of the 
Council 

provide service 
support to the 
wider third 
sector 

complete and 
delivery plan for 
2021/22 agreed. 
Enhanced 
delivery 
objectives in 
respect of the 
third sector hub 
mutual support 
architecture 
agreed 

decision 
process 

Closure of 3 community 
centres: Lewisham 
Community Centre, 
Allerton Bywater Youth 
Centre and Windmill 
Youth Centre. To also 
deliver additional 
efficiencies across all 
community centres.  

Continuing review 
of arrangements 
to reduce the net 
cost of community 
centres 

None identified Consultation due 
to close 1st Feb. 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.2m reduced 
costs 

Chief Officer – 
Communities 

Savings in Safer Leeds 
through restructuring 
and increasing grant 
income 

It is anticipated 
the current 
service areas will 
be maintained but 
due to the 

None identified To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.171m 
reduced 

costs/additional 
income 

Chief Officer – 
Safer Leeds 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 82



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

likelihood of 
staffing reduction 
measures will be 
introduced to 
mitigate any 
service delivery 
issues 

Reduced contribution 
(25%) to Leeds City 
Credit Union 

Reduction reflects 
savings 
requirement of the 
Council 

Possible 
impact on 
service 
delivery of 
Credit Union 

To be undertaken 
as a part of the 
decision process 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.063m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Customer 
Access & 
Welfare 

Review of opening 
hours and staffing rotas 
within Community Hub / 
Library provision across 
the city 

The proposal will 
provide an overall 
net increase in 
total hours open 
in community 
hubs and libraries 
while achieving a 
significant budget 
saving 

None identified Consultation due 
to close 2nd 
February. 

To be 
undertaken as a 
part of the 
decision 
process 

March 2021 £0.457m 
reduced costs 

Chief Officer – 
Customer 
Access & 
Welfare 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 83



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification for 

proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality 
Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Housing Services – it is 
proposed to introduce a 
charge for Retirement 
Life schemes for the 
provision of additional 
services linked to 
communal areas and 
for communal facilities 
where they are within a 
standalone community 
centre 

As the Housing 
Revenue Account 
is ring-fenced, this 
service is being 
subsidised by 
those tenants not 
in receipt of the 
service 

Consultation 
outcome may 
impact on 
income 
generated 

Currently being 
undertaken. 

Details are in 
the narrative of 
the HRA budget 
report along with 
the impact of all 
rental and 
service charge 
increases upon 
tenants. These 
will be eligible 
for Housing 
Benefit or 
Universal Credit 
where 
appropriate 

April 2021 £0.4m additional 
income 

Chief Officer –
Housing 
Services 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 84



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification 
for proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Shared Services – 
Business 
Administration Service. 
Proposal for restructure 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the 
decision report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

April 21 £2,250k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Strategy and 
Improvement – 
Communications & Risk 
Business.  
Proposal for temporary 
changes to the 
structure 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

Being undertaken 
with Staff and 
TU’s  

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

Feb/Mar 21 £170k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Strategy and 
Improvement – 
Intelligence and Policy. 
Restructure proposals 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

Being undertaken 
with Staff and 
TU’s  

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

Feb/Mar 21 £173k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

DIS – Proposals for 
restructure 

Different options 
considered but 
includes a 
realignment of 
the staffing 
resources within 
the service to 

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed and 
the reductions 
impact upon the 

To be undertaken 
prior to the 
decision report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

April 21 £2,843k (inc 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 85



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification 
for proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

provide a 
greater focus 
upon the 
Council’s 
priorities. 

ability of DIS to 
support Council 
wide savings 
proposals 

LBS – Back office 
restructure proposals 

To improve the 
efficiency of 
back office 
processes to 
prioritise funding 
for front line 
services  

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the 
decision report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to the decision 
report. 

April 21 Circa 
£1,000k (incl 
ELI leavers) 

Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Catering – 
Implementation of an 
ICT System 

Business case 
completed for 
proposal seeks 
to modernise 
the service and 
help mitigate 
some service 
risks in service 
delivery. 

Delays to 
implementation 
impact on the 
savings 
assumed. 

Some 
consultation 
undertaken with 
schools and any 
further 
consultation 
required will be 
undertaken prior 
to the decision 
report. 

To be undertaken 
prior to any 
decision report. 

April 21 £64k (net 
revenue 
effect) 

Chief Financial 
Officer & 
Director of 
Resources & 
Housing 

Adults and Health 
Decision – Impacting 
upon CEL front line 
services 

Decommission two 

Decommission 
the service due 
to the need for 
residential 
homes 
decreasing 

There is a risk 
whenever a 
home is closed 
to a client’s 
immediate well-
being 

Consultation in 
progress 

To be undertaken 
at the same time as 
the decision 

June 2021 £200k Director of 
Adults and 
Health 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 86



Proposal 

Options 
considered 

and 
justification 
for proposal 

Risks Consultation 
undertaken 

Summary of 
equality Impact 

assessment 

Expected 
decision 

date 

2021/22 
Budget 
Amount 

£ 

Decision 
Maker 

Care Homes – 
Richmond House and 
Homelea 

within Leeds and 
where this 
resource is 
required to meet 
people’s needs, 
there is a well-
developed 
independent 
sector market 

Appendix 2: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 19 July 2021

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

• This report presents a scrutiny statement following four evidence sessions and a summary 

of evidence report all looking at future working arrangements, agile working and estate 

realisation at Leeds City Council. The statement is included in this report at Appendix 1. 

 

• The statement sets out key findings to date and seeks the views of board members ahead 

of full approval at the next formal meeting of the Board. Following this it is intended that the 

issue will feature later in the municipal year through further evidence sessions and a draft 

Inquiry report to be agreed in the New Year. 

 

• Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has focused on the new working arrangements that 

have emerged and been accelerated as a result of Covid-19. This has led to proposals to 

develop a more flexible approach to workforce arrangements based on a balance between 

home and office working and has accelerated the need for enhanced ICT systems to 

support that. In addition the Council has begun to develop proposals for estate realisation in 

response to the likely reduced use of council buildings and to meet the ongoing financial 

challenge brought about by past Government budget reductions and the Covid-19 

pandemic. 

 

• Ensuring that the Council agrees appropriate principles to guide future working 

arrangements and that any additional costs and income associated through the new 

arrangements are fully considered promotes the Best Council Ambition to be an efficient, 

enterprising and healthy organisation. The focus on delivering the future working 

arrangements whilst maintaining service delivery and service standards as suggested by 

the board contributes to the clear focus on delivering high quality, locally integrated public 

services set out in the Best Council Plan. 

Recommendations 

Board members are asked to consider and discuss the scrutiny statement and commit to 

returning to this issue as the municipal year progresses with a view to agreeing the 

statement at the next formal meeting of the Board, consider future evidence sessions and 

finalise an inquiry report in the New Year. 

Interim Scrutiny Statement – Future Working Arrangements at Leeds City Council 

Date: 19 July 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐Yes  ☒No 

Report author: Rob Clayton 

Tel: 0113 3788790 

Page 89

Agenda Item 4



 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources first considered future working arrangements at its 

meeting in November 2020. Since that time there have been two further evidence 

gathering sessions in January and February followed by a summary of evidence item in 

March and a further evidence gathering session at the Boards last meeting in June. 

2 How the Council delivers new working arrangements is an evolving agenda and it is likely 

to remain a focus of the Board throughout municipal year 2021/22 as the Council begins to 

firm up its proposals as they become operational. However, given the number of reports 

already considered by the Board it is now appropriate to agree some interim findings to 

ensure that scrutiny can influence the evolving agenda and provide pre-decision scrutiny 

that adds value to policy development and decision making in this area.  

3 Appendix 1 provides more detail but the main focus of this report is on the evidence 

provided from HR in relation to staff flexibility, effective service delivery, the principles that 

will underpin the future working arrangements, staff wellbeing and mental health, staff 

surveys and the costs associated with the provision of equipment to work at home. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

4 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has set out its initial views on the development of 

future working arrangements at the Council and these are details ed at Appendix 1. A key 

aim of the scrutiny function in Leeds is to add value and enhance policy and decision 

making at the Council. By providing early feedback from the Board the aim is to summarise 

the views of scrutiny as this important, strategic agenda develops. 

5 Ensuring that future working arrangements and the move to more home working blended 

with time spent in the office is delivered effectively will contribute to the city’s recovery form 

the Covid-19 pandemic. It is also clearly important that staff can benefit from an enhanced 

work life balance but maintaining service delivery and performance standards is also of 

equal importance and the comments and feedback from the Board contained at Appendix 

1 reflect that and highlight areas where the Board feel more could be done.  

6 The Board will continue to monitor progress on this agenda throughout the municipal year 

with plans to consider further evidence as the programme evolves in the coming months. 

7 In line with the Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules, Scrutiny Boards will also continue to 

ensure that equality and diversity/cohesion and integration issues are considered in 

decision making and policy formulation.  

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

8 This item has featured at Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources consistently over the 

past 9 months. Board members have been consulted and the details contained at 

Appendix 1 reflects comments and feedback based on that. 

Wards Affected: Please state the specific wards affected here. If city-wide, state “All” for clarity. 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 90



9 In terms of an area of scrutiny focus in 2021/22 the Director of Resources has been 

consulted on the intention of the Board to feature further reports on this issue throughout 

the municipal year. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

10 There are no specific resource implications linked to this report. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

11. There are no specific legal implications linked to this report. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

12. There are no specific risk management implications linked to this report. 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s 3 Key Pillars? 

☒Inclusive Growth  ☒Health and Wellbeing  ☒Climate Emergency 

13. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and outward 

looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best Council Plan. 

 

14. Ensuring effective delivery of the future working arrangements proposals will contribute to 

the Councils three key pillars agenda as staff will be operating effectively and will be 

deployed appropriately to ensure that the Council can continue to work towards delivering 

inclusive growth, supporting health and well-being and tackling the climate emergency. 

 

 

Appendices 

1 Appendix 1 – This sets out the scrutiny statement for members approval. 

 

Background papers 

2 None 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leeds City Council Future Working Arrangements, 

Agile Working and Estate Realisation 

Scrutiny Statement 

Page 93



 

2 
 

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources – Statement on future working 

arrangements at Leeds City Council 

 
1. Aims of the Inquiry 

Best Council Ambition: An Efficient, Enterprising and 

Healthy Organisation – Maintaining a clear focus on 

delivering high quality services to Leeds residents 

   

➢ To ensure that future working arrangements at Leeds City Council are fit for 

purpose, balancing service and customer needs, staff working preferences 

and available corporate resources. 

 

➢ Quantify benefits from the move to a more flexible working model to capture 

the expected improvements to be brought to the council’s carbon footprint by 

adopting more home working, financial savings from using a reduced estate, 

benefits to staff well being and work life balance.    

 

➢ Examine support for staff welfare during the Covid-19 pandemic and ensure 

that staff surveys and staff feedback form a key part of the journey towards 

new working arrangements. 

 

➢ Develop recommendations to support decision makers particularly around 

establishing key principles for future working arrangements. 

 

➢ Ensure that estate realisation and financial considerations around costs 

associated with more home working are factored in and balanced against 

each other particularly in respect of the ongoing financial challenge facing the 

authority. 

 

 

 

2. Purpose of this Statement 
 

2.1 This inquiry has now featured at five meetings of Scrutiny Board Strategy and 

Resources including four evidence sessions and one summary of evidence 

report. The inquiry now bridges two municipal years having started in 

November 2020 and is now likely to continue well into the 2021/22 municipal 

year.  

 

2.2 In order to ensure that the views of scrutiny are captured and are provided as 

feedback to decision makers, producing an interim statement that captures the 

Page 94



 

3 
 

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources – Statement on future working 

arrangements at Leeds City Council 

 
views of scrutiny is both appropriate and timely as this agenda continues to 

develop in line with the Government roadmap. 

 

2.3 One of the best ways that the scrutiny function can add value to policy and 

decision making is through pre-decision scrutiny on key strategic issues as they 

develop. This enables more views to be taken on board and creates an 

environment in which better decisions are taken. Given the evolving nature of 

this agenda it is important that scrutiny can provide feedback to decision 

makers as the Government moves towards easing its Covid-19 restrictions 

which will potentially pave the way for more staff to access Council offices and 

buildings more regularly. 

 

2.4 A key focus of the Board as it has considered the development of future 

working arrangements has been on staff and the balance between staff 

preferences and the commitment to deliver high quality services to Leeds 

residents. As a result the focus of this statement is largely on the HR and staff 

elements of this work but the Board recognises the need to return to this 

agenda during municipal year 2021/22 particularly to consider issues related to 

financial considerations, the Council’s estate and the ICT support and systems 

that will be needed to ensure effective home and hybrid working. 

 

3. Comments and Observations from 

the Board 

 

3.1 The Board has been focussed on how staff are impacted by the proposals to 

move to more home working. It is clear from staff surveys that approximately 

30% of those that responded to the most recent survey were currently unhappy 

with spending more time in the workplace. This is for a variety of reasons but 

mainly to do with being happy with their working arrangements at home and 

being reluctant to return more frequently to work given the ongoing risks posed 

by the Covid-19 pandemic. Members have therefore emphasised the need for a 

flexible approach and for this 30% cohort to be catered for as part of future 

workforce planning. Potential difficulties highlighted by Board members include 

balancing teams where only one person wants to be in the office more regularly 

and the potential impact on service delivery when staff are not able to 

collaborate as they did pre-pandemic. The Board would like these issues to 

form part of the new arrangements as they are developed and implemented. 

 

3.2 Members have been mindful of the need to emphasise service delivery as the 

new working arrangements emerge and that the services delivered to Leeds 

residents should not be impacted by new working arrangements and preferably 

that they would be enhanced. To underpin this members believe that service 

delivery should be a key factor in all decision making around how new working 

arrangements are delivered. 

Page 95



 

4 
 

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources – Statement on future working 

arrangements at Leeds City Council 

 
 

3.3 The recent staff survey carried out in April 2021 has revealed that four out of 

five staff (79%) are happy with their current working arrangements which is 

broadly in line with the pulse surveys carried out in 2020. This suggest that 

many staff can work from home and are not negatively affected by that. 

Members are keen for staff consultation to continue and to ensure that as new 

working arrangements develop staff surveys form part of the process to ensure 

that staff remain content in their roles, supported by management and are able 

to carry out their roles effectively. 

 

3.4 The Board is keen to ensure that staff mentoring and management support is 

factored into the new arrangements. Working remotely can have varying 

impacts on staff but for those with less experience it can be more challenging, 

with the potential for losing or having reduced mentor and wider colleague and 

team support. As working trends move towards more home working the Board 

clearly believes that it is important that additional support can be provided to 

these staff to ensure that mentoring roles are not lost and that staff 

development and progression is not adversely impacted by a more remote 

working environment. 

 

3.5 As this agenda develops and some staff opt for more office working, whilst 

others spend more time at home there is a concern that a ‘two-track’ workforce 

might develop. This could mean that one cohort of staff is able to progress 

more rapidly, access more management support and feel more involved in 

team working and wider team and service goals, as compared to the other 

cohort. Members were keen for this to be addressed and for measures to be 

put in place to ensure that staff do not become isolated at home and are able to 

fully participate in team activity and feel supported whilst doing their work and 

can access career progression in the same way. 

 

3.6 The pandemic has highlighted the need for the Council to be active in ensuring 

staff well-being and to deal with any mental health issues that arise out of new 

working arrangements. Board members recognise the clear potential for 

enhanced work life balance to benefit staff well-being and broader mental 

health. A lot of positive work has been done in this area including regular 

management check ins and a major focus on ensuring well-being is maintained 

in the challenging and unique circumstances brought about by the pandemic. 

As society potentially moves to a recovery phase following the pandemic Board 

members believe that one of the lasting legacies of the pandemic should be 

greater regard for mental health challenges and maintenance of staff well-

being. Members believe that decision makers should consider making concrete 

commitments on future mental health support with the management ‘check ins’ 

and general wider awareness of this agenda being developed and to become a 

permanent feature in the appraisal and staff one to one process. 

 

Page 96



 

5 
 

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources – Statement on future working 

arrangements at Leeds City Council 

 
3.7 Effective service delivery needs to be supported by the right equipment and 

technology to continue to deliver services and meet performance targets. The 

Board recognised the potential for savings from estate realisation and reduced 

use of council buildings by staff but were keen to ensure that this was balanced 

with any additional costs linked to the provision of more equipment as staff 

realise that working at home will be a permanent feature of the Council’s 

working arrangements. This may lead staff to request better, or more, 

equipment to ensure their workplace is both suitable and meets any additional 

health and safety requirements. Similarly, the need for reasonable adjustments 

to be met will apply to both the home workplace and the office workplace, which 

again may introduce costs. Members believed that a cost analysis of this may 

be useful to better define possible savings from estate realisation as clearly the 

provision of additional equipment for remote working is linked to the sale of 

assets to meet the financial challenge faced by the Council. 

 

4. Conclusions and Next Steps 
 

4.1 The above summary of comments and suggestions from the Board is designed 

to capture the views of Scrutiny and to form initial feedback to decision makers 

as this agenda develops and new working arrangements begin to be 

implemented. Future work on this will focus on estate realisation, office 

remodelling, hybrid meeting spaces and the costs associated with that and the 

provision of additional equipment to staff working remotely. 

 

4.2 A future evidence session is planned for later in the municipal year to be 

followed by a commitment to finalise the inquiry in the New Year. It is hoped 

that, restrictions permitting, future work will align with deployment of the new 

working arrangements. 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

• This report expands on the overall vision and plans reported at Scrutiny Board – Resources on 

21/6/21.  Further detail is provided covering: 

o Prioritisation 

o Resource and capacity management including balancing of resource to Council/CCG work 

o Workforce Planning 

• The vision and future direction for Digital is a key enabler in the ambition for the city and the 

Council 

 

 

 

Recommendations 

a) Scrutiny Board to note the existing actions underway around prioritisation of projects 

b) To note the increasing resource capacity required to support compliance regimes and to 

proactively protect our systems against potential security vulnerabilities.   

c) To review the challenges in relation to our ability to recruit and retain suitable skilled technical 

specialists and provide input to the suggested actions 

d) To note the service workforce plan themes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Integrated Digital Services - Vision and plans Scrutiny session 2. 

Date: 19th July 2021 

Report of: Leonardo Tantari – Chief Digital Information Officer 

Report to: Scrutiny Board – Resources 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☒ Yes  ☐ No 

Report author: Bev Fisher 

Tel: 0113 3784447 

Page 99

Agenda Item 5



 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
1 The Integrated Digital Service underpins the delivery of services by the Council, CCG, GP 

practices and other partners to the citizens, businesses, and visitors to Leeds.  

2 This report expands on the overall vision and plans reported at Scrutiny Board – Resources 

on 21/6/21.  Further detail is provided covering: 

• Prioritisation 

• Resource and capacity management  

• Workforce Planning 

3 The vision and future direction for Digital is a key enabler in the ambition for the city and 

Scrutiny board are requested to review and provide input to the issues and suggested 

actions. 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 
 

 

4 Prioritisation of projects 

There is significantly more demand for change than the current capacity of IDS or the 

business can effectively manage.  In agreement with CLT, IDS have established a set of 

criteria which categorises project requests into 4 priorities and this is being used in 

identifying where best to target limited resources.  

The overall prioritisation criteria used is: 

 

 

Confidential Appendix A provides details of the current portfolio of projects and the 

associated prioritisation scoring.   These are grouped by priority score. Appendix A will be 

shared with Board members in advance of the meeting as a confidential supplementary item. 

 

Priority 1 Priority 2 

Strategic Importance: As 1 on Strategic Importance but flexibility on Urgency: 

Clear & Significant Savings Delivery timeframe has scope for further slippage of up to 12 months

Critical Service Failure

Cross-cutting / Corporate Solution

Legislative / Compliance 

Unforeseen Event e.g. COVID-19

Urgency:

Immoveable deadline or delivery within next 6-9 months

Priority 3 Priority 4

As 1 on Urgency but flexibility on Strategic Importance: As Priority 1 but flexibility on both Strategic Importance and Urgency

Low Savings (savings less than cost to deliver)

Critical Service Failure - alternative options available

Cross-cutting / Corporate Solution

Mitigate or accept Legislative / Compliance driver 

Not an Unforeseen Event 

Prioritisation Criteria 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Im

p
o

rt
an

ce
 

Urgency

Wards affected:  All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 100



Discussions have recently taken place with Corporate Leadership Teams within the Council 

regarding the capacity challenges and project priorities with several actions agreed: 

• Chief Digital Information Officer to meet each directorate leadership team to review 
the priorities of their business projects followed by collective further review at CLT 

• 5 year plan to be developed for the rationalisation of applications along with 
associated investment identified, which would reduce the overall resource overhead 
currently involved in supporting and upgrading applications.  This will require 
business changes to adapt processes to work with different solutions. 

• Capacity to be redirected to project work which will require retraining and changes in 
the skills mix of the service.  
 

5 Compliance project priority 

The security compliance agenda increasingly requires significant resource capacity to 

proactively and continuously managing our security defences against cyber-attack and to 

ensure we meet the security standards required for external certification regimes such as 

PSN (Public Sector Networks) and PCI (Payment Card Industry).   

There have been several high-profile attacks against other organisations including Local 

Authorities over recent months and attacks are increasingly prevalent.  The impact of a 

successful attack is extremely disruptive both for the organisation attacked and for those 

who rely on its services. Within Leeds we have an active programme of work to remove 

security vulnerabilities in systems, to continually update our systems against emerging new 

threats and to block attempted attacks.   

Work such as the Access upgrade project, though delivering no immediate apparent 

business benefit in terms of cashable savings or improved citizen outcomes, is categorised 

as a high priority as a result of the security and accreditation risks that exist if the systems 

are not upgraded. 

The technical security skills needed to deliver much of this work are in high demand 

nationally with market salary levels significantly more than those offered by Leeds. The 

required skills take considerable time to develop and whilst we have invested in developing 

our own people for a number of years in these skills as well as seeking recruits externally, 

the growth in demand for technical security input to work is such that we have a capacity 

shortage to support all the projects on our books which requires technical security input.   

More detail on capacity shortages across this and other roles within the service are covered 

in section 6 below. 

 

6 Resource and capacity management 

With multiple projects alongside maintenance of robust services (Lights On service) and a 

variety of technical skillsets, the balancing of capacity to demand is a key activity and 

requires robust approaches in order that we can effectively forecast and optimise workloads.  

From a business perspective, knowing when IDS can deliver a project change is critical. 

From a staffing perspective we need to ensure we optimise use of our resources, that staff 

know what work needs to be completed by when and that we do not overload or underutilise 

the resources available. 

There are resource challenges in several areas of IDS where demand outstrips capacity for 

specific technical skills and experience. We struggle to recruit and retain skilled staff due to 

high demand for these skills where we are competing for talent with many other employers, 

both private and public sector, for the same candidates.   

Page 101



The current resource types where demand is consistently outstripping capacity are: 

• Solution Architect 

• Service Development Technical lead (including Security technical leads) 

• Tester 

• Integration 

• Business Intelligence (BI) Data Warehouse/Graphical Information Systems (GIS) 

 

The current average market rates paid for these posts compared with Council salaries are: 

Role Average 
Market 
Salary 

LCC Grade LCC Pay  Advertised (in 
Last 3 Years) 

Successful 
Appointment 

Solution Architect £75,000 DIR 45%  £52,530 - 
£57,783 

April 2021 
February 2021 
July 2019 
November 2018 

Yes (internal) 

Technical Lead 
(Security) 

£62,000 PO6 £43,857 - 
£46,845 

February 2021 
February 2019 

No 
 

Technical Lead 
(Server Technologies 
– Hybrid Cloud) 

£60,000 PO6 £43,857 - 
£46,845 

February 2021 
December 2018 

No 

Technical Lead 
(Client Technologies 
– Hybrid Cloud) 

£60,000 PO6 £43,857 - 
£46,845 

February 2021 
December 2018 

No 

Technical Lead 
(Networks & 
Security) 

£60,000 PO6 £43,857 - 
£46,845 

February 2021 
October 2019 

No 

Technical Lead (Unix) £47,000 PO4 £38,890 - 
£41,881 

February 2021 
October 2018 

No 

Software Tester £42,500 PO2 £32,910 - 
£35,745 

January 2019 
November 2018 

Yes (Internal & 
External) 

Developer 
(Integration, BI 
Datawarehouse, GIS) 

£50,000 PO6/PO4/PO2 £43,857 - 
£46,845 
 
£38,890 - 
£41,881 
 
£32,910 - 
£35,745 
 

April 2020 
May 2019 
November 2018 
August 2018 

No 

 

It should be noted that the table above covers the current roles where we have specific 

challenges. As technology changes we will require different roles with the same challenges 

in relation to the market rate for the role, our salaries and competition for talent against other 

recruiting organisations.  An example of this will be future need for Cloud Solution Architect 

where current market rates are circa £90,000.  

To attract candidates to our vacancies and to retain our existing skilled staff, we need to 

review the pay and grading structure used for these technical posts, ensure these better 

match market salaries and have an ongoing mechanism for reviewing and salaries. 

 

Page 102



The NJC scale has a maximum salary of £46,845 so, to pay closer to market rates, some 

technical posts have been placed on the JNC scale.  This also needs resolving as it creates 

a false picture of the number of management/leadership roles which the JNC structure is 

intended for.  The technical posts within the service need a grading structure which 

recognises the specific technical skills and experience and, an associated salary structure 

which is commensurate with the rest of the IT industry market.  The rates paid for roles then 

needs reviewing against the market on a regular basis. 

 

Agency staff have been used within the service to meet peaks in demand and to fill roles 

where we have been unable to recruit on a permanent basis.  Some agency staff have been 

with us for extended periods as project demands requiring their skillsets has exponentially 

risen.  Commitment has now been given that going forward we will only retain agency staff 

for a maximum of a 2-year period and there will be a requirement for those agency staff to 

undertake skills transfer as part of their contract. 

 

There have been repeated unsuccessful attempts to permanently fill roles due to the salaries 

on offer.   Whilst we have had a longstanding and successful approach of developing staff 

into some of these hard to fill roles, that development and building of expertise takes several 

years. Overall, our growth in capacity (through training our own people) has not managed to 

keep pace with the continued rise in demand.  

 

Resolving the market rates paid will improve our ability to attract and retain skilled capacity. 

This will in turn lead to a reduction in agency usage.  The rates paid to the agency workers 

within the service are higher than permanent market rates salaries so addressing the market 

rate for our permanent roles will reduce costs in comparison to using Agency staff.  It should 

however be noted that existing permanent staff would need to be regraded at the same time 

in line with any new market rate agreed.  It should also be noted that most Agency staff are 

working on capital or externally funded projects so whilst there is an overall reduction in cost 

to capital schemes, revenue budgets will not be significantly affected. 

 

To further support our capacity, work is also underway to undertake a procurement that will 

provide access to additional resource capacity as a ‘body-shop’ style service.  This will be 

used where we need to temporarily access additional resources to meet peaks in demand or 

for specific niche skill sets.  

 

7  Project capacity Council 

With a shared services model, some of our IDS resources provide ‘lights on’ support across 

all organisations however this does not currently include those resources undertaking project 

management which are currently aligned directly to either the Council, City team or CCG 

project work. 

The breakdown of effort expended on project/support activity currently is 30% on project 

delivery and 70% on support activity.  The service is working to automate tasks, change 

technologies and reduce the application estates in order that additional capacity can be 

freed up, staff reskilled and redirected to project change activity. 

 

 

 
Page 103



8 Workforce planning 

There are several key strands in relation to our workforce plan which were covered in full in 

the initial Scrutiny report.  For the purposes of this report we have provided additional 

information on those elements which relate to the areas of focus for this second session. 

• Retraining 

Changes to technologies (such as M365) and an increase in use of Cloud solutions 

will require new skills within our existing workforce. Training is undertaken online in 

the majority of cases with IDS having access to technology specialist training courses. 

Training has been scheduled covering Amazon Web Services and Microsoft Azure. 

A contract for the provision of technical training is being put in place giving all staff 

within the Digital service online access to the latest technology training resources. 

The use of Microsoft PowerApps is being investigated and new roles will be created 

to support this activity with existing staff redeployed and retrained. 

• Market rates 

This is covered in more detail in section 6 detailing the need for a grading structure 

and salary scales which support payment of market rate salaries for technical 

specialist roles. 

Further information showing the market rate research is contained at Appendix B. 

• Agency 

The service has a framework of suppliers who source IT specialist Agency workers. 

The use of Agency will continue to meet peaks in demand or for niche skills however 

we will reduce our reliance and the timeframe they stay with us to less than 2 years, 

make it part of their contract to undertake skills transfer and we will also ensure we 

have available permanent capacity to which they can pass on knowledge and skills. 

Agency workers within the IT industry are typically highly paid (above market 

permanent salaries). 

• Overtime and out of hours working 

Overtime is typically used within the service to cover the resolution of system issues 

out of normal working hours and to undertake system upgrades out of normal working 

hours as a means of avoiding significant business disruption. 

The service will review the opportunity to introduce different working patterns and the 

options for upgrading systems during the working day whilst minimising or removing 

any business disruption.  

• Supplier capacity 

IDS currently use a Yorkshire & Humber framework contract for Application 

Development and for User research. There are several suppliers providing products 

and the associated support of those products. 

Work is underway to put in place a contract for the supply of technical resources as a 

‘bodyshop’ type service to meet peaks in demand and for the supply of niche 

technical skills. 

• Trainee Developer scheme 

We continue to successfully recruit and train staff as IT developers typically taking on 

3 or 4 staff each year to a 2- year programme at the end of which they apply for 

permanent vacancies on our structure. 

• Student placements 

We will continue to take students on during their work placement year.  We will also 

continue to offer part time work during their final university year where this is a hard to 

fill role for us (and where it fits with their course commitments) as a means to 

attracting them to apply for a full time vacancy. 

• Apprentices 
Page 104



We will continue to support staff to undertake apprenticeships both in general 

business-related disciplines and the digital specific apprentice schemes. 

 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

9 The lead member for Resources will be consulted on all IDS initiated schemes of work  

10 CLT and Best Council Leadership and the CCG EMT have been briefed on the broad 

vision for IDS and the priority areas of focus. 

11 Specific projects will determine the need and approach to consultation and engagement 

as part of the project business case. 

12 In relation to changes which impact IDS staff roles and skills, direct engagement with staff 

is underway through regular communication channels, Union consultation is undertaken 

with both CCG and Council union representatives. 

 

What are the resource implications? 

13 The delivery of projects requires allocation of resource from the existing IDS resource 

pool – this will be supplemented through use of existing and new supplier frameworks or 

Agency workers. 

14 Existing staff are being reskilled in new technologies and capacity will be diverted to 

project delivery from ‘lights on’ support over time as we rationalise the number of 

applications in use. 

15 Management of IDS resource capacity will be undertaken by IDS Prioritisation and 

Resource Allocation forum. 

 

What are the legal implications?  

16 There are no specific legal implications relating to this report.  The legal implications of 

individual projects will be assessed at project start up. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 

17 Resource availability – Work is managed through the Prioritisation and resource 

allocation forum where decisions can be made around the scheduling of work or the need 

to source additional capacity.    

18 Prioritisation of work – The Digital Board will review all potential requests for work and 

ensure that only those that are a priority are brought forward to IDS for consideration. 

19 There are three corporate risks and two directorate level risk managed by IDS   

• AH 12 - Information Management and Governance 

• CH 11 – Information Management and Governance 

• LCC15 – Major ICT failure 

• LCC 26 - Information Management and Governance 

• LCC 31 - Major Cyber Incident 
 

  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

20 The delivery of robust ‘lights on’ support, project change delivery, proactive protection 

against cyber-attack, management of our information compliance regime, digital 

leadership and data analytics all directly support the three key pillars. 

Page 105



21 The combined team for Council and CCG directly supports the health & Wellbeing 

agenda. 

22 The move to Cloud based computing, increased Digitisation and Digitalisation support 

Climate Emergency through reduction in energy and paper usage plus a reduction in staff 

travel. 
  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

a) What other options were considered? 

23 Project prioritisation – other categorisations were considered. The defined criteria have 

been agreed by CLT and CCG EMT. 

24 Use of market rate salaries to improve chances of recruiting and retraining technical staff 

– further outsourcing of roles or additional use of agency/staff could be done however 

there will be a significant cost overhead which is not deemed viable. 

 

b) How will success be measured? 

25 Project & portfolio reporting to measure delivery and benefits realisation of projects. 

26 Ongoing evaluation of market rate salaries 

27 Ongoing review of capacity available for project activity to that spent on ‘lights on’ activity 

28 Review of reskilling and uptake of training via service Workforce meeting. 

 

c) What is the timetable for implementation? 

29 The delivery of the service vision and associated projects overall covers the period 2021-

24. 
  

Appendices 

Appendix A – Portfolio of projects CONFIDENTIAL and to be provided as a supplementary 

item 

Appendix B – Market rate salaries  

 

 

Background papers 

None 

Page 106



SALARY
GUIDE

P
age 107



The Salary Guide is solely for noncommercial use, and the copyright is the exclusive property of Robert Half International Inc. 
This guide cannot be reproduced or disseminated in any part without Robert Half’s written permission. © 2020 Robert Half.

Table of contents

03 Market and hiring trends

07 How to use our salary tables

08	 Accounting	and	finance

15 Financial services

24 Technology

32	 Human	resources,	business	and	office	support

38 Digital marketing and creative

42 Executive Search 

43 Resources

44 About Robert Half

P
age 108



Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

The future of work has accelerated beyond 
prediction. The COVID-19 pandemic has forced 
businesses to increase the pace of digitisation, 
which inadvertently runs the risk of creating a 
‘technological divide’ between those companies 
who keep apace and invest in the requisite 
platforms, skills and applications, and those who 
don’t. Although this year has been tough, there 
are	still	plenty	of	positive	influences	shaping	the	
future of work, employee expectations, and the 
way we do business.

Businesses are re-imagining themselves from the 
inside out and look to employees with the right 
soft skills to help them rebuild. Resilience, self-
motivation and communications are all key in 
the race to adapt.

Hiring strategies and recruitment criteria 
have evolved to identify the greatest potential 
candidates amid the ongoing skills shortage. 
Remote work and hybrid working environments 
have made it possible to widen and diversify the 
available talent pool as geographic  
barriers dissolve.

Attracting and retaining talent is paramount if 
businesses are to meet their cultural, inclusivity 
and growth goals. Evolving established retention 
strategies will ensure that employee needs are 
met, despite the drastic shift in workplaces and 
processes.

Our 2021 Salary Guide is designed to highlight 
the trends that will support your business 
talent strategy for the year ahead. In response 
to the current pandemic, this year’s guide is 
more nuanced in its salary benchmarking by 
taking	both	remote	working	and	office-based	
environments into consideration. You will also 
gain a snapshot of current hiring trends, along 
with valuable guidance on remuneration and 
benefits	across	temporary	and	permanent	roles.

For more information regarding recruitment 
trends and salaries in your local region, please 
contact us on 0808 169 2235.

Regards, 
Matt Weston 
UK Managing Director

Message from our Managing Director Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 1
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 109

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

National employment overview

Optimistic hiring in 
uncertain times
The pandemic has reshaped both 
the hiring market and the workplace. 
Although the economy has been 
plunged into uncertainty, of all 
businesses hiring, 72% have hired 
remotely since the pandemic began 
and CFOs are steadily regaining 
their	confidence.

Employers are now searching for 
candidates with soft skills which 
complement remote work and the 
possibility of a rapidly changing 
business strategy. In return, 
candidates are asking for wellness-
led	benefits	and	better	flexibility	in	
their working options.

Top industries 
hiring

Fastest growing 
vacancies

• Financial services

• Publishing

• Manufacturing

• Professional services

• Healthcare/pharmaceutical/
biotech

• Cloud engineer

• Finance manager

• Management accountant

• Digital project manager

• Credit controller

• HR manager

• Developer

• Payroll manager

• Marketing manager

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 2
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 110

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Market and hiring trends
C-Suite confidence
Most business leaders are eager for the markets 
to return to pre-COVID levels, but when they 
expect this to happen is still uncertain. Deloitte 
report that 33% of CFOs expect to return to 
normal operating levels by 2021 while our own 
research shows that half of UK CFOs (51%) 
have been adversely impacted compared with 
29% who have been positively impacted. The 
key factors affecting this are the post-pandemic 
economic climate and reduced business 
opportunities. Despite a slow return to normal, 
65% of UK CEOs plan to aid business recovery 
by launching a new product or service in the 
next 12 months whereas CFOs plan to focus 
primarily on cost reduction.

Changing expectations of work
Several months of remote working has prompted 
employees to request a new ‘hybrid’ home/
office	set	up.	Employers	are	rising	to	meet	the	
challenge — 72% plan to offer remote working 
long-term	and	62%	will	offer	flexitime.	

By adapting to this new digital workplace, 
employers have the opportunity to integrate 
better inclusivity into their hiring practices. We 
found that the majority of employers would 
remotely hire and onboard new staff from 
outside their market this year. 

Remote working has also triggered a drastic 
workplace rebuild: new systems, new processes 
and an additional focus on culture, the latter 
being triggered by closer relationships formed 
through lockdown.

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 3
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 111

https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/finance/articles/reopening-for-business-but-near-normal-operating-levels-not-expected-until-next-year.html
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/ceo-agenda/ceosurvey/2020.html
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Reducing – eliminating positions

Freezing – not filling vacated 
positions nor creating new ones

Maintaining – bringing back 
furloughed employees

Maintaining – only filling vacated 
positions (e.g. voluntary quits or 
involuntary terminations)

Expanding – adding new positions

Remote hiring trends
People no longer want the same things from 
their work and are beginning to search for 
opportunities closer to home or with employers 
who are happy to facilitate remote working. 
In many cases, remote working has served to 
restore work-life balance and has caused 28% 
of UK professionals to reassess their career 
opportunities with this balance in mind.

Employers	also	stand	to	benefit	from	this.	
Businesses who would have traditionally 
competed with London for skilled talent can 
now compete and retain in-demand skills via 
remote or hybrid working models.

90% of employers currently plan to 
maintain or expand the number of 
positions within their business

5%

5%

21%
46%

23%

Based on permanent roles in accountancy, technology, 
administrative, legal and marketing, July – December 2020.

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 4
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 112

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/press/over-70-uk-workers-are-reassesing-their-career-options-post-covid-19?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/press/over-70-uk-workers-are-reassesing-their-career-options-post-covid-19?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

59%

25%

16%

Salary expectations
With over half of employers predicting that salaries 
for existing and new roles will stay the same in 
2021, there has been a need to reassess and 
update	benefit	packages.

Stay the same 

Increase

Decrease

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 5
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 113

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

What incentives 
are in-demand?

Wellbeing benefits

Flexibility to work  
from home

Pension

Mental health resources or 
assistance (at-office and/or remote)

Wellness programmes

Allowance for work-at-home  
office equipment

Additional paid family leave

Outside office-based childcare 
assistance or programmes

51%47%47%40%38%

46% of employers have added new benefits as 
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic

Benefits and rewards

1.

2.

3.

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 6
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 114

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

How to use our salary tables 
Salaries for the positions listed in this guide do not include bonuses, 
benefits	and	other	forms	of	remuneration.	We	break	down	pay	rates	
into four percentiles to help you customise starting salary offers for each 
role.	The	figures	shown	are	representative	of	the	national	average,	or	
the	London	averages	for	financial	services.	The	percentiles	account	for	
differences in a candidate’s level of experience and skills, professional 

certifications,	demand	for	the	role,	and	the	size	and	complexity	of	the	
company that’s hiring. The 50th percentile represents the midpoint 
salary. The 95th percentile is typically reserved for candidates who are 
extremely	difficult	to	find.	A	Robert	Half	staffing	professional	can	help	
you determine where exactly a particular role should fall within the 
salary percentiles stated in the guide.

TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Accounting Assistant Management/Financial Accountant 21,500 24,100 27,500 35,000

Accounts Assistant 20,600 22,500 25,000 31,300

Candidate: average experience; 
has the majority of the  
necessary skills 

Candidate: exceptionally strong skills, 
expertise and experience, often over 
and above what is necessary; has 
specialised	certifications

Candidate: above-average 
experience; has most or all of 
the necessary skills; may have 
specialised	certifications

Candidate: has little or no prior 
experience in the position; still 
developing relevant skills

25th 50th 75th 95th

Demand: Low Demand: Moderate Demand: High Demand: Very high

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 7
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 115

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Accounting and finance
Finance planning and forecasting in 
the dark
Because 2020 cannot be compared to a 
standard	recession,	finance	functions	are	in	a	
challenging position. Year-on-year comparisons 
and scenario testing have required skilled 
finance	modellers,	management	accountants	
and	financial	planning	and	analysis	teams.	They	
are heavily reliant on snapshot data and non-
financial	evidence	to	guide	business	strategy.	
The	skillsets	these	accounting	and	finance	
professionals have developed throughout the 
pandemic has placed them in high-demand — 
a trend which will likely continue for months and 
years to come.

Transformation linked with  
interim support
Finance and accounting teams have transformed 
their operations with lightning speed. Businesses 
which adopted cloud-based solutions before 
the	pandemic	will	now	need	to	fine-tune	their	
systems to support a growing need for digital 
operations. Businesses without cloud-based 
systems must race to adapt if they’re going to 
survive.	No	matter	the	outcome,	finance	teams	
will inevitably need to evolve their workforce to 
match their new business strategy, with many 
either	backfilling	roles	with	temporary	support,	
or bringing in interim professionals for their 
best-practice expertise.

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 8
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 116

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Financial recovery efforts
The	most	sought-after	accounting	and	finance	
professionals will be those with the skills 
needed to identify commercial opportunities 
and collaborate with others to develop them. 
Similarly, data analysis and forecasting 
experience	are	prized.

Job	roles	concerned	with	managing	cashflow	
and forecasting/planning are the most desirable 
throughout both permanent and temporary 
hiring markets. Remuneration packages are likely 

to	be	more	benefit-led,	with	only	
25% of CFOs expect to be able 
to offer a salary increase over the 
next 12 months

Cash flow is king
Cash management professionals see 
unprecedented levels of demand during periods 
of uncertainty. Unfortunately, they’re also some 
of	the	most	challenging	to	find.	The	most	
desirable	cashflow	professionals	include	credit	
controllers, credit managers and purchase/
sales ledger clerks. Demand for these roles has 
risen in both permanent and temporary hiring 
markets.

25%

Looking for permanent 
or interim accountancy or 
finance professionals?

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 9
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 117

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/finance-accounting-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/finance-accounting-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/finance-accounting-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Industries showing strong demand
• Manufacturing

• Real Estate Property/Facilities 
management

• Retail

• Food and food processing

• FMCG

• Logistics

Technical skills
• ACCA/CIMA/ACA	newly	qualified	 
(≤5	years’	experience)

• ERP/SAP expertise

• Data analysis/forecasting

• Process and control implementation 
experience

• Cloud-based software system expertise 
(Xero, Sage, Netsuite)

• Financial modelling

Soft skills
• Commercial awareness/business acumen

• Business partnering

• Negotiation

Permanent roles in demand
• Finance managers

• Management accountants

• Financial analysts

• Financial controllers

Temporary roles in demand
• Credit controllers

• Finance managers

• Accounts assistants

• Financial modellers

• Payroll managers

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 10
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 118

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Accounting and finance salaries

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Corporate accounting Chief Financial Officer 120,000+

Group Finance Director 105,500 125,000 158,500 180,000

Finance Director 81,000 102,500 135,000 180,000

Group Financial Controller 75,000 85,250 105,000 130,000

Financial Controller 52,200 65,000 80,900 110,000

Company Accountant 31,000 36,000 47,000 55,000

Group Accountant 46,000 65,000 75,000 80,000

Qualified Management/Financial Accountant 41,300 45,000 50,000 60,000

Finance Systems Manager 55,000 58,000 74,000 92,750

Systems Accountant 48,000 55,000 60,000 75,000

Finance Manager 40,300 50,100 65,000 88,700

Director of Audit & Risk 80,000 89,750 100,000 120,000

Risk/Compliance Manager 48,000 53,000 67,000 80,000

Risk/Compliance Associate 31,000 37,000 41,250 45,250

Internal Audit Manager 54,500 62,000 68,000 75,000
For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 11
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 119

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Corporate accounting Senior Internal Auditor 52,000 58,000 62,000 75,000

Internal Auditor 33,000 41,250 56,750 62,000

Treasury Manager 49,250 58,500 67,000 82,500

Treasury Accountant 42,000 44,500 47,500 52,000

Treasury Analyst 28,000 40,250 47,500 52,000

Tax Manager 67,000 77,250 87,500 110,000

Tax Accountant 41,250 46,250 56,750 65,000

Cost Accountant 31,000 36,000 41,250 51,500

Accounting and finance salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 12
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 120

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Accounting operations Finance Shared Service Centre Manager 55,000 70,000 90,000 110,000

Credit Manager 36,000 41,250 50,000 70,000

Credit Supervisor 25,750 28,750 31,000 40,000

Credit Controller 21,500 23,600 25,800 35,000

Part-Qualified Management/Financial Accountant 27,000 31,000 36,000 40,000

Assistant Management/Financial Accountant 21,500 24,100 27,500 35,000

Accounts Assistant 20,600 22,500 25,000 31,300

Ledger Manager 25,750 30,000 34,000 49,500

Ledger Supervisor 20,500 25,750 29,250 36,000

Purchase/Sales Ledger Clerk 19,400 21,000 23,400 30,000

Payroll Manager/Supervisor 26,750 33,500 45,000 50,000

Payroll Administrator/Clerk 21,300 23,800 27,400 30,000

Accounting and finance salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 13
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 121

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Commercial accounting Financial Planning & Analysis Manager 59,750 67,000 82,500 100,000

Financial Planning Analyst 54,100 65,300 78,900 85,000

Financial Analyst 30,000 39,000 52,700 78,300

Junior Financial Analyst 28,000 32,000 38,000 45,000

Senior Finance Business Partner 58,000 68,000 70,000 75,000

Finance Business Partner 42,600 50,000 57,300 66,200

Project Accountant 40,000 52,700 78,300 85,000

Management Reporting Accountant 34,250 40,500 48,500 58,000

Financial Reporting Accountant 35,250 41,500 50,750 60,000

Accounting and finance salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 14
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 122

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Financial services
The rise of project and 
implementation roles in regulation, 
risk and reporting
Leaders are keen to press on with business 
resilience projects and are turning to talent 
within regulation and reporting to achieve this. 
Risk and compliance roles are top of the list — 
their key ‘business as usual’ work doesn’t allow 
for	additional	project	workflow	absorption.	

Firms have focussed on alleviating any risk 
posed by Brexit by ensuring the regulatory 
and risk frameworks are ready for the post-
transitional period. Operation risk frameworks 
have been developed across the sector and new 
roles added to build the lines of defence.

Strong fintech, disruptor, and 
alternative movement 
The	burgeoning	fintech	market	has	driven	
demand	for	talent	within	financial	services.	Both	
start-ups and established organisations have 
moved core functions in-house. The renewable 
energy sector has received Government backing 
which could see the job market in clean 
technology increase 85% in just 10 years, as the 
UK continues to move away from oil. 

There	has	been	a	steady	flow	of	roles	in	
accounting, risk and compliance within the 
alternative energy sector. Hiring has also been 
busy	for	FX	payments	firms	and	start-ups	in	the	
lending space. The latter has seen an increase 
in underwriting and credit roles to mitigate loan 
book risks. 

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 15
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 123

https://www.r-e-a.net/green-jobs-could-increase-85-in-10-years-with-government-support/
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Managing change and meeting 
financial uncertainty
It’s	all	change	in	the	financial	services	market.	
Businesses	(most	notably	those	in	fintech)	are	
looking for professionals who are adept at 
change management and project managing 
the implementation of new systems. 

The number of contractors looking for 
permanent roles has risen — this may be due 
to businesses cutting costs by severing contracts 
or the introduction of IR35. Roles related to 
reporting and modelling are in high demand as 
business leaders seek the knowledge needed to 
move forward in uncertain times.

Remote working drives the need for 
benefit differentiation
The	desire	for	flexible	work	patterns	has	been	
a	catalyst	for	employee	benefit	expectations,	
leading to requests for a long-term remote 
work option to be factored into company 
policy. Pension initiatives are also an attractive 
benefit,	especially	those	which	offer	8-10%	
contributions.

Compliance,	accounting,	and	finance	
professionals are likely to see lower bonus 
payments this year, but some employers are 
offering performance-based rewards upwards 
of 30% if market performance returns. More 
experienced	financial	services	professionals	
may also have the option of part-time roles with 
flexible	salary	options.

The most popular working 
arrangement	within	financial	
services is three at home, 
two	days	in	the	office

M T W T F

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 16
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 124

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Technical skills
• ACCA/CIMA/ACA	newly	qualified	 
(≤5	years’	experience)

• ACCA/CIMA/ACA	part-qualified
• ERP/SAP expertise

• Data analysis

• Process and control implementation 
experience

• Cloud-based software system expertise 
(Xero, Sage, Netsuite)

• Financial modelling

• Data visualisation/analytics experience

Soft skills
• Stakeholder management

• Commercial awareness/business acumen

• Effective communication

• Problem-solving

• Business partnering

Roles in demand
• Financial/Management accountants 

• Fund accountants 

• FP&A managers  

• Hedge fund/Loan operations 

• Settlements clerks 

• FX payments 

• Regulatory reporting analysts

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 17
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 125

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Financial services salaries

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Finance and accounting CFO 100,000 125,000 175,000 200,000+

Finance Director 86,500 98,000 150,000 175,000

Financial Controller 55,000 60,000 67,750 80,000

Finance Manager 45,000 55,000 61,500 70,000

Tax Accountant 43,000 49,250 58,000 69,250

Financial Accountant 43,750 53,500 63,750 67,000

Assistant Financial Accountant 28,000 33,500 37,250 43,000

Financial Analyst 45,000 51,000 56,750 72,000

Regulatory Accounting Manager/ 
Head of Regulatory Reporting

72,000 84,500 95,750 120,000

Regulatory Accountant 41,250 51,500 62,500 71,000

Financial Planning & Analysis Manager 61,000 70,500 78,250 91,000

Management Accountant 47,000 57,250 61,750 63,000

Finance Business Partner 53,750 60,500 67,250 75,000

Assistant Management Accountant 28,750 30,000 34,000 40,000

Product Controller 51,500 56,750 66,000 72,000

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 18
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 126

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Finance and accounting Fund Controller 75,500 82,000 85,000 91,000

Fund Accountant 56,750 60,500 65,000 70,000

Assistant Fund Accountant 35,000 39,000 42,500 51,650

Internal Audit Manager 56,250 63,750 70,000 72,000

Internal Auditor 33,000 41,250 56,750 62,000

Treasury Manager 57,500 72,500 85,250 110,000

Accounts Payable/Accounts Receivables Manager 33,250 41,500 52,000 60,000

Accounts Payable/Accounts Receivables Clerk 21,750 23,500 27,250 35,000

Graduate Accounts Assistant 23,500 28,000 30,000 35,000

School-leaver Accounts Assistant 18,250 22,000 24,500 25,000

Financial services salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 19
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 127

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Compliance Director/Head of Compliance 105,000 125,500 156,250 185,000

Compliance Manager 79,500 87,000 106,000 123,250

Compliance Analyst 37,000 47,200 57,500 66,000

Junior Compliance 26,250 31,000 34,750 36,500

AML/Financial crime MLRO 105,250 126,500 152,000 183,000

Head of Client Onboarding 73,000 88,000 96,750 103,000

Senior AML/Senior Onboarding Analyst 51,000 56,400 62,000 68,750

Client Onboarding Analyst/AML Analyst 36,250 41,000 47,250 62,000

Credit risk Director/Head of Credit Risk Management 107,100 126,000 157,350 164,500

Senior Credit Risk Manager 79,250 89,500 101,500 106,000

Credit Risk Manager 58,700 69,450 72,000 79,500

Credit Risk Analyst 35,200 46,000 50,800 57,250

Financial services salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 20
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 128

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Operational risk Director/Head of Operational Risk Management 116,500 135,900 148,500 161,000

Senior Operational Risk Manager 82,750 92,000 97,650 108,500

Operational Risk Manager 61,250 73,000 78,850 81,500

Operational Risk Analyst 39,000 45,000 52,500 54,750

Market risk Director/Head of Market Risk Management 117,250 138,000 152,250 175,000

Senior Market Risk Manager 85,500 97,500 102,000 109,250

Market Risk Manager 67,750 71,400 77,250 81,500

Market Risk Analyst 43,000 53,500 58,500 63,500

Financial services salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 21
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 129

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Banking operations Chief Operations Officer (COO) 108,750 157,500 190,500 206,000

Director/Head of Operations 82,500 103,000 128,750 140,000

Operations Manager 56,750 61,750 77,250 103,000

Equity, Fixed Income, FX, ETD/OTC,  
FX Options Trade Support Manager

51,500 67,000 75,250 87,500

Equity, Fixed Income, FX, ETD/OTC,  
FX Options Trade Support Clerk 

30,000 42,000 55,000 65,000

Hedge Fund/Investment Management  
Trade Support Manager

61,750 72,000 77,250 87,500

Hedge Fund/Investment Management  
Trade Support Clerk 

35,000 45,000 60,000 70,000

Settlements (Equity, Fixed Income,  
FX, OTC Derivatives) 4–7 years' experience

39,250 46,000 52,250 65,750

Settlements (Equity, Fixed Income,  
FX, OTC Derivatives) ≤ 3 years' experience

31,000 36,000 38,000 41,250

Futures Clearing/Broker Reconciliations Manager 46,250 51,500 61,750 72,000

Futures Clearing/Broker Reconciliations Clerk 31,000 36,000 41,250 46,250

Client Services Manager 41,250 51,500 61,750 72,000

Financial services salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 22
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 130

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Banking operations Client Services Clerk 26,750 31,000 36,000 41,250

Collateral Management Manager 51,500 56,750 67,000 87,500

Collateral Management Clerk 31,000 36,000 41,250 51,500

Operations Control/Reconciliations Manager 46,250 51,500 61,750 72,000

Operations Control/Reconciliations Clerk 25,750 28,750 36,000 41,250

Payments Manager 39,500 44,250 51,500 68,750

Payments Clerk 22,000 28,750 36,000 41,250

Static Data Manager 46,250 51,500 61,750 72,000

Static Data Clerk 28,250 31,000 41,250 46,250

Asset Servicing Manager 46,250 56,750 65,000 74,000

Asset Servicing Clerk 36,000 46,250 51,500 58,000

Fund Administration Manager 51,500 61,750 72,000 82,500

Fund Administration Clerk 36,000 46,250 56,750 61,750

Client Reporting/Performance Manager 52,250 61,500 71,750 79,250

Client Reporting/Performance Analyst 36,000 46,250 51,500 67,000

Financial services salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 23
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 131

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Technology
Growth of the IT business  
partnering model
Companies have shifted toward an IT business 
partnering model as they continue to operate 
on a predominantly digital platform (ordering, 
e-commerce or trading). Our research 
shows that 43% of businesses have actively 
pursued digital transformation and 22% have 
made improvements related to ecommerce 
functionality as a result of the pandemic. Smaller 
firms	will	rely	on	the	IT	manager	to	fulfil	this	
role,	while	larger	firms	will	build	it	into	the	job	
description when hiring for cloud migration or 
remote working functionality.

Pipeline programmes and projects 
are being prioritised 
Although the majority of programmes and 
projects have been put on hold, critical ones — 
such as cloud migration — are seeing a surge 
in activity. Businesses are so keen to hire for 
IT infrastructure support roles that 32% have 
advertised fully remote roles to secure the right 
talent and 37% will rely on temporary or interim 
support.

For	these	specific	hiring	opportunities,	jobseekers	
should look to start-ups and scale-ups, as 
they’re purposefully taking this opportunity to 
disrupt the market. On the other hand, SMEs 
have proven to be much slower at rolling out 
large-scale projects.

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 24
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 132

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Adapting to a new digital future
Technology hiring is being driven by 
professionals with the skills to help businesses 
adapt and recover. Cloud migration experience 
and	project	management	qualifications	are	
top of the technical skills wish list as businesses 
race to meet the new challenges of a changing 
market.

Remote working has increased the level of 
cyberthreat, causing 42% of UK CEOs to view 
it as an external contributing factor to growth 
prospects.	Jobseekers	can	find	good	prospects	
with pharmaceutical companies, as digitisation 
disrupts their industry.

Our research shows that 43% of 
businesses have actively pursued 
digital transformation

22% of businesses have made 
improvements related to 
ecommerce functionality as a 
result of the pandemic

Salaries remain stable
Salaries in the technology sector remain stable 
with	the	exception	of	fintech	and	the	public	
sector, which are seeing a marginal increase. 
Rather than offering immediate monetary 
incentives for new talent, employers are offering 
a discretionary bonus of 25% (and upwards) 
pending company performance improvement. 

Because over half of CIOs plan to keep salaries 
the same over the next 12 months, they have 
readdressed	benefits	packages	—	a	third	will	
offer	flexible	work	hours,	29%	will	continue	to	
offer remote working and an allowance for 
home	office	equipment.

Looking for permanent or 
interim technology talent?

43%

22%

IT business partnering 
showing significant 
growth as a result of the 
pandemic

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 25
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 133

https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/ceo-agenda/ceosurvey/2020.html
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/pharmaceuticals-and-medical-products/our-insights/pharma-operations-creating-the-workforce-of-the-future#
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/pharmaceuticals-and-medical-products/our-insights/pharma-operations-creating-the-workforce-of-the-future#
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/technology-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/technology-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Industries showing strong demand
• Pharmaceutical

• Education

• Financial services

• IT services

• Brokerage

Technical skills
• Project	management	qualifications	 

(Agile/Waterfall/PRINCE2)

• Programming languages  
(Python/Golang/React)

• Cloud migration

Soft skills
• Communication 

• Collaboration

• Influence

Roles in demand
• Programme leads

• DevOps engineers

• Solutions/Network architects

• Developers

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 26
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 134

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Technology salaries

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Leadership Chief Information Officer (CIO) 105,000 141,000 176,000 250,000

Chief Technology Officer (CTO) 100,000 120,000 140,000 170,000

Chief Information Security Officer (CISO) 100,000 141,000 158,000 160,000

Chief Architect 75,000 100,000 115,000 140,000

IT Director 78,000 115,000 120,000 150,000

Head of IT 58,500 75,500 85,000 95,000

IT Manager/Head of IT 42,000 47,700 70,900 88,400

Architecture Enterprise Architect 75,000 122,000 135,000 140,000

Infrastructure Architect 65,000 70,000 75,000 82,000

Data Architect 60,000 71,750 79,750 95,750

Solution Architect 65,000 70,000 75,000 85,000

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 27
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 135

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

IT, systems and digital 
transformation

Programme Director 80,500 88,000 95,750 125,000

Programme Manager 74,000 81,000 91,500 115,000

Project Manager 45,700 54,200 60,000 65,000

Project Management Office (PMO) Manager 44,000 54,000 59,250 73,000

Project Management Office (PMO) Analyst 32,000 35,500 36,750 44,000

Senior Business Analyst 54,000 57,000 73,000 80,000

Business Analyst 34,500 40,000 47,000 56,000

Technology salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 28
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 136

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Cloud, infrastructure  
and engineering

Infrastructure Manager 50,000 55,000 65,000 76,000

Network Manager 50,000 55,000 61,000 70,000

Network Engineer 45,000 50,000 54,000 65,000

Systems Administrator 35,000 42,000 47,000 50,000

Network Administrator 35,000 39,000 42,000 45,000

Service Delivery Manager 47,000 52,000 57,000 62,000

IT Support Manager 38,000 42,000 48,000 50,000

Cloud Engineer 48,000 53,000 60,000 69,000

Systems Analyst 35,000 42,000 47,000 50,000

Desktop Support Engineer 25,000 29,000 33,000 37,000

Help Desk Manager 37,000 40,000 45,000 50,000

Help Desk Support 20,800 22,750 25,750 28,600

Technology salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 29
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 137

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Compliance, audit, risk  
and security

Information Security Manager 56,000 68,000 80,000 85,000

Information Security Analyst 33,500 36,000 43,000 55,000

Security Network Engineer 42,000 51,750 62,000 68,500

Security Systems Administrator 32,000 44,000 52,000 60,000

IT Auditor 44,000 52,500 55,500 58,000

Security Architect 56,000 63,750 71,750 95,750

Software development,  
testing and devops

Development Manager 53,000 64,500 83,000 100,000

Developer Lead 51,000 75,250 90,250 96,000

Back-end Developer 28,000 46,300 60,700 77,100

Front-end Developer 28,000 42,000 52,000 57,000

DevOps Manager 54,750 65,000 71,000 80,000

DevOps Engineer 41,750 60,500 68,000 75,000

Applications Support 29,000 39,500 44,000 49,000

Test Manager 38,500 42,250 58,250 67,750

Test Analyst 27,000 35,000 42,500 48,500

Technology salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 30
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 138

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Business intelligence and  
data analytics

Data Scientist 63,000 70,000 76,000 85,000

Business Intelligence Manager 52,000 58,000 60,000 64,000

Business Intelligence (BI) Analyst 35,000 42,000 45,000 50,000

Database/Business Intelligence Developer 45,000 50,000 54,000 59,000

Data Analyst 25,000 28,000 30,000 35,000

Database Administrator 34,000 36,500 43,500 48,000

Technology salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 31
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 139

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Employee policy and procedures for 
the new normal
Human	resource	teams	are	essential	in	defining	
new ways of working. While businesses 
begin to establish the ‘new normal’, HR 
will focus on building out their capacity to 
support redeveloped policies, procedures and 
expectations. 

Ongoing remote work has prompted admin 
and HR professionals to begin incorporating 
wellness packages into the company offering. 
They will also be tasked with outlining new 
health	and	safety	assessments	for	hybrid	office	
environments. Long-term regulation changes 
sparked	by	Brexit	will	also	have	a	significant	
impact on this business function in future.

Desire for flexibility rises, while 
salaries remain stable 
Mid-weight and senior professionals within 
the business support function have historically 
enjoyed	very	competitive	benefits	as	part	of	their	
remuneration package. We now expect to see 
a	rise	in	flexible	working	conditions	as	part	of	
the	benefits	on	offer.	Professionals	are	looking	
for	100%	remote	working	or	a	hybrid	office	
environment.

Our research shows that 38% of UK employers 
are planning to offer 100% remote/hybrid 
working	to	secure	qualified	facilities	support	
staff. We also expect to see stable salaries on 
offer	in	2021,	joining	flexibility	to	round	out	the	
remuneration package.

Human resources, business  
and office support

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 32
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 140

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Backbone of the remote workforce
The fourth industrial revolution and post-
pandemic workplace have impacted the skills 
needed from admin and HR professionals. 
Businesses are also looking for soft skills like 
adaptability, communication and the ability to 
perform organisational tasks remotely. 

Admin roles are some of the hardest to hire for 
— according to 29% of employers, candidates 
with	a	willingness	to	learn	are	the	most	difficult	
to	find.	Job	opportunities	are	the	most	prolific	
within the manufacturing and investment 
management industries.

Benefits and perks are focused 
around wellness and rewards
The pandemic outbreak has done much to 
highlight the importance of nurturing the 
mental and physical wellbeing of the workforce.  
According to one third of UK business leaders, 
investment in employee wellbeing initiatives will 
be a priority for workplace culture improvement 
in 2021. 

Employers have expressed concern regarding 
their ability to retain high-value employees — 
well over half (57%) feel that heavy workloads 
have employees on the brink of burnout and 
52% say that employee morale has taken a 
hit. Wellness-focused incentives and regular 
rewards may help to assuage this.

Two thirds of the technical 
skills being requested are 
digital	(e.g.	MS	Office	
proficiency	and	database	
management)

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 33
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 141

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/reports-guides/future-of-work?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Industries showing strong demand
• Manufacturing

• Investment management

• Retail

• Training and development

Technical skills
• CRM/database management experience

• Proficient	in	MS	Office	suite	with	
Advanced Excel

• CIPD-qualified

Soft skills
• Adaptability 

• Effective communication

• Remote organisational ability

• Attention to detail

• Problem solving

Roles in demand
• Talent acquisition managers

• Head of/HR managers

• HR business partners

• Executive/personal assistants

• Office	manager/administrators

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 34
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 142

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

HR, business and office support salaries

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Human resources and 
procurement

HR Director 48,250 70,250 107,000 160,000

HR Manager 38,750 43,500 60,000 75,000

HR Project Manager (HRIS/Compensation and Benefits) 44,000 46,750 70,000 79,750

Learning and Development Manager 37,250 42,250 48,500 55,000

HR Business Partner 32,000 44,500 48,000 60,000

HR Senior Advisor/Advisor 25,000 34,250 38,000 42,000

HR Officer/Administrator 19,600 21,500 24,900 33,100

Customer services Customer Services Manager/Supervisor 20,750 28,500 40,000 50,500

Customer Services Assistant/Administrator 17,500 20,500 25,000 30,000

Customer Help Desk 16,750 20,500 22,000 28,000

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 35
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 143

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Procurement/facilities/ 
project 

Procurement Manager  47,750 54,000 68,000 105,000

Procurement Coordinator 28,000 31,250 38,000 55,000

Facilities Manager 28,000 33,750 40,000 55,000

Facilities Management Assistant 19,250 22,250 26,500 30,000

Project Manager 40,000 58,000 80,000 85,000

Project Officer/Coordinator 26,750 31,250 34,000 41,750

Project Administrator 21,750 23,000 28,000 32,000

Business development  
and sales

Business Development/Sales Manager 24,750 34,500 41,000 55,000

Account Manager/Sales Executive 21,000 26,750 32,500 45,500

Business Development/Sales Administrator 19,000 22,500 28,500 32,500

Telemarketer/Telesales 16,750 21,500 26,000 31,000

Senior support Business Assistant 23,000 25,750 38,000 58,000

Executive Assistant 28,000 39,500 45,000 55,000

Personal Assistant 23,100 28,750 34,000 38,000

Office Manager 23,300 27,100 30,000 42,600

HR, business and office support salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 36
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 144

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Office support Senior Administrative Assistant 22,500 25,250 30,000 32,000

Administrative Assistant 17,600 19,100 20,400 24,000

Receptionist 18,200 19,700 19,700 29,400

Entry-level Administrative Assistant 16,750 20,000 22,000 25,000

Secretarial Secretary/Team Assistant 19,750 24,500 32,000 35,000

Legal Secretary 22,500 26,000 35,000 40,000

Paralegal 18,000 21,750 23,000 32,000

Medical Secretary 21,000 26,250 32,000 38,000

Audio Typist 19,500 25,250 30,000 35,000

HR, business and office support salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 37
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 145

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Data, data, and more data
Companies are monitoring their in-house 
budgets more closely and want to know the 
expected ROI for digital advertising spend. Lack 
of	budget	was	a	significant	impact	on	business	
confidence	for	UK	business	leaders,	this	is	
despite the UK having a record 2019.

Now that both B2B and B2C business is 
primarily conducted online, digital marketing 
expertise has become an in-demand skill for 
marketing and creative talent. Employers are 
looking	to	bring	this	specific	skill	in-house	to	
support their recovery, to enter new markets and 
to help grow market share.

Communicating the fine line 
Businesses are restructuring to prepare for 
the 'future of work'. This has made internal 
communication absolutely essential — employers 
will need to get this right if they’re going to unify 
their workers and recover their business. Team 
communication will be a priority for 36% of UK 
businesses post-pandemic, and 10% hope to 
improve culture by sharing their company values 
and mission.

Communicating new remote working policies, 
safety guidelines and business recovery initiatives 
can help provide the clarity and stability 
employees are searching for. We’ve seen an 
uptick in hiring for PR and communication 
management roles, likely due to this.

Digital marketing and creative
Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 38
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 146

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Delivering more, with less
The post-pandemic marketplace is forcing 
marketing professionals to be smarter with 
spend. They now need to drive recovery efforts 
with a smaller budget, prompting businesses 
to hire talent skilled in data forecasting and 
analytics as companies will be taking the 
opportunity to gain market share. Maintaining 
a good connection with the target market has 
been crucial throughout the pandemic and it’s 
unsurprising	to	see	hiring	trends	reflect	this.	
Roles in communication, social media and PR 
are some of the most in-demand as businesses 
preserve that connection and launch into new 
marketing efforts.

Salaries are becoming more 
competitive
Traditionally,	marketing	is	the	first	to	take	a	
hit when budgets are cut, but they are usually 
the quickest to recover. The salaries on offer 
for 2021 are becoming more competitive and 
business leaders are more selective with their 
salary	packages,	tailoring	them	to	reflect	the	
skills and value of prospective candidates. 
Remote working has served to extend the pool 
of talent available and there is greater potential 
for	flexibility	regarding	work	environment	and	
hours.

Experts predict a 
recovery in digital 
marketing spend 
in 2021

year on year 
decline from  
2019 - 2020

16.7%

13.6%

increase from  
2020 - 2021

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 39
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 147

https://www.marketingweek.com/uk-ad-spend-forecast-2020/
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Industries showing strong demand
• Financial services

• Consultancy

• E-commerce

• Medical/Healthcare

Technical skills
• Digital advertising skills (PPC, CRM)

• Google Analytics 

• Content management  
(SEO, CRM – e.g. Drupal)

• Social media management

Soft skills
• Influencing	skills
• Data analysis/data forecasting

• Business acumen

Roles in demand
• PR/Content executives

• Communications managers

• Social media managers

• E-commerce/Digital marketing managers

• Heads of Marketing

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 40
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 148

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

JOB TITLE 25th 50th 75th 95th

Digital Head of Digital 64,750 75,000 89,750 120,000

Digital Marketing Manager 42,000 48,000 52,000 68,000

Digital/Insights Analyst 25,000 31,500 42,000 52,000

SEO/PPC Specialist 25,000 30,250 38,000 53,000

Social Media Manager 24,000 29,500 33,000 37,000

Digital Executive 21,500 24,500 27,500 32,000

Digital Assistant 20,000 22,000 25,000 26,500

Marketing and public  
relations

Chief Marketing Officer 90,000 120,000 150,000 200,000

Head of Marketing 55,000 62,000 71,000 80,000

Marketing Manager 38,250 47,500 53,000 64,000

Marketing Executive 23,500 26,250 33,000 35,000

Marketing Assistant 19,000 21,500 24,000 25,500

PR/Communications Manager 34,500 44,500 51,000 59,750

PR/Communications Executive 25,000 28,500 32,500 36,000

Events Manager 20,250 28,000 34,000 40,000

Digital marketing and creative salaries

For local salaries in your region, 
please contact us on 0808 169 2235

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 41
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 149

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Executive Search
Spotlight on Executive Search
Trends in our FTSE 100 CEO Tracker highlighted 
a growing trend for digitally-savvy CEOs 
over the last 2 years. The CEO’s role in 
digitising enterprise through a shared vision 
for technology and business is much clearer 
post-pandemic. 

Across multiple sectors, we have seen a rise 
in demand for C-suite leaders with the ability 
to drive smart innovation, access new market 
share, streamline processes and adapt operating 
models. Strategic workforce planning and 
process restructuring has been a priority from 
2020 into 2021, with the aim of establishing the 
right support structures to re-imagine businesses 
in the “new normal”.

At the same time, the desired leadership style 
has seen a seismic shift. Successful leaders 
have adopted the principles of transformational 
leadership. They lead with empathy, purpose 
and authenticity to support and empower the 
workforce and build operational resilience.

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 42
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 150

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/advice/opinions-and-features/look-future-ceos-role-digitising-enterprise?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/advice/opinions-and-features/look-future-ceos-role-digitising-enterprise?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/advice/opinions-and-features/look-future-ceos-role-digitising-enterprise?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/advice/opinions-and-features/why-transformational-leadership-approach-teams-need-during-challenging?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/advice/opinions-and-features/why-transformational-leadership-approach-teams-need-during-challenging?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

Resources

Robert Half Blog

Visit our blog for further advice 
and information on post-COVID 
recruitment strategies, as well as tips 
on advancing your career.

Visit the blog →

Explore our latest COVID-19 
content for business leaders

We	have	all	dealt	with	significant	
change in both our personal and 
professional lives. In our webinar 
series, we address some of the key 
concerns faced by business leaders 
and their teams as they adjust to a 
new way of working.

Watch our webinars →

Helping you take the next step in 
your career

In this webinar series, we discuss your 
future. Our expert panel share career 
tips and advice focused on you, your 
skills and your next role.

Watch our webinars →

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 43
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 151

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/advice?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/navigating-covid-19-building-business-resilience?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/looking-for-a-job/your-future-you-your-skills-your-next-role?utm_campaign=can-salaryguide2021-102020&utm_medium=pdf&utm_source=roberthalf
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

About Robert Half 
Hiring top talent isn’t easy, and the global pandemic and economic uncertainty have only added to 
that	challenge.	Let	Robert	Half	help	you	find	the	skilled	accounting	and	finance,	financial	services,	
technology, marketing, business support and legal professionals you need to thrive in a challenging 
economy.

Our wide range of solutions means you no longer need multiple agencies for multiple needs. Robert 
Half	offers	the	following	staffing	services:

• Permanent hiring: From early-career 
professionals to CFOs and senior executives  

• Flexible staffing: Hire for one day, one 
week, months or as long as you need, as well 
as for recurring or long-term projects when 
continuity is key

• Remote staffing: Hire remote workers with 
confidence.	We	also	offer	solutions	that	
enable professionals to access necessary data 
and applications regardless of your setup

• Executive Search: Our retained search 
expertise for building executive-level and 
departmental leadership teams

• Project consultancy: For your complex 
business	challenges,	benefit	from	the	
consulting	solutions	from	Protiviti	and	staffing	
services of Robert Half

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 44
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 152

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/permanent-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/flexible-recruitment?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/find-remote-workers?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/executive-search?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/employers/project-consulting?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=cli-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

The value of Robert Half

Research methodology
The data referenced throughout this report is 
based on regular surveys developed by Robert 
Half UK and conducted by an independent 
research	firm.	The	study	is	based	on	more	
than 100 interviews with CFOs, 100 responses 
from CIOs, 300 responses from hiring 
managers and 600 working professionals 
from across the UK during June – July, 2020. 
The results have been segmented by company 
size,	sector	and	geographic	location.

Contact us online or call 0808 169 2235 
to	learn	how	we	can	help	you	find	skilled	
professionals for your organisation.

Technology support — loaner 
devices, protected virtual 
workspace

Remote	staffing	 
options

Single provider for complex 
projects — strategic plan, project 
oversight, skilled staff

Consulting solutions offered 
through	global	consulting	firm	
Protiviti, a Robert Half subsidiary

Experts on fair market rate for 
salaries in current business 
environment

Quick Links

Market and  
hiring trends

How to use our 
salary tables

Accounting and 
finance

Financial services

Technology

Human resources, 
business and office 
support

Digital marketing 
and creative

Executive Search

Resources

About Robert Half

2O21 SALARY GUIDE   |   ROBERTHALF.CO.UK   | 45
© 2020 Robert Half.

P
age 153

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020


© 2020 Robert Half. RH-0820-GBR-ENG

Achieve more with 
Robert Half. 

roberthalf.co.uk

P
age 154

https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://www.roberthalf.co.uk/?utm_source=roberthalf&utm_medium=pdf&utm_campaign=all-salaryguide2021-102020
https://twitter.com/RobertHalfUK
https://www.youtube.com/user/roberthalfuk
https://www.linkedin.com/company/robert-half-international
https://en-gb.facebook.com/roberthalfuk


Page 155

Agenda Item 6



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

What is this report about? 
Including how it contributes to the city’s and council’s ambitions 

 

• All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year.  In doing so, the work schedule should not be considered a fixed and rigid 
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to 
reflect any new and emerging issues throughout the year; and also reflect any timetable 
issues that might occur from time to time. 
 

• The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of 
reference for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘ to review how and to what 
effect consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, 
as set out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’. 
 

• Reflecting on the information in this report and also information presented as part of other 
agenda items at today’s meeting, Members are requested to consider and discuss the 
Board’s work schedule for this municipal year.   

 

Recommendations 

Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 

2021/22 municipal year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work Programme 

Date: 19 July 2021 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Rob Clayton 

Tel: 0113 3788790 

Page 165

Agenda Item 7



 

Why is the proposal being put forward?  
 

1. A draft work schedule for the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board is presented at 
Appendix 1 for consideration and discussion.  Reflected in the work schedule are known 
items of scrutiny activity, such as performance and budget monitoring, identified Budget 
and Policy Framework items and recommendation tracking items. 

 
2. The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 23 June 2021 are also 

attached as Appendix 2.  The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive 
Board minutes, insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any 
matter where specific scrutiny activity may also be warranted. 
 
Changes to the Work Programme since the last meeting 

 
3. As the work of the Board evolves changes to the work programme become necessary to 

prioritise and fit agenda items in at appropriate times. Since the June meeting some 
adjustments have taken place. In October the item on Welcome to Yorkshire will now not 
feature due to prioritising other work, in this instance responding from the Board 
suggestion to have an item on Electoral Services to feature changes in voter behaviour, 
the move to postal voting and analysis of turnout. In November the work on Customer 
Contact – self-service, digital exclusion and performance will take precedence over the 
planned update on Devolution. 

 
4. It is important to also note that several potential work streams are also in development 

reflecting the views of the Chair, the suggestions of the Board at the June meeting and 
recommendations from the predecessor Board. These include possible items on Recycling 
Services in Leeds with a particular focus on finance, the Leeds economy with a focus on 
how the Council uses its resources and priorities to support recovery from the pandemic 
and work on how the Council allocates its resources and receives income on a geographic 
basis in Leeds. 

 
 

What impact will this proposal have? 

 

5. All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work schedule for the 
municipal year. The items in Appendix 1 set out the current programme of the Board and 
sets a framework for its work in 2021/22. 
 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  
 

6. In order to enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each 
Scrutiny Board needs to establish an early dialogue with the Directors and Executive 
Board Members holding the relevant portfolios. The Vision for Scrutiny also states that 
Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and 
Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing items of work. 

 
 
 

 

Wards affected: All 

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒No 

 

Page 166



What are the resource implications? 
 

7. Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if 

the Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time and 

focus its resources on one key issue at a time.    

 

8. The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and 

that requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.   

 

9. Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

• Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 
about available resources; 
 

• Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 
oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 
 

• Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and 
can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 
What are the legal implications?  
 

10. This report has no specific legal implications. 
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed? 
 

11. There are no risk management implications relevant to this report. 
  

Does this proposal support the council’s three Key Pillars? 
 

☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Climate Emergency 

 
12. The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking 

Scrutiny function that focuses on the best council objectives. 
  

Appendices 
 

13. Appendix 1 – Draft work schedule of the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board for the 
2021/22 municipal year. 
 

14. Appendix 2 – Minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 23 June 2021. 
 
 

 

Background papers 
 

15. None. 

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

 
 

June July August 

Meeting Agenda for 21 June 2021 Meeting Agenda for 19 July 2021 No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. 

 

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and 
Sources of Work (DB) 
 
Performance Update (PM)  
 
Scrutiny Inquiry – Agile Working and Estate 
Realisation - Staff and HR Feedback (PDS) 
 
DIS – Vision, Project and Programme 
Management  
 
 

 
Budget 2021/22 Service Reviews (PM)  
 
Scrutiny Inquiry – Future working arrangements, Agile 
Working and Estate Realisation  
 
Agency Staff at Leeds City Council (PM) 
 
DIS – Vision, Project and Programme Management – 
Second Report 
 

 
 

Working Group Meetings 

 
 

  
 

Site Visits 

   

 
Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 
 
 
 

P
age 169



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

 
 
 

September October November 

Meeting Agenda for 20September 2021 Meeting Agenda for 18 October 2021 Meeting Agenda for 29 November 2021 

 
BAME CLT Action Plan – Update (PM) 
 
Annual Corporate Risk Management Report 
(PM)  
 
Customer Contact – self-service, digital 
exclusion and performance (PDS) 
 
DIS – Vision, Project and Programme 
Management – Third Report (PDS) 
 

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy (PSR) – 
2022/23 – 2026/27  
 

Financial Health Monitoring (PM) 
 

Electoral Services Update – Changes in voter 
behaviour, postal voting and turnout (PM) 
 
 

 
Customer Contact – self-service, digital 
exclusion and performance (PDS) 
 
Scrutiny Inquiry – Future Working 
Arrangements – Estate Realisation and IT 
Infrastructure (PDS)  
 
 

Working Group Meetings 

   

Site Visits 

  
 

 

 
Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 
 
 
 

P
age 170



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

 
 
 

December January February 

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. Meeting Agenda for 24 January 2022 Meeting Agenda for 14 February 2022 

  
Performance Report (PM) 
 
Financial Health Monitoring (PSR) 
 
2022/23 Initial Budget Proposals (PDS) 
 

 
 

 
Social Value Update – Procurement (PM) 
 

Working Group Meetings 

  
 

 

Site Visits 

 
 
 

  

 
 
 
Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

P
age 171



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

 
 

March April May 

Meeting Agenda for 28 March 2022 No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. 

   
 

Working Group Meetings 

 
 

  

Site Visits 

  
 
 

 

 
 
Scrutiny Work Items Key: 

PSR Policy/Service Review RT Recommendation Tracking DB Development Briefings 

PDS Pre-decision Scrutiny PM Performance Monitoring C Consultation Response 

 

P
age 172



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2021/2022 Municipal Year 
 

 
 

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 23RD JUNE, 2021 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair 

 Councillors A Carter, D Coupar, S Golton, 
J Pryor, M Rafique, F Venner, S Arif, 
M Harland and H Hayden 

 
Apologies Councillor   

 
 

5 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt from 
publication on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business 
to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the 
public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information 
so designated as follows:-  
 

(A) That appendix 3 to the report entitled, ‘White Rose Railway Station’, 
referred to in Minute No. 20 be designated as being exempt from 
publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and considered in private on the 
grounds that the information contained within that appendix contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular 
person (including the Council). It is considered that the public interest 
in maintaining the content of appendix 3 as exempt from publication 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, as doing so 
would prejudice the Council’s commercial position and that of third 
parties should it be disclosed at this stage; 
 

(B) That appendices 3, 3b and 3c to the report entitled, ‘Acquisition of Land 
for the A637 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner Junction Improvement 
Scheme’, referred to in Minute No. 22 be designated as being exempt 
from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 
12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered in private on 
the grounds that the information contained within those appendices 
contain information relating to the financial or business affairs of a 
particular organisation and of the Council. This information is not 
publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in 
respect of certain companies and charities. It is considered that since 
this information was obtained through one to one negotiations for the 
proposed land exchange then it is not in the public interest to disclose 
this information at this point in time. Also, it is considered that the 
release of such information would, or would be likely to prejudice the 
Council’s commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions 

Page 175



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

in that prospective transacting parties for other similar sites would have 
access to information about the nature and level of consideration which  
may prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there 
may be a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be 
publicly available from the Land Registry following completion of this 
transaction and consequently the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at 
this point in time; 
 

(C) That appendix 7 to the report entitled, ‘Adults and Health Service 
Review 6: Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post Consultation 
Recommendations Report’, referred to in Minute No. 25 be designated 
as being exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) 
of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and considered 
in private on the grounds that the information within that appendix 
contains details regarding the combined value of the two care home 
buildings, which has recently been estimated for residential use. The 
estimated amount in question has been identified as exempt from 
publication in accordance with Access to Information Procedure Rule 
10.4(3) because it is commercially sensitive, should an open market 
disposal process be approved. Keeping the information confidential 
avoids potentially prejudicing the Council’s commercial position and 
that of third parties, should the estimated valuation amounts be 
disclosed at this stage. It is deemed that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption regarding Appendix 7 outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.  

6 Late Items  
Agenda Item 14 - Update on Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan 
 
With the agreement of the Chair, a late item of business was admitted to the 
agenda entitled, ‘Update on Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic – Response 
and Recovery Plan’. 
 
Given the scale and significance of this issue, it was deemed appropriate that 
a further update report be submitted to this remote meeting of the Board. 
However, due to the fast paced nature of developments on this issue, and in 
order to ensure that Board Members received the most up to date information 
as possible, the report was not included within the agenda as originally 
published on the 15th June 2021. (Minute No. 17 refers). 

7 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  
In relation to Agenda Item 5, ‘arts@leeds’ – Year 5 Extension’, Cllr Pryor 
declared an interest in this item, due to the fact that his partner was an 
employee of Phoenix Dance Theatre, and as such, Councillor Pryor did not 
participate in the consideration of that item, and left the meeting room for the 
duration of that consideration. (Minute No. 9 refers). 
 
With regard to Agenda Items 18, ‘Disposal of Land at Dawson’s Corner by the 
Calverley Charity’ and 19, ‘Acquisition of Land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s 
Corner Junction Improvement Scheme’, Councillor A Carter brought to the 

Page 176



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

Board’s attention his position as a Trustee of the Calverly Charity, as 
appointed to by the Outer West Community Committee and as registered 
within the ‘Other Registerable Interests’ section of his Register of Interests, 
and as such, declared an ‘Other Registerable Interest’ in those items. 
 
As required by the Council’s ‘Councillor Code of Conduct’, where a Member 
has declared an ‘Other Registerable interest’, in order to enable Councillor 
Carter to remain in the room and speak on those items, Councillor Carter had 
applied for and been granted a dispensation on the grounds that without the 
dispensation, representation from his political group on the Executive Board 
would not be possible and in granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor 
Carter to speak in the interests of persons living in the authority’s area.  In 
doing so, Councillor Carter confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and 
speaking on Agenda Items 18 and 19, he would not be voting upon them. 
(Minute Nos. 21 and 22 refer). 

8 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meetings held on 21st April 
2021 and 8th June 2021 respectively, be approved as correct records. 
ECONOMY, CULTURE AND EDUCATION 
 

9 arts@leeds - Year 5 Extension  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to 
extend the arts@leeds funding programme for a fifth year, with it being noted 
that a fifth year would extend the current round of funding to 31 March 2023. 
 
In considering the report, the Board received information regarding the 
reasons for the proposal from the Chief Officer Culture and Economy. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board noted that the decision to 
extend the funding programme did not have any implications for the Council’s 
budget setting process.  
 
With regard to an enquiry regarding this proposal and the separate proposals 
relating to the provision of resource for ‘Leeds 2023’, a Member sought 
assurance that there would be no ‘double counting’ across these two areas in 
terms of grant funding provision. In response, it was undertaken that 
clarification would be provided to the Member in question. 
 
RESOLVED – That an ‘in principle’ extension of the arts@leeds programme 
for a fifth year, to 31 March 2023, be approved. 
 
(Further to the declaration of interest as detailed at Minute No. 7, Councillor 
Pryor took no part in the consideration of this matter and left the meeting room 
for the duration of this item) 

10 Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at 
Allerton High School from September 2022  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the 
outcome of a consultation exercise undertaken regarding a proposal to 
expand secondary school provision at Allerton High School and which sought 
approval to the publication of a statutory notice on that proposal. 

Page 177



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

 
In supporting the proposal, emphasis was placed upon the importance of 
ensuring that the traffic regulation orders for the area were implemented. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the publication of a statutory notice on a proposal to permanently 
expand secondary provision at Allerton High School from a capacity of 
1100 to 1400 pupils by increasing the admission number in Year 7 from 
220 to 280, with effect from September 2022, be approved; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal detailed would 
be subject to the response of the proposed statutory notice and on the 
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as 
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for 

places to be delivered for 2022;  
 

(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for implementation of such 
matters is the Head of Learning Systems. 

11 Outcome of consultation to permanently increase learning places at St 
Edward's Catholic Primary School from September 2022  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting the 
outcomes from a consultation exercise undertaken regarding a proposal to 
permanently increase learning places at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School 
from September 2022, and which sought approval to the publication of a 
Statutory Notice on that proposal. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, assurance was provided that a full traffic 
assessment and transport statement would be produced, and that as far as 
possible, recommendations from that would be implemented. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice on a proposal to permanently 
expand primary provision at St Edward’s Catholic Primary School and 
increase the number of places offered at the school in Reception from 
20 to 30, with effect from September 2022, be approved; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the implementation of the proposal would be 
subject to the outcome of the proposed statutory notice and on the 
outcome of further detailed design work and planning applications, as 
indicated at section 4.4 of the submitted report; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the proposal has been brought forward in time for 

places to be delivered for 2022;  
 

(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems. 

PUBLIC HEALTH AND ACTIVE LIFESTYLES 
 

Page 178



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

12 Covid-19 Memorial Woodland within New 48 Hectare Parkland at former 
South Leeds Golf Course  
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report 
that presented a proposal to create a new 48 hectare park incorporating a 
Covid-19 memorial woodland on the site of the former South Leeds golf 
course. 
 
In welcoming the report, a Member suggested that other appropriate 
proposals could potentially be considered in other areas of the city, with a 
view to accessing external funding streams where appropriate. 
 
A Member highlighted the significant resource implication being proposed in 
an area with already considerable parkland facilities, and noted the proportion 
of the memorial woodland when considering overall size of the proposed new 
parkland.  
 
Responding to an enquiry regarding public consultation, it was noted that the 
local and wider community would be appropriately consulted in relation to the 
proposals within this report.  
 
The Board then discussed the current position with regard to the provision of 
grass cutting along highways in the city.   
 
RESOLVED – That the following be approved:- 

(a) The establishment of a formal partnership agreement between the 
Council and Leeds Hospitals Charity to create a Covid-19 memorial 
woodland; 
 

(b) The commencement of consultation on establishing up to 48 hectares 
of new parkland incorporating a Covid-19 memorial woodland and 
other recreational features, which will then form part of Middleton Park; 

 
(c) The injection of £700k into the Capital Programme in order to enable 

works to commence on establishing the Covid-19 memorial woodland, 
with authority to spend approval for the full scheme being delegated to 
the Director of Communities, Housing and Environment, and that the 
£30k annual revenue budget provision required to maintain the new 
parkland, be noted; 

 
(d) That it be noted that the Chief Officer for Parks and Countryside will be 

responsible for the implementation of the resolutions above, in line with 
the timetable, as set out in paragraph 31 of the submitted report. 

INFRASTRUCTURE AND CLIMATE 
 

13 Transforming Cities Fund: Leeds City Centre Cycling Improvements  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval 
for the design and delivery of a package of 6 schemes to provide safe, 
segregated facilities for cycling and walking around the city centre, with it 
being noted that these projects would link existing cycle routes together to 

Page 179



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

form a coherent network, facilitating active travel choices and reducing 
dependency on the private car for short and medium length journeys. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the successful delivery of cycle infrastructure across Leeds as 
part of Leeds City Council’s ambition to encourage active sustainable 
transport and address the Climate Emergency, be noted;  
 

(b) That the principle and general layout of the six Transforming Cities 
Fund - Leeds City Centre Cycling projects, as detailed within the 
submitted report, be approved; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the costs of £7.06M to design and deliver the 6 

projects detailed in the submitted report will be entirely funded from the 
Transforming Cities Fund; 

 
(d) That it be noted that the construction of the detailed projects is 

expected to begin in early summer 2021 for completion in spring 2023; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) 
will be responsible for the implementation of such matters, and will 
receive further reports as necessary to facilitate these proposals and 
will give authority to spend for the individual projects. 

14 Leeds Local Plan Update – Public Consultation on the Scope of the Plan  
The Director of City Development submitted a report that presented details 
regarding the proposed scope for the Local Plan Update, namely a focus 
upon new or revised planning policy to help further address the Climate 
Emergency. On this basis, the report sought approval to commence 
consultation on the proposed scope of the Local Plan Update, as detailed. 
 
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of ensuring 
that the comments which would be received as part of the proposed 
consultation process were taken into consideration, as appropriate.  
 
Emphasis was also placed upon the importance of ensuring that the methods 
used to conduct the consultation made the process as accessible as possible. 
In response, the Board was provided with details of the actions being taken 
with the aim of maximising accessibility.  
 
Reference was also specifically made to the continued importance of flood 
prevention, and the need for due consideration to be given to this issue as 
part of this process.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the proposed initial scope of the Local Plan Update, be agreed as 
follows:- 

 Update and create new policies; make consequential changes, within 
the Adopted Leeds Core Strategy (amended 2019), the Natural 
Resources and Waste Local Plan (2013) and Unitary Development 
Plan (2006) which focus on: carbon reduction, flood risk, green 

Page 180



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

infrastructure, place-making and sustainable infrastructure in order to 
adapt to and mitigate the impacts of climate change and ensure the 
delivery of sustainable development within the Leeds Metropolitan 
District for a period of at least 16 years from Adoption; 
 

(b) That the commencement of consultation on this scope for a period of 
eight weeks using supporting topic papers (Appendices 1 and 2 within 
the submitted report), be agreed; 
 

(c) That the consultation documentation (Appendices 1 and 2 within the 
submitted report) be referred to the Infrastructure, Investment and 
Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board for the purposes of consultation in 
accordance with the requirements of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework; 
 

(d) That the necessary authority be provided to the Chief Planning Officer, 
to enable the Chief Planning Officer, in liaison with the Executive 
Member for Infrastructure and Climate, to approve any amendments to 
the consultation material in advance of public consultation; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the Chief Planning Officer is responsible for the 
implementation of the resolutions, as detailed above. 

 
(The matters referred to within this minute, given that they were decisions 
being made in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules, were not eligible for Call In, as Executive and Decision Making 
Procedure Rule 5.1.2 states that the power to Call In decisions does not 
extend to those decisions being made in accordance with the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules) 

15 Redevelopment of City Square - Outcome of the Design Competition and 
Appointment of the Preferred Designer  
The Director of City Development submitted a report that presented the 
outcome of the design competition for the redevelopment of City Square, and 
which sought approval to the appointment of the preferred designer, who in 
being appointed would work proactively with the Council and stakeholders to 
redevelop City Square from the design concept submitted as part of the 
design competition into an approved design. 
 
In introducing the report and in providing assurance to Members, the 
Executive Member highlighted that the design which had been submitted as 
part of the associated competition was an indicative design and that the 
preferred designer would work proactively with the Council and partners in 
developing a final design. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry regarding the extent to which the design 
competition format provided value for money, it was noted that the level of 
cost was in line with what would be expected at this stage of design 
development for a scheme of this scale. 
 

Page 181



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

A Member’s suggestion regarding the potential for an appropriate Covid-19 
memorial to form part of the design for City Square was noted, with an 
undertaking that it would be taken into consideration.  
 
In conclusion, the Board received further details regarding the competition 
process, and the Executive Member emphasised the key importance of the 
new design, given that City Square was a gateway to the city centre.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the appointment of the preferred designer, Re-form Landscape 
Architecture, to develop the conceptual design proposals to the end of 
the RIBA Concept Design Stage, be approved; 
 

(b) That the Authority to Spend up to a maximum of £250k in order to 
develop the conceptual design to the end of the RIBA Concept Design 
Stage, be approved; 

 
(c) That the entering into a Professional Service Short Subcontract with 

Balfour Beatty Civil Engineering (BB) for the post-competition design 
fees up to the end of the RIBA Concept Design Stage, be approved. 

16 Parklife - Fullerton Park and Matthew Murray Update  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an 
update regarding the Council’s Fullerton Park ‘Parklife’ scheme, together with 
the outcome of recent discussions with Leeds United Football Club (LUFC) 
around their preference to preserve the potential for a disposal of the former 
Matthew Murray High School site to LUFC, as part of the club’s ambition to 
relocate their training ground facilities closer to Elland Road and also as part 
of proposals regarding the expansion of the Elland Road stadium. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update regarding 
the timeframe for this proposal, with it being acknowledged that this was in 
response to a request made by LUFC, as a result of the club’s updated 
aspirations regarding stadium expansion.  
 
With regard to an enquiry regarding the Woodhall Playing Fields site as part 
of the Parklife submission process, Members received an update regarding 
the current position, with it being undertaken that a further report regarding 
the Parklife scheme would be submitted to the Board at the appropriate time.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the progress which has been made to date with regard to the 
Fullerton Parklife scheme, be noted; 
 

(b) That the principle of the relocation of the Fullerton Parklife scheme to 
the former Matthew Murray High School site, in order to preserve the 
ambitions of Leeds United Football Club to achieve a 55,000 seater 
capacity stadium at Elland Road, be approved; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the principle approval above is subject to LUFC 

meeting Leeds City Council’s additional design costs that it will incur as 

Page 182



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

a consequence of this change, as outlined in paragraph 23 of the 
Resources section of the submitted report; 

 
(d) That it be noted that the relocation proposals will provide the 

opportunity for an increased facility offer at Matthew Murray, including 
4 full sized all-weather pitches and an increase space take up by the 
NHS; 

 
(e) That it be noted that the Football Foundation (the main grant funder for 

Parklife) and the NHS are fully supportive of the relocation and the 
positive impact that this will have on the Parklife business case; 

 
(f) That it be noted that the impact of the relocation of the Fullerton 

Parklife to Matthew Murray will result in a loss of the potential capital 
receipt to be realised from LUFC, however, it be noted that this will in 
part be offset from the realisation of a new capital receipt from Fullerton 
Park for land required as part of the Stadium expansion; 

 
(g) That it be agreed for Council officers to work in partnership with Leeds 

United Football Club on a revised masterplan for the Elland Road 
Stadium and Fullerton Park area, and that agreement be given for 
those draft proposals to be submitted to a future Executive Board in 
readiness for public consultation; 

 
(h) That it be noted that the officer responsible for this project and the key 

matters associated with it is the Head of Projects and Programmes in 
Asset Management and Regeneration. 

LEADER'S PORTFOLIO 
 

17 Update on Coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic – Response and Recovery 
Plan  
Further to Minute No. 157, 21st April 2021, the Chief Executive submitted a 
report providing an update on the work being undertaken as part of a multi-
agency partnership approach in response to, and as part of the recovery from 
the Covid-19 pandemic. The Response and Recovery Plan, as the main 
reporting tool for ongoing work across the seven service areas, was 
appended to the submitted report at Annex A.  The report and annexes set 
out the broad range of activities being undertaken, including a summary plan 
on a page for the rest of 2021, delivery via vital partnership arrangements, 
and details of the continued proactive work to try and control the numbers of 
cases across the city and increase testing, tracing, isolating and vaccination 
uptake. 
 
The Leader, together with the Executive Member for Public Health and Active 
Lifestyles introduced the report, providing an update on the current position in 
Leeds, with specific reference to the approach being taken towards 
addressing the recent increase in infection rates. 
 
RESOLVED –  

Page 183



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

(a) That the latest version of the Response & Recovery Plan, as presented 
at Annex A to the submitted report, including a summary plan on page 
and risks, be noted; 
 

(b) That Annex B to the submitted report, which presented a summary of 
national developments since the last meeting of Executive Board, be 
noted, together with Annex C, which provided the monthly Coronavirus 
Dashboard. 

RESOURCES 
 

18 Financial Performance - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2021  
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the 
Council’s final outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year in respect of both 
the General Fund revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account. The 
report also sought approval regarding the creation of earmarked reserves, as 
detailed. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, officers undertook to provide the Member 
in question with further detail on the overall amount of funding which had been 
received from Government in the form of Covid-19 financial support during the 
pandemic. 
 
Responding to Members’ enquiries regarding whether, in light of the outturn 
position, consideration would be given to reviewing staffing levels in some 
front line services, or reconsidering some of the decisions taken as part of the 
21/22 budget setting process, the Council’s continuing financial challenges 
were highlighted, with it also being undertaken that comprehensive reviews 
would also be undertaken as part of the budget setting process for next 
financial year. 
 
In conclusion, the Executive Member for Resources extended her thanks to all 
employees for their continued efforts throughout this difficult time, including 
those who had left the Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the Council’s outturn position for the 2020/21 financial year, as 
presented in the submitted report, be noted; 
 

(b) That the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed in paragraph 6.7 
of the submitted report, be agreed, and that the necessary authority 
be delegated to the Chief Officer Financial Services, to enable the 
Chief Officer Financial Services to approve their release; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Financial Services will be 

responsible for the implementation of the above resolutions 
following the ‘call in’ period. 

19 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2020/21  
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting the 
Council’s Treasury Management Outturn position for the 2020/21 financial 
year. 

Page 184



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

 
In considering the report, Members discussed current costs with regard to 
Minimum Revenue Provision, and in response to a specific enquiry, the Board 
was provided with information on the actions being taken towards 
safeguarding against potential interest rate rises, when considering the 
Council’s borrowing costs. 
 
In conclusion, the officers responsible for this area were thanked for the work 
they continued to do to ensure that treasury activity remained within the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for the 
2020/21 financial year, as presented within the submitted report, be noted, 
with it also being noted that treasury activity has remained within the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Policy Framework. 

20 White Rose Railway Station  
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining a proposal for 
the Council to provide a loan facility to Munroe K, in compliance with 
subsidiary control, to finance Munroe K’s maximum contribution towards the 
scheme as presented, with the report also seeking the related necessary 
approvals to help facilitate this proposal.  
 
Following consideration of Appendix 3 to the submitted report designated as 
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the public part of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That approval be given for the Director of City Development, in 
consultation with the Chief Officer Financial Services and the Executive 
Member for Resources, to develop and enter into a Loan facility 
Agreement of up to £4.5m with Munroe K, as per the Heads of Terms 
and principles detailed within exempt appendix 3 to the submitted 
report; 
 

(b) That approval be given to inject £4.5m into Capital Scheme Number 
32774/WHI/000 in order to finance the loan facility; and that approval 
be given for the necessary authority to be delegated to the Director of 
City Development and the Chief Officer Financial Services to enable 
the Director and Chief Officer to provide ‘authority to spend’ up to that 
amount in order to provide the loan, subject to the completion of legal 
agreements with Munroe K; 

 
(c) That a future paper on the delivery of the economic masterplan and 

emerging spatial masterplan at the White Rose Park be submitted to 
the Board in due course. 

21 Disposal of Land at Dawson's Corner by The Calverley Charity  
The Chief Officer of Asset Management and Regeneration submitted a report 
which sought approval of the terms of the sale of approximately seven acres 
of land at Dawson’s Corner, Pudsey. The report noted that this land was 

Page 185



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

privately owned by The Calverley Charity and as such, the submitted report 
was specifically for the purpose of Executive Board, on behalf of the Council 
and in the Council’s capacity as sole trustee of the charity, to give appropriate 
consideration to the proposal. 
 
In considering the report, a Member highlighted the importance of the 
landscaping mitigation works which would need to be undertaken as part of 
the proposals detailed within Agenda Item 18 to ensure that safe pedestrian 
access was provided (Minute No. 22 refers), a matter on which the Member 
had directly contacted the Highways department about.    
 
In referencing the fact that in line with the Council’s ‘Councillor Code of 
Conduct’ Councillor Carter was required to seek a dispensation to enable him 
to speak on this matter, due to his ‘Other Registerable Interest’ he requested 
that consideration be given to reviewing the Code in light of this issue. In 
response, the Chair advised that if the Code is causing practical issues, then 
he was agreeable for it to be reviewed on a cross party basis. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That Executive Board, on behalf of the Council acting as sole trustee of 
the Calverley Charity, approve the terms of the disposal of the Charity’s 
land at Dawson’s Corner, and that approval be given to delegate the 
approval of any variation to the final terms to the Chief Officer of Asset 
Management and Regeneration in consultation with the Executive 
Member for Resources, in so far as there is no conflict with regard to 
the delegation and the respective interests of the parties; 
 

(b) That it be noted that the officers responsible for this matter are the 
relevant Senior Land & Property Officer, City Development directorate, 
and Principal Legal Officer, Resources directorate, and upon approval 
of the sale terms by Executive Board (in resolution (a)), the sale will be 
progressed and completed in timescales to suit the Charity and the 
purchasing Highway Authority (with the aim of completion by end of 
2021). 
 

(As detailed within Minute No. 7, Councillor Carter, having declared an ‘Other 
Registerable Interest’ in this item, had applied for, and been granted a 
dispensation on the grounds that without the dispensation, representation 
from his political group on the Executive Board would not be possible and in 
granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor Carter to speak in the interests 
of persons living in the authority’s area.  In doing so, Councillor Carter 
confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and speaking on this item, he 
would not be voting upon it). 

22 Acquisition of Land for the A647 / A6120 Dawson's Corner Junction 
Improvement Scheme  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to 
acquire land from a third party to enable the A647 / A6120 Dawson’s Corner 
junction improvements to take place.  
 

Page 186



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

Following consideration of Appendices 3, 3b and 3c to the submitted report 
designated as being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access 
to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the 
conclusion of the public part of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the principle of acquiring third party land to enable the A647 / 
A6120 Dawson’s Corner junction improvements, be approved; 

 
(b) That the terms agreed for parcel A, as detailed in appendix 2 to the 

submitted report, and the terms for parcels B and C, as detailed in 
exempt appendix 3 to the submitted report, be approved; 

 
(c) That it be noted that should there be any changes to the agreed terms 

for parcels A, B and C, then these are to be approved by the Director of 
City Development under delegated powers; 

 
(d) That the necessary authority be delegated to officers to negotiate 

acquisition terms for parcel D, with agreement being given for those 
terms to be approved by the Director of City Development under 
delegated powers; 

 
(e) That with regard to the associated implementation timescales, it be 

noted that the intention is for third party land to be acquired by the end 
of 2021 and, subject to funding, junction improvement works beginning 
in either spring 2022 or spring 2023, with the construction period due to 
last around 12-18 months. 
 

(As detailed within Minute No. 7, Councillor Carter, having declared an ‘Other 
Registerable Interest’ in this item, had applied for, and been granted a 
dispensation on the grounds that without the dispensation, representation 
from his political group on the Executive Board would not be possible and in 
granting the dispensation it enabled Councillor Carter to speak in the interests 
of persons living in the authority’s area.  In doing so, Councillor Carter 
confirmed that whilst remaining in the room and speaking on this item, he 
would not be voting upon it). 

23 Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance and Assurance Report  
The Director of Resources submitted a report which provided an overview of 
the Council’s performance regarding health, safety and wellbeing for the 
period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021. The report highlighted the 
improvements which have been made and detailed the challenges ahead. 
 
In presenting the report the Executive Member for Resources provided an 
overview of the key information as presented, and extended her thanks to 
those officers responsible for this area of work for their continued efforts 
during a very challenging year. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, be noted, with the 
Board recognising that a robust, yet proportionate approach towards risk 
management within the Council continues to be applied. 

Page 187



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

24 To consider Future Developments with regards to Addressing and 
Reducing On-Street Sex Work in the City  
The Director of Communities, Housing and Environment submitted a report 
presenting a proposal to cease with the ‘Managed Approach’ and replace it 
with a revised approach, as outlined within the submitted report, in order to 
tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city. The report noted that this 
proposal was seeking Executive Board’s endorsement, given that the 
proposal was subject to agreement by the Safer Leeds Community Safety 
Partnership. 
 
In presenting the report, the Executive Member for Resources highlighted that 
she had written to all Members notifying them about the submission of this 
report to Executive Board.  
 
Members considered the proposals detailed within the report. In response to 
some Members’ comments and concerns, specifically with regard to the time 
taken to arrive at the current proposals, the Board was provided with further 
information regarding the following: the initial aims of the Managed Approach 
and how those initial aims and the overall Approach had continued to be 
reviewed and evolved; the consideration of the outcomes arising from 
processes such as the independent review which was presented to the Board 
in July 2020 and the ‘Listening Well’ campaign; and the combination of factors 
which had led to the current proposals being submitted to Executive Board for 
endorsement and to the Safer Leeds Community Safety Partnership for 
agreement. 
 
In discussing the report, Members highlighted that, further to the information 
provided at the meeting, they looked forward to receiving more detail on the 
proposals moving forward and the package of multi-agency support which 
would continue to be put in place for those affected.  
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the proposal to now cease with the Managed Approach and 
replace it with the revised approach outlined within the submitted report 
to tackle and reduce on-street sex work in the city, be endorsed, with it 
being noted that such proposals are subject to agreement by the Safer 
Leeds Community Safety Partnership (LSP); 
 

(b) That the significance of the operational developments leading to the 
proposed revised approach, be acknowledged and noted; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the Director of Communities, Housing and 

Environment, and where appropriate, partner organisations and 
representatives, will be responsible for the delivery of the revised 
approach; 

 
(d) That it be agreed that members of the Executive Board be kept 

informed and updated on any key changes arising from the 
implementation of the new approach. 

 

Page 188



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

(At the conclusion of this item, the meeting was adjourned at 2.30pm for a 
period of 30 minutes, prior to reconvening at 3.00pm)  
ADULT AND CHILDREN'S SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH PARTNERSHIPS 
 

25 Adults & Health Service Review 6 - Care Delivery: Care Homes, Post 
Consultation Recommendations Report  
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report that presented the 
findings of the consultation exercise undertaken regarding the proposals to 
close Home Lea House Long Stay Residential Care Home in Rothwell, and 
Richmond House Short Stay Residential Care Home in Farsley. In 
considering the information within the submitted report, the Board were 
requested to determine the future of both care homes, with the recommended 
option being to decommission those care homes for the reasons as set out.  
 
In presenting the submitted report, the Executive Member for Adult and 
Children’s Social Care and Health Partnerships acknowledged the anxiety 
caused by the proposals and highlighted that such a recommendation to close 
the two homes had not been made lightly. However, the Executive Member 
went on to undertake that, should the recommendations be approved, then 
every effort would be made to support residents and their families, together 
with affected staff throughout the proposed process.  
 
In addition, details of the range of factors which had been taken into 
consideration when coming to the conclusions within the report were 
highlighted. These included: the decline in demand for care home provision; 
the alternative provision which was available; the financial context and the 
increased budgetary challenges faced across social care; the increased 
demand levels in other areas of social care provision; the investment which 
was being made in other areas of social care, including the future use of the 
two sites in question.  
 
In discussing the report, concerns regarding the following were raised and 
responded to: 

- The two homes’ occupancy levels referenced within the report and in 
discussion; 

- The levels of demand for care home provision generally, and the level 
of the two homes’ use by those in the local community; 

- The consultation process undertaken and the recommendations arising 
from it;  

- The discussions which had taken place with the NHS regarding the 
proposal to close Richmond House; 

- The timing of the proposals; 
- The budgetary challenges which continued to be faced by the Council 

and specifically with regard to social care provision, together with the 
proportion of resource provided in terms of both adult and children’s 
social care provision;  

- The proposals for the 2 sites moving forward, with it being undertaken 
that further detail would be provided to the Members in question 
regarding the advice which had been received that the respective 

Page 189



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

footprints of the two sites were not large enough to provide extra care 
housing.    

 
Following consideration of Appendix 7 to the submitted report designated as 
being exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the public part of the meeting, it was 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the outcome of the full consultation reports with stakeholders, 
(Appendix 3 to the submitted report), and the information contained 
within exempt Appendix 7 to the submitted report (Estimated Land 
Valuation), be noted; 
 

(b) That the recommendation to decommission services at Home Lea 
House Residential Long Stay Care Home, in Rothwell, be approved; 

 
(c) That the recommendation to decommission services at Richmond 

House Short Stay Residential Care Home, in Farsley, be approved; 
 

(d) That the timescales for ceasing the services based on the timeline 
attached in Appendix 9 to the submitted report, be agreed; 

 
(e) That it be noted that there is a commitment in principle for the sites to 

be used for the development of supported housing; general needs 
housing at the Home Lea House site in Rothwell, and supported 
housing for older people at the Richmond House site in Farsley; 

 
(f) That it be noted that the lead officer responsible for such matters is the 

Director Adults and Health. 
 

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillors A Carter 
and S Golton both required it to be recorded that they respectively voted 
against the decisions referred to within this minute) 

26 Update on Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which provided an 
overview of ‘Thriving: The Child Poverty Strategy for Leeds’, together with the 
work being undertaken as part of the strategy, including details of the 
response in this area during the pandemic. 
 
The Executive Member presented the report highlighting the range of reasons 
why children and young people were living in poverty, with details also being 
provided on the impact of the pandemic upon such poverty levels. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry in respect of enabling educational 
achievement and the impact of home schooling during the pandemic on such 
matters, the Board was provided with details of the actions being taken to 
progress specific priorities which had been identified in light of the pandemic, 
and also further information specifically regarding the support provided to 

Page 190



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 21st July, 2021 

 

parents and carers in helping their children progress in the area of educational 
attainment.  
 
The Board also discussed the nature of the update report provided and the 
range of measurable outcomes within it, with a suggestion that as part of the 
submission of the next scheduled update report, further detail could be 
included regarding the progress being made with regard to supporting 
children and their families in respect of educational attainment. 
 
RESOLVED –  

(a) That the strategic framework in place to mitigate the impact of child 
poverty, and the work being undertaken by the Council and other 
partners in the key areas of activity, as detailed within the submitted 
report, be endorsed; 
 

(b) That the need to promote the work of the ‘Thriving’ strategy across the 
city and in particular in each respective Members’ portfolio in order to 
highlight the impact of poverty on children and their families, be 
acknowledged; 

 
(c) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the strategy is the 

Deputy Director Children and Families; working in partnership across 
the Council directorates. 

DATE OF PUBLICATION:  FRIDAY, 25TH JUNE 2021 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:  5.00 P.M., FRIDAY, 2ND JULY 2021 
 
 
 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Meeting Notes - 21 June 2021
	3 Financial Update, Financial Challenge and Service Reviews
	Appendix 1 Financial Performance - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2021
	FINAL App 1 All collated dashboards 10-06-2021.pdf
	Adults
	03b Childrens and Families Outurn FPG Dashboard 20-21 FINAL UPDATED.pdf
	Dashboard

	03b DSG UPDATED.pdf
	DSG

	03c City Development UPDATED Financial Reporting Outturn Dashboard - FINAL.pdf
	City Dev

	03d UPDATED C&E Final Dashboard Outturn (C&E).pdf
	Outturn

	03e Resources & Housing Outturn 2020-21 With Levy UPDATED 01-06-2021 .pdf
	Res & Housing

	03f Strategic Outturn Dashboard REVISED 4Jun21.pdf
	Strategic

	03g HRA Dashboard Outturn UPDATED.pdf
	Front
	Back



	App 2 - Service Reviews 21-22
	Appendix 03a  AH (1.0)
	Appendix 03b  C&F
	Appendix 03c  City Development FINAL 
	Appendix 03d  CE FINAL
	Appendix 03e  - Resources


	4 Future Working Arrangements, agile working and estate realisation
	Appendix 1 Scrutiny Statement

	5 DIS - Project Prioritisation, Resource and Capacity Management, Workforce Planning
	Appendix B - Scrutiny Independent uk salaryguide 2021
	Message from our Managing Director 
	National employment overview
	How to use our salary tables 
	Accounting and Finance
	Financial Services
	Technology
	Human resources, business 
and office support
	Digital marketing and creative
	Executive Search
	Additional resources
	About Robert Half 


	6 Agency Staff at Leeds City Council
	7 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - S&R work schedule for 2021-22
	Appendix 2 - Printed minutes 23062021 1300 Executive Board




